Masterabschlussarbeit im Studiengang Geographische Wissenschaften Studienschwerpunkt Terrestrische Systeme

Norbert Anselm

Assessment of Landscape Sensitivity in the semiarid Krom Antonies River Catchment, Western Cape, South Africa

Freie Universität Berlin

Fachbereich Geowissenschaften | Institut für Geographische Wissenschaften | Physische Geographie

Assessment of Landscape Sensitivity in the semiarid Krom Antonies River Catchment, Western Cape, South Africa

M. Sc. Thesis in Physical Geography

Norbert Anselm

 27^{th} February 2015

Norbert Anselm Kameruner Str. 16 13351 Berlin norbert.anselm@fu-berlin.de

1st Supervisor Prof. Dr. Brigitta Schütt Freie Universität Berlin Department of Geoscience Institute of Geography Physical Geography 2nd Supervisor Prof. Dr. Tilman Rost Freie Universität Berlin Department of Geoscience Institute of Geography Physical Geography

This document was proudly compiled using ${\rm L\!AT}_{\!E\!}X,$ KOMA-Script and R.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Dr. Brigitta Schütt and Prof. Dr. Karl Tilman Rost – and especially to Tilman Rost for giving me the chance, space and time to develop my own interests and projects.

I also would like to express my gratitude to the kind people in the Krom Antonies valley – especially Jacobus Smit and Herman Coetzee for their valuable insights in the past and present of South Africa and the valley in particular – and Prof. Jenny Day for her support and hospitality and for the pizza.

The German Academic Exchange Service gave the scholarship in the programme Integrated Watershed Management Research & Development Capacity Building better known as Welcome to Africa, thus cheers to the german tax payers.

I would like to thank all employees of the working groups Schütt and Böse for interesting discussions, important hints and sometimes just nonsense, especially that is

- Dr. Jonas Berking for the intro,
- Nicole Lamm for paying the ticket,
- Anette Stumptner and Stefan Thiemann for Welcome to Africa,
- Dr. Philipp Hoelzmann for the straightforward help and advice,
- M. Scholz² for the coze while the laser diffractometer did its job,
- Vivian Fehn for helping me out with the grain-size samples,
- Dr. Daniel Knitter for Emacs,
- Dr. Brian Beckers for SPEI and
- Fabian Becker for the office and the olympic swimming pools full of coffee we shared.

Finally and most important Nestor and Monique – I know you are completely fed up with South Africa and R and GIS and [put in what you like]. Thank you very much for the time, the confidence and the patience — I owe you both a lot.

Norbert Anselm Berlin, February 2015

Abstract

In the DAAD funded project Integrated Watershed Management Research & Development Capacity Building the Landscape Sensitivity of the Krom Antonies River Catchment (Western Cape, South Africa) was assessed. The focus was given to climate variability, landuse and landcover and soil erosion and deposition, since this Mediterranean landscape is used intensively for agricultural production and shortage of water and/or degradation of soil were considered to affect the catchment grossly.

Climatic variability was investigated using the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) to detect droughts on various time-scales from 1948 to 2011. A magnitudefrequency-analysis (MFA) of daily rainfall data from 2001 to 2014 was conducted and aridity indices were calculated. Landuse and landcover was mapped during fieldwork and from aerial photographs. Soil erosion and deposition was modelled using Unit Stream Power Erosion Deposition (USPED).

The study showed that the rainfalls are strongly seasonal, droughts are frequent and seem recurring on several cycles. Rainfalls are spatially and temporal highly variable within the valley. Comparison to other data implied an own rainfall regime. Landuse and landcover is linked to availability of water and thus hydrology and geomorphology. Waterintensive agriculture became manifest in the upper course and along the river, the lower course is characterized by extensive pasture.

The erosion and deposition modelling showed that especially in the headwater areas large areas are characterized by severe erosion. Prominent areas for deposition appear to the footslopes. The valley bottom held no excessive values for both processes and is interpreted as morphologically stable. No landuse and landcover class could distinctively associated with either erosion or deposition exclusively.

Several (sub-)factors were estimated from sediment samples using laser diffractometry to obtain grain-size fractions. Its spatial variation agreed with field observations. The derived hydraulic conductivity showed reasonable results. The attempt to derive soil organic carbon from photographs via Partial Least Square Regression (PLSR) failed.

Contents

List of Figures					
Li	st of	Tables	iv		
Li	st of	Abbreviations	v		
1.	Intr	oduction	1		
2.	Stu	dy Area	5		
	2.1.	Climatic & Hydrological Characterization	5		
	2.2.	Geomorphological Description	7		
	2.3.	Vegetation & Landuse in Western Cape	8		
3.	State of the Art				
	3.1.	Landscape Sensitivity	11		
	3.2.	Water Management in Drylands	12		
	3.3.	Droughts & Drought Indices	16		
	3.4.	Modelling of Soil Erosion	19		
4.	Dat	a Used & Methods Applied	25		
	4.1.	Climatic Variability	25		
		4.1.1. Climate Data	25		
		4.1.2. Drought Index	28		
		4.1.3. Aridity	28		
		4.1.4. Magnitude-Frequency-Analysis	29		
	4.2.	Landuse & Landcover	29		
	4.3.	Soil Erosion & Deposition	30		
		4.3.1. Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity	31		
		4.3.2. Slope Length & Steepness Factor	32		
		4.3.3. Soil Erodibility Factor	33		
		4.3.4. Cover Management Factor & Support Practice Factor	37		
5.	Res	ults	38		
	5.1.	Climatic Variability	38		
		5.1.1. Drought Index	38		

		519	Magnituda Fraguenay Analyzag	4.4			
		5.1.2.		44			
		5.1.3.	Indices of Aridity	48			
	5.2.	Landu	se & Landcover \ldots	49			
	5.3.	Soil Ei	rosion & Deposition	52			
		5.3.1.	Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity	52			
		5.3.2.	Slope Length & Steepness Factor	53			
		5.3.3.	Soil Erodibility Factor	53			
		5.3.4.	Cover Management Factor	60			
		5.3.5.	Erosion & Deposition Rates	60			
		5.3.6.	Landuse, Erosion & Deposition	63			
6.	Disc	cussion		65			
	6.1 Climatic Variability		65				
	0.1.	611	Wet by Dwy Challe from 1048 2012	65			
		0.1.1.	wet & Dry Spens from $1948 - 2012 \dots \dots$	60			
		6.1.2.	Seasonality, Frequency & Variability	67			
		6.1.3.	Critique	70			
6.2. Landuse & Landcover		se & Landcover	73				
6.3. Soil Erosion & Deposition		rosion & Deposition	76				
		6.3.1.	Partial Results	76			
		6.3.2.	Soil Erosion & Deposition in the Krom Antonies Catchment	83			
7.	Con	clusio	ns	88			
Bibliography 91							
Addendum							
Erklärung							

List of Figures

1.1.	Overview Map Western Cape	2
1.2.	Overview Map Krom Antonies	4
2.1.	Walter-Lieth Diagram of the Riviera Weather Station.	6
2.2.	Geological Map of the Catchment	7
2.3.	Traditional and Modern Agriculture	10
3.1.	Cascading Principle of Various Drought Types	17
4.1.	Generalized Workflow	27
4.2.	Example of Top Soil Picture and Color Separation Chart	29
5.1.	SPEI Results for 3-,6-,12- and 24-month Time Scale	39
5.2.	SPEI Frequencies on Different Time Scales	42
5.3.	MFA of Rainfall along a Transect of Three Weather Stations	ł7
5.4.	Map of Landcover Classes	50
5.5.	MFI and R Factor Correlation	52
5.6.	Map of LS and K Factor	54
5.7.	Grain-Size Classes	55
5.8.	Spatial Distribution of Grain-Size Classes	56
5.9.	Hydraulic Conductivity	57
5.10.	Comparison of C _{org} from Laboratory and PLSR	58
5.11.	Mapped and Interpolated C Factor	59
5.12.	Erosion and Deposition in the Krom Antonies Catchment	31
5.13.	Landuse Classes and the Resulting USPED Values	33
6.1.	Comparison of PET and P Values from NCEP and Riviera Station	71
6.2.	Monthly Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity	76
6.3.	Erosion and Deposition with Various Scaled m	78
A 1.	Modis Scene from the 2003 Drought in Western Cape	V
A 2.	Examples of Landuse Classes	/Ι

List of Tables

4.1.	Used R Packages	26
4.2.	Landcover Classes	31
4.3.	Classes for RUSLE C Factor	36
5.1.	Absolute Frequencies of Humid and Drought Periods using SPEI	41
5.2.	Monthly Analyses of Daily Rainfall Data	45
5.3.	Aridity Indices and Climates after UNEP and de Martonne	49
5.4.	Landcover Classes in the Catchment	51
5.5.	Monthly MFI and R Factor	52
5.6.	Comparison of C_{org} from LECO and PLSR \ldots	58
5.7.	RMSE of the PTF	58
5.8.	Share of Erosion and Deposition Classes	62
5.9.	Mean Erosion and Deposition for Various Landuse Classes	64
6.1.	Electromagnetic Spectra	81
B1.	Grain-Size Classes [%] according to USDA 1987.	Ι
B2.	Soil Permeability Classes	III
В3.	Statistics of Erosion and Deposition for Various Landcover Classes	V

List of Abbreviations

AET	Actual Evapotranspiration
ARC	Agricultural Research Council
CFR	Cape Floristic Region
С	Cover Factor
DEM	Digital Elevation Model
DWA	Department of Water Affairs
ENSO	El Niño Southern Oscillation
IWM	Integrated Watershed Management
IWRM	Integrated Water Resources Management
IQR	Inter Quartile Range
К	Soil Erodibility Factor
LS	Slope Length and Slope Steepness Factor
LD	Laser Diffractometry
m	Rill-Interrill Factor
MFA	Magnitude-Frequency Analysis
MFI	Modified Fournier Index
NCEP	National Center for Environmental Prediction
NDMC	National Drought Mitigation Center
NDVI	Normailzed Differential Vegetation Index
PET	Potential Evapotranspiration
PLSR	Partial Least Square Regression
PTF	Pedotransfer Function
R	Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity Factor
RI	Recurrence Interval
RST	Regularized Spline with Tension
RU	Response Unit
(R)USLE	(Revised) Universal Soil Loss Equation
SFD	Single Flow Direction Algorithm
SLEMSA	Soil Loss Estimation Model for Southern Africa
SPEI	Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index
UNEP	United Nations Environmental Programme
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
USGS	United States Geological Survey
USPED	Unit Stream Power Erosion Deposition

1. Introduction

South Africa is conflicting, while on the one side it faces a long and in parts dire history, it is on the other side a young, proud and economically ascending nation that strongly differs from the entire African continent. For example it is the only African nation that is internationally considered to be of economical weight, what found expression in joining BRIC in 2011 (SMITH 2011). But as mining and natural resources (YAGER 2010), and manufacturing (OECD 2013) are large contributors to the GDP, the agricultural industry is an important but rather small contributor (WORLD BANK 2011).

Not so in the Western Cape province. While it covers only 12 % of the total agricultural land, up to 60 % of South Africa's exports come from that province and Western Cape still contributes 20 % to the total agricultural production. The Western Cape and the Swartland region in particular are also known as the breadbasket of South Africa (NOEMDOE et al. 2006; BUGAN et al. 2012) and wide areas are dedicated to wine, fruits and potatoes (ELSENBURG 2015).

But South Africa and the Western Cape province are facing some serious environmental problems. Agriculture and its irrigation in particular accounts for more than half of the whole nation's water requirements (FRENKEN 2005). Additionally in such latitudes climate is often triggered by anomalies like droughts, flooding, even tornadoes are possible (FAUCHEREAU et al. 2003). Such climate anomalies are a threat to people, to the region's food and water security (HULME 1996) and to the economic development.

Another point is that South African soils are generally predisposed to soil erosion due to the erodible soils and a lack of good farming practice (LE ROUX et al. 2007). Soil erosion is not a new phenomena. Already in colonial times the concerns about the degradation of the land arose (BEINART 1984) and obviously the conservation efforts in the Swartland were not sufficient (MEADOWS 2003). In a region that is almost exclusively dependent from agricultural production the loss of invaluable topsoil is a severe ecological and economical menace.

Since soil erosion is an issue it is unlikely that a single factor is able to explain a regional denudation pattern (LE ROUX 1990). Amongst others the landuse and landcover has been found one or even the most important factor that determines soil erosion in Mediterranean environments (GARCÍA-RUIZ 2010). The effect of nonnatural landcover (like agriculture) on runoff and erosion rates – especially in hilly areas – is known (KOSMAS et al. 1997). Yet some more than 78 % are still considered to be natural in Western Cape (67 % in the West Coast Municipal) but in the recent years significant transformation could be observed so that the share of cultivated land is increasing (GILLIAN & GOVENDER 2013).

1. Introduction



Figure 1.1: Overview map showing the wider area of the Krom Antonies river catchment in the Western Cape province.

Against the background of this issues the concept of Landscape Sensitivity (BRUNSDEN & THORNES 1979) is applied in the small catchment¹ (approximately 119 km^2 – Figure 1.2) of the Krom Antonies river in the West Coast Municipal (Figure 1.1). Landscape Sensitivity – in brief – is the likelihood of a landscape system to alter due to perturbations in the controlling environmental processes (THOMAS 2001). In fact USHER (2001) proposes to think about landscape holistically and to consider all relevant factors and triggers, but in the context of this study the focus is given by the environment of the Krom Antonies river catchment itself: climatic variability, landuse and landcover and soil erosion. Hence this selection of controlling processes and factors is used to work on the overall aim to estimate the vulnerability of the Krom Antonies river catchment. So from there the three main research questions are:

¹ The catchment boundary as shown on various maps in that thesis might deviate from administrative boundary of the local Water User Association. It was derived from an Aster DEM (TACHIKAWA et al. 2011) using the upslope area of the location of the obvious outlet of the Krom Antonies into the Kruisman River.

- 1. How does rainfall variability affect the valley of the Krom Antonies?
 - a) How prone is the catchment to droughts?
 - b) How reliable are the rainfalls?
 - c) What temporal and spatial patterns occur?
- 2. What is the spatial pattern of landuse and landcover in the catchment?
- 3. What is the soil erosion and deposition budget?
 - a) Can an USLE-based erosion model be applied to such a landscape?
 - b) What landuse and landcover classes have a propensity to either erosion or deposition?

This work is embedded in the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) project Integrated Watershed Management Research & Development Capacity Building. The thesis definitely fails in capacity building and development. It surely will also not solve the ubiquitous societal tensions of South Africa that come along with the National Water Act implementation of 1998 (REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA 1998) or that are inherent to societies in vulnerable ecosystems (VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2012b; HOFF 2013). But the research is believed to be a humble contribution to the understanding of some key environmental issues of the Krom Antonies valley. This contribution might be useful to fall back on when considering new strategies of environmental management, like freshwater and soil protection, promotion of sustainability and ecology, as well as the promotion and protection of biodiversity.

1. Introduction



Figure 1.2: Overview map of the Krom Antonies river catchment in Western Cape.

2. Study Area

2.1. Climatic & Hydrological Characterization

The atmosphere over the southern most African continent is mainly affected by three macroscale features: by a high pressure system that develops above the subtropical South Atlantic, by cyclones moving eastward and by a low pressure system over the South African continent (NELSON & HUTCHINGS 1983). Under the influence of the atmospheric circumpolar wave in winter the westerlies prevail in the southern Cape Province. In spring, summer and fall the semipermanent anticyclonic high pressure moves periodically to the south of the continent so that south-easterly winds gain more influence during that season (ANDREWS & HUTCHINGS 1980). Additionally in austral summer a continental high pressure develops that increases the influence of the south-eastern tradewinds. The so-called berg winds occur (NELSON & HUTCHINGS 1983).

Thus the resulting winds either press the ocean water against the continental shelf (mainly in winter) or the offshore south-easterlies force the surface water seawards (mainly in summer). Either way coastal upwelling of cool and nutrition-rich deep water occurs (HOLMES et al. 2002) what in turn affects the whole south-western African oceanic and atmospheric system. The Benguela Current is the eastern boundary current of the South Atlantic subtropical gyre that flows northwestward along the westcoast of southern Africa (STRAMMA & PETERSON 1989; HUTCHINGS et al. 2009). The current is also influenced by the intensity of the wind vectors. It weakens in fall and winter and gains strength again in October with the maximum gradient in summer resulting in summer sea-surface temperatures as low as in winter (BAKUN & NELSON 1991; ROY et al. 2001).

There is a latitudinal shift in the area of influence of the cyclones throughout the year so that the number of cyclones north of 45°S almost doubles in winter (SINCLAIR 1994). Nevertheless the westerlies and its associated cold fronts influence the southern subcontinent to a large degree (KRUGER et al. 2010). Thus large portions of the rainfalls in the western part of the Cape Region occur in austral winter (TYSON et al. 1975) with a significant coupling to the Antarctic Oscillation and the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (LINDESAY 1988; REASON & ROUAULT 2005). The winter rainfall area in the south-west Cape Province and a narrow maritime round-the-year rainfall zone along the southern coast are comparatively small. The majority of South Africa receives summer rainfall (TYSON 1984; TALJAARD 1986). According to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification (KÖPPEN 1923) with criteria after KOTTEK et al. (2006) the region has a Csb climate which stands for warm temperate climates with dry warm summers and moist cool winters. There is a distinct seasonality

and as can be seen in Figure 2.1 the time from October to March is clearly arid. Following MALIVA & MISSIMER (2012) the latter research area is to be classified as semiarid since Figure 2.1 shows less than 500 mm of annual precipitation. Frost only occurs in mountainous regions and under the ascending effect of continental climate.

The precipitation has a strong gradient increasing from the west to the east with approximately 300 mm in the coastal planes and up to 1400 mm in the mountainous regions in the hinterland (STUCKENBERG et al. 2013). The evapotranspiration shows a decreasing trend from north to south. The northern region of Western Cape holds values up to 2500 mm per year while the Cape Peninsula holds approxi-



Figure 2.1: Walter-Lieth diagram of the Riviera weather station.

mately 1250 mm of potential evapotranspiration per year. The actual evapotranspiration shows a similar trend (WELLINGTON 1955). So the region suffers from a longterm water deficit. Western Cape is not a part of the major continental drainage basin. The largest South African river – the Oranje river – borders South Africa on Namibia (GOUDIE 2005). All rivers north of the Cape Peninsula drain into the Atlantic Ocean. Some of them are largely affected by hydro-engineering activities. Most of the rivers tend to fall dry in summer and only two are reported to be perennial. Their course often does not reach the ocean during rain season. They develop vleis – groundwater supplied, arheic, brackish and retarded estuaries (MOLTER 1966; SINCLAIR et al. 1986), which are largely affected by high evapotranspiration losses during summer (HOFFMAN & ROHDE 2011).

The area comprises unconsolidated primary and fractured-rock secondary aquifers. The groundwater abstraction is relatively high but the enormous recharge rates compensate the amounts. Normally the groundwater level mimics surface topography, but groundwater divides mostly do not agree with the surface water divides (CONRAD et al. 2005).



Figure 2.2: Geological Map of the Krom Antonies Catchment. Lithography was derived from vector files on a scale of 1:100 000 obtained from DWA (2014).

2.2. Geomorphological Description

The south-western Cape Province is occupied by a belt of sub-parallel mountain ranges. The southern most of them strikes from east to west in arcs concave to the south and in the west the striking goes from north-north-west with arcs concave to the west (KING 1951). The region is either dominated by superficial deposits of Tertiary to recent age or it is of solid rock from the Malmesbury or Table Mountain Group (COLE 1961). The Malmesbury Group is the oldest rock formation in the region. It consists of low-grade metamorphic sedimentary rocks of precambrian age (BELCHER & KISTERS 2003). Some 510 Ma ago the Cape Granite intruded into the Malmesbury Group (VILLAROS et al. 2006).

Since that time a stable system of steady sedimentation created a characteristic basin-and-swell structure in the center of the Gondwanian continent. The two major basins were the Cape and the Karoo (PARTRIDGE 1998; CATUNEANU et al. 2005). They were pronounced by permanent uplift and volcanism and until early Jurassic this basin developed as a tabular cratonic cover

(TANKARD et al. 2009). When Gondwana started to break up the Falkland plateau drifted into the latter South African continent and caused the compression of the Cape Supergroup associated sediments. When the oceanic plate subducted under the continental plate a massive mountain range piled up consisting of the predominantly sedimentary strata of the Cape Folding Belt. That is a composition of the paleozoic Cape Supergroup, mesozoic Karoo Supergroup and some precambrian basement rocks (LOCK 1978; BOOTH 2011).

The deformation of the Cape strata and associated sediments took place in Permian and Trias (namely between 278 Ma and 230 Ma). That orogeny created the well-known north-verging thrusts and folds in the southern Cape Fold Belt (FAGERENG 2012). The newly formed mountains caused the plate to sag so that all the Karoo deposits buried the Cape Supergroup (CATUNEANU 2004). After several phases of uplift since Jurassic (180 Ma) most of the several thousand meter thick layers of Karoo deposits have been eroded and the actual landscape developed (SHONE & BOOTH 2005).

The coastal planes consists to a large scale of loose sediments. The region between the rivers Berg and Olifants and up to Piketberg and Olifants Mountains is locally termed the Sandveld – giving a hint what is the predominant soil type (KING 1951). The Sandveld's soils are classified as cumulic soils after South African Soil Classification. They are immature, well drained, mostly unconsolidated material from various geomorphic processes (FEY 2010b; BUGAN et al. 2012). It is a widespread soil type in South Africa – especially in Western Cape. These soil types correlate to world reference base (WRB 2006) cambisols, acrisols, fluvisols and arenosols (FEY 2010a). The complete geological setting of the Western Cape can be seen on the geological map of

the Krom Antonies catchment in Figure 2.2 on a smaller scale. While most of the mountain ranges in the south and southwest consists of quartzitic sandstone from the Table Mountain Group the morphometrically more distinctive ranges in the east and the plains beyond it are of Malmesbury origin. The center of the valley as the rest of the Sandveld in northern direction are mostly covered with quaternary alluvial sands (DWA 2014). Generally the Krom Antonies valley is well defined by the surrounding mountains.

2.3. Vegetation & Landuse in Western Cape

The Cape Floristic Region (CFR) is extremly rich in species and profoundly endemic. It even succeeds other Mediterranean biomes according to that attributes (RICHARDSON et al. 2001; LINDER 2005). The reason for the high biodiversity is multifactorial. BOND et al. (2003) got to the point asking What controls South African vegetation – climate or fire? since biodiversity is a function of rapid past aridification (LINDER & MANN 1998), geomorphological forcings due to Miocene uplift (COWLING et al. 2009), high soil diversity with distinct physiographic conditions

on each mointain range (JOHNSON 1996) and a fire ecology with its reproductive isolation of populations in niches (BOND et al. 2003).

Most of the region is occupied by sclerophyllos bush – locally termed fynbos – what forms the fynbos biome (COLE 1961; FAIRBANKS et al. 2000). It borders the succulent karoo biome in the north and to the east (LINDER 2003; DESMET 2007). The fynbos is often referred to as the macchia of the Mediterranean of the Southern Cape (MOLTER 1966). The Sandveld consists mostly of coastal fynbos in the plaines and mountain fynbos in higher altitudes. The first is a more wide-spaced narrow xerophilous type and the latter is denser and in a more hygric environment (ACOCKS 1988). A famous subcategory is the renosterveld. Structurally it ranges from grassland to sclerophyllous shrubs. Thus it is highly transitional and has a lower level of endemism than most fynbos. Man has a huge impact on the renostervelds. Though in Western Cape undisturbed renosterveld occupies only 6% of its former extent (COWLING et al. 1986). Generally the impact of man (aboriginal khoisan but especially European settlers) is huge. "European man has destroyed large areas of the coastal foreland vegetation through his unrelenting quest for grazing, for fuel and for arable land. This vegetation has been depleted to the extent that at most only 14.7% of the western coastal foreland vegetation remains in a reasonably natural state today" (BOUCHER 1983: p. 669).

Trees and forests are unusual in the CFR. They are restricted to southward exposed and climatically favored habitats. But most trees nowadays are invasive species (MOLTER 1966). Invasive species are a threat to most of the Capensis (NEKE & DU PLESSIS 2004; MILTON 2004) and their impact is twofold. On the one hand they are an excessive consumer of the scarce resource of water (LE MAITRE et al. 2000; GÖRGENS & VAN WILGEN 2004) one the other hand it is a severe threat to the biodiversity hotspot (HEIJNIS et al. 1999; BAARD & DE VILLIERS 2000). Additionally the impact of climate change on the CFR must be serious since extinction and decrease in biodiversity is most likely (RUTHERFORD et al. 1999).

From an agricultural point of view the Sandveld is extremely important for the South African economy. Potatoes and rooibos are grown there to a large extent (ARCHER et al. 2009). The neighboring Swartland region experienced a shift from traditionally prominent grain production towards wine grapes (HALPERN & MEADOWS 2013). Usually rooibos is not irrigated while potatoes and wine grapes are irrigated intensively (DE WIT & CROOKES 2013). The Sandveld alone is responsible for one third of the South African potato production (MÜNCH 2004).

The techniques of agriculture shifted from traditional and mostly labor-intensive to highly industrialized and market-oriented. The old way of growing grains or rooibos in strips was succeeded either by plantations (mostly grapes) or huge center pivot irrigation fields (LOTZ 2012). Figure 2.3a depicts that strikingly. The stripes are remains from the former methods but their spatial patterns still persist even under pivots in use. Furthermore the figure indicates that most pivots are managed with a special cropping sequence.



(a) Pivots

(b) Fairy Circles?

Figure 2.3: Aerial Pictures showing remains of the traditional field techniques (stripes) and the modern day non-permanent center pivot irrigated fields (NGI 2010a). The lower left corner shows a water storage dam.

Figure 2.3b shows a phenomena presumably not related to agriculture. If that aerial photograph shows the so-called fairy tales remains unclear. They are well known from more deserted areas in the north but all aerial images showed these pattern. If their origin is from ants (PICKER et al. 2012), termites (JUERGENS 2013) or if that is a self-organized pattern of the surplus biomass-water feedback from an extended root system (GETZIN et al. 2015) remains unclear as well.

Also important but to a lesser extent than agriculture is livestock. Already the earliest settlers practiced livestock farming (MITCHELL 2002). The pastures are not irrigated and the grazing capacity is generally low (WCDA 2012).

3. State of the Art

3.1. Landscape Sensitivity

The concept of Landscape Sensitivity is an advancement of classical modern studies of geomorphological processes like STRAHLER (1952) or CHORLEY (1962). It is strongly influenced by the British School of Geography and Geomorphology respectively – namely by BRUNSDEN & THORNES (1979) who introduced the concept in 1979. The concept has a long tradition in Geography but nevertheless several authors agree that landscape sensitivity is not an easy to define term (ALLISON & THOMAS 1993; USHER 2001).

The sensitivity of a landscape to change is expressed as the likelihood that a given change in the controls of a system will produce a sensible, recognizable and persistent response. The issue involves two aspects: the propensity for change and the capacity of the systems to absorb the change.

Brunsden & Thornes 1979: p. 476

So it does not matter if it is the landscape itself as sum of all geosystems (e.g. USHER 2001) or specific aspects and subsystems of the landscape (e.g. SAUCHYN 1997; MILES et al. 2001). Change occurs as an ordinary process-response function. It is associated with transportation of material, morphological evolution and structural rearrangement in case of crossing a threshold (KNOX 2001). A stable system has the ability to adjust the minor perturbations within all the subsystems and external forces. In case of increasing the magnitude or the rate of stress applied to the system it tends to instability. Then a readjustment of the various subsystems sets in until a new stage of equilibrium is established (THOMAS 2001). According to PHILLIPS (1992) most earth-surface systems are rather dynamically unstable and deterministically chaotic than in a prolonged equilibrium.

The sensitivity of a landscape regarding to intrinsic and extrinsic generated changes can be expressed as a transient-form ratio. In equation 3.1 t_a is the mean relaxation time and t_f is the mean recurrence time of the changing events. If the ratio is greater than one it is likely a predominantly transient system. In case of a ratio of less than one the system tends to prevail (BRUNSDEN & THORNES 1979).

$$\Gamma F_{\rm r} = \frac{t_{\rm a}}{t_{\rm f}} \tag{3.1}$$

In a geomorphic system the changing forces are considered to be the tectonic, climatic, biotic and anthropogenic controls of the corresponding geological, hydrological and morphological framework of the system (BRUNSDEN 2001). The responses of a system are uncommonly linear because the systems are complex and they are determined by a mix of external drivers, negative and positive feedback loops and various forcings (TUCKER 2004; WILLIAMS et al. 2011). FRYIRS et al. (2007) go into detail about the (dis-)connectivity of landscape compartments.

Change from a geomorphological perspective is mandatory scale contingent. Fluctuations can be seen either as a sequence of discrete events or as continuous, just depending on the resolution (PHILLIPS 2009). SCHUMM & LICHTY (1965) stated that cause and effect in landform processes is highly related to the temporal and spatial scale. Yet alterations in scale can obscure or even reverse the cause-effect relationship what makes it hard to concecptualize and operationalize in real-world studies (PHILLIPS 1999; VILES 2001).

3.2. Water Management in Drylands

Drylands

Drylands are according to NICHOLSON (2011) and semiarid environments where evapotranspiration potentially balances or exceeds precipitation. Another approach comprises low and irregular to erratic rainfall between 300 - 600 mm per annum, infertile deplenished soils and a certain degree of overuse by man (MEA 2005).

Drylands are described as non-equilibrium ecosystems (BEHNKE et al. 1993) and they deserve special attention because they display vulnerability-creating mechanisms to ecosystems and man (SIETZ et al. 2011). Rainfall variability (BORGOGNO et al. 2007; D'ODORICO & BHATTACHAN 2012), climate change (DOUGILL et al. 2010) and fast growing populations in dryland regions (ENFORS & GORDON 2007) are only some aspects to mention. Many of them are home made because man affects land use and land cover significantly. And it is quite evident that the landuse and landcover in a certain area is decisive for a catchment's hydrology (CHHABRA et al. 2006). This includes especially groundwater quality and recharge (DE FRIES & ESHLEMAN 2004; SCANLON et al. 2005; AHEARN et al. 2005), river discharge (POFF et al. 1997; COSTA et al. 2003; SCHILLING et al. 2010), riverine and riparian ecosystems (ALLAN 2004) and nutrient balances and chemical pollution (SLIVA & DUDLEY WILLIAMS 2001; LEHRTER 2006).

The majority of drylands (globally) is covered with rangeland and so livelihood strategies, pastoralism and mitigation to shifts in the climate regime are closely connected (ROCKSTRÖM 2000; THOMAS 2008; FALKENMARK & ROCKSTRÖM 2008). Recent research just revealed that some ecosystems show a higher degree of resilience to external stressors (BESTELMEYER et al. 2013; STROMBERG et al. 2013). But since almost half of the Earth's solid surface can be classified as dryland (TOOTH 2000) and the majority of the world's population faces the threat

of precarious water security (VÖRÖSMARTY et al. 2010) it is fundamental to manage the scarce resource.

Water Management

As well as a land manager, a farmer and a politician have different opinions on what watershed management might be, the scientific community is at strife about what might be the right way of managing water. Nevertheless all of them might agree on the emerging issues and challenges that arise from population growth and higher living standards (BOUWER 2000). The idea to manage the resource water can be traced back several centuries (BUTZER et al. 1985; FERRIO et al. 2005). But the modern approach has its origin either in the spanish confederaciones hidrográficas from the 1920s or in the water resources plan of the Tennessee Valley Authority in the 1940s (RAHAMAN & VARIS 2005).

The topic of water management gained more attention since the 1970s when the first UNESCO International Conference on Water took place at Mar del Plata, Argentina 1977 (JEFFREY & GEAREY 2006). 15 years later on a similar conference in Dublin the guiding principles for a responsible treatment of water resources were formulated in The Dublin statement on water and sustainable development (IWCE 1992):

- Fresh water is a finite and vulnerable resource, essential to sustain life, development and the environment.
- Water development and management should be based on a participatory approach, involving users, planners and policy-makers at all levels.
- Women play a central part in the provision, management and safeguarding of water.
- Water has an economic value in all its competing uses and should be recognized as an economic good.

Since the 1990s two competing approaches arose: Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) and Integrated Watershed Management (IWM) and both are very closely related. In parts it cannot be distinguished which author follows IWM and which IWRM. The main principles apply to both and can be summarized as follows:

IW(R)M is a holistic approach that comprises socio-economical, environmental and political aspects (e.g. FFOLLIOTT et al. 2003; VAN DER ZAAG 2005). It is a framework and a tool for the purpose of development (FÖRCH & SCHÜTT 2004) of all resources within a watershed on a watershed-scale (WALMSLEY et al. 2001; FFOLLIOTT et al. 2003) because like everywhere else in the geosphere "everything is related to everything else, but near things are more related than distant things" (TOBLER 1970). It has a strong focus on sustainability (e.g. JASPERS 2003; BISWAS 2004; ROCKSTRÖM et al. 2004) and is always meant to be a participative approach that interlinks all locals – from water users, politicians to administration and scientists (THOMAS

& DURHAM 2003). This especially includes capacity building and traditional knowledge (e.g. FÖRCH & SCHÜTT 2004; EVANS & VARMA 2009).

There is critique about the approach because sometimes it just fails for various reasons (HEATH-COTE 2009) and despite the broad fostering from the international scientific community and from the UNEP (2012) the approaches lack a wide implementation that encompass more than an experimental stage (BLOMQUIST & SCHLAGER 2005). Moreover JEFFREY & GEAREY (2006) state that the complexity of the field of managing a socio-economical unit like a watershed puts the holistic manner under tension. Additionally the holistic nature of IW(R)M makes all the formulation of the concept vague and blurry (BISWAS 2008) and the underlying concept of stable natural systems fluctuating within a certain variability also known as stationarity is considered obsolet (MILLY et al. 2008).

Collecting Techniques

Natural water sources in drylands can be roughly classified into autogenic and allogenic ones (BECKERS et al. 2013a). First describes a locally generated source like rainfall, local runoff or ephemeral streams like *wadis* (ROBERTS 1977). The latter specifies fossil groundwaters or major streams originated in humid regions flowing through arid areas as a main source of water (BULL & KIRKBY 2002; WOODWARD 2009). In Drylands usually water is the most fundamental limiting factor of agricultural production. Thus special techniques were established to mitigate the seasonal scarcity of water, that implies

- special ways how to get water,
- how to store water and
- how to irrigate

and a combination of all three points.

The basic principle to get water is to deprive a part of the land of its share of rainwater which is very small and usually non-productive and add it to another piece of land. Therefore the amount of water available comes closer to the crop water requirement or any other beneficial use (OWEIS & HACHUM 2006). That approach has a long tradition in almost every (semi)arid environment in the world (e.g. FERRIO et al. 2005; MÄCHTLE et al. 2009; PUY & BALBO 2013; BECKERS et al. 2013b).

Water harvesting and storage of water is closely related and sometimes interdepend. BOERS et al. (1986) show that water harvesting using a micro-catchment is very successful in desert margins. The key is a relatively large micro-catchment thats runoff is routed to a specific point where a small amount of crops benefit. A special case is the harvest of rainwater. It is cheap, simple and in combination with various soil conservation measures it is possible to improve agricultural productivity (VOHLAND & BARRY 2009). Especially in urban areas of less developed countries

or in areas where conventional water supply fails the approach to harvest rainwater from the rooftops or similar planes not in use is widespread and promising (HANDIA et al. 2003; ABDULLA & AL-SHAREEF 2009).

Runoff farming water harvesting is a method of collecting surface runoff water using channels, dams and diversion systems. Soil crusts increase the effect because the loss of water through infiltration is reduced (ABU-AWWAD & SHATANAWI 1997). Either the water is stored in a reservoir or routed directly into the root zone of a farmed area (BOERS & BEN-ASHER 1982). It is common that runoff farming is coupled to dryland geomorphology (e.g. GIRÁLDEZ et al. 1988; BECKERS & SCHÜTT 2013).

Another widely used technique is the pumping of groundwater. It came up during the last 50 years especially where agriculture is largely industrialized (FOSTER & CHILTON 2003) and is considered to be the key component of water resources in regions with water scarcity (HERNÁNDEZ-MORA et al. 2001). It makes a huge difference if the aquifers are of fossil (DE VRIES et al. 2000) or modern origin (RODELL et al. 2009). Recently the development goes into the direction of recharging aquifers (SCANLON et al. 2012).

Irrigation Techniques

According to KREEB (1964) irrigation methods can be classified as

- 1. flood irrigation system,
- 2. furrow irrigation,
- 3. subirrigation and
- 4. sprinkler irrigation.

Flooding the meadows is a natural behavior of a fluvial system (WOLMAN & LEOPOLD 1957). These predictive characteristics have been used for agriculture since early Quaternary and one of the widest known example is the Nile and its floodplains (LAWTON & WILKE 1979; HASSAN 1986; KUPER & KRÖPELIN 2006). The controlled flooding is closely related and derived from the above mentioned method. The agricultural field is either criss-crossed by little dams and channels to route the water from the well to the other side of the field. This is mostly restricted to one season. Or an enhancement of that technique is a more or less permanent tessellated pattern of fields (CLEMMENS 1981).

The reduction of the flow accumulation is another widely used technique. This is usually done by slowing down the water on its way down a slope and thus prolonging the time to infiltrate. The contour-parallel basins equal the agricultural fields (KHANNA et al. 2003). A special case of that method are terraces like in the Mediterranean (THOMPSON & SCOGING 1995; STANCHI et al. 2012) and on various types of Asian rice fields (BAMBARADENIYA & AMARASINGHE 2003; LENNARTZ et al. 2009). The furrow irrigation method consists of a dense network of small channels so that water bypasses the plants. Usually the plants do not have contact to the water since bed-planting is practised (KREEB 1964; FAHONG et al. 2004). Subsurface irrigation has a long tradition (LIGHTFOOT 1996). Perforated pipes are buried and the water is routed to the rooting zone directly. Recent development tends to high precision subsurface drip irrigation that applies water to the root zone directly (KANDELOUS et al. 2012; GAO et al. 2014).

Very common – even in humid climates – are sprinklers. They are cost and water intensive which implies an usage in the field of agro-industrial crop production. A special form of sprinklers are center pivot irrigation systems like shown in Figure 2.3a. Recent development shows a diversification and an increasing trend towards adaptability and site specific gear (MORENO et al. 2012; VALÍN et al. 2012). All of the mentioned methods hold various subcategories and varieties and its distinctions are transient (KREEB 1964).

Many of the irrigation techniques suffer from severe disadvantages that affect dryland environments in a special way. These are extreme evapotranspiration losses up to 85 % (GREENWOOD et al. 2009), negative impact on the water quality in the aquifers by fertilizer mismanagement (CASSEL SHARMASARKAR et al. 2001), soil salinization (XIE et al. 2011) and depending on the technique erosion of invaluable topsoil (GURBANOV 2010; KING & BJORNEBERG 2011; LEHRSCH et al. 2011; BOULAL et al. 2011) or the depletion of groundwater resources because of overabstraction (KONIKOW & KENDY 2005).

3.3. Droughts & Drought Indices

Droughts

Droughts can affect plant's growth in general (e.g. BUELL et al. 1961; GRANT 1984) and their metabolism in particular (e.g. PANDEY et al. 2003; FRESNEAU et al. 2007). That results in high agricultural and thus economical losses (e.g. LIVERMAN 1990; ENDFIELD & TEJEDO 2006). In order to quench global food demand the design of drought resilient plants is discussed, but their practical implementation seems to be in distant future (FAROOQ et al. 2009). At worst droughts lead to conflicts between competing water users and/or can be a severe threat to existence of life (e.g. BROOKS 1971; ROBERTSON 1986; OLSSON 1993). Traditional communities deeply rooted in drylands developed strategies to cope with recurring droughts, but on the contrary if these strategies fail the impact can be even worse (e.g. CALDWELL et al. 1986; OBA & LUSIGI 1987; NYONG et al. 2007; RUKEMA & SIMELANE 2013). Furthermore droughts have an impact on hydrologic regimes of a river what on the one hand controls river morphology (HAKALA & HARTMAN 2004) and thus on the other hand influences riverine ecosystems (ACUÑA et al. 2005; POWER et al. 2008).



Figure 3.1: Types of drought as presented by NDMC (2015). Note the cascading principle of the phenomena as all droughts result from a deficit in precipitation but other types of drought can result from such an initial drought.

To define drought is a difficult task. This difficulty is fourfold:

- different views on droughts from different disciplines,
- different definitions in different parts of the world,
- established drought definitions and studies often do not cover precipitation and runoff
- and a lack of symmetry in hydrologic terminology (DRACUP 1991).

Mostly drought refers to a long-term balance between rainfall and evapotranspiration in a particular area that is referred to as normal. Any imbalances do either reflect drought or above-normal humid conditions (WILHITE & GLANTZ 1985). A very broad definition according to MATALAS (1963) is that a drought is an extended period of dryness. It is considered to be a "creeping phenomena" since the exact onset and end can not be distinguished precisely (GILLETTE 1950). Droughts are recurrent features of climate that occur in all regions of the

world (LLOYD-HUGHES & SAUNDERS 2002), but the likelihood to be observed in regions with relatively high interannual rainfall variability is much bigger. In such arid and semiarid areas recurrent droughts are part of the climate and are not unexpected events (GLANTZ & KATZ 1977). That is why the temporal resolution differs according to climatological regime under study (HISDAL & TALLAKSEN 2000).

There are four widely accepted types of drought. A meteorological drought is like any other drought specific to a certain region. Prevailing atmospheric conditions that result in deficiencies of precipitation and/or high evapotranspiration rates cause such a drought (PALMER 1965). A hydrological drought affects two compartments of the hydrological cycle – streamflow and groundwater. It is considered a hydrological drought when the established uses can no longer be supplied in the current management system (WILHITE & GLANTZ 1985). Distinction must be drawn between a streamflow drought and a low flow. It can be part of a drought, but it is also part of the normal seasonal discharge hydrograph (HISDAL et al. 2000). Only major meteorological droughts can affect hydrology, because of the relatively high latency of the system (PETERS & VAN LANEN 2000; HISDAL & TALLAKSEN 2003).

Agricultural droughts in comparison to hydrological ones occur in larger areas and their impact can not be measured precisely until the crops are harvested. Generally this type refers to the soil moisture and not to the whole hydrological cycle and its water content. Hydrological and agricultural droughts are considered to be manifestation of meteorological droughts while meteorological droughts are just indicators for precipitation deficiency (ANDREADIS et al. 2005; BOKEN et al. 2005). Socio-economic droughts result from at least one of the above mentioned droughts. They are associated with the supply and demand of some economic good (ALVAREZ & ESTRELA 2000).

Drought Indices

The characterization of a drought depends on the foci of the study and the perspective of the beholder and is hence a controversial undertaking (PAULO & PEREIRA 2006).

A widely applied index was formulated by PALMER in 1965 what later became the Palmer Drought Index (PDI) and Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) respectively. It is based on the supply and demand concept of water and integrates rain and temperature in a series of water balance terms. The hypothetical soil moisture content is derived and compared to a reference water balance term. This comparison results in a dimensionless index (KEYANTASH & DRACUP 2002). Several Palmer-based indices evolved like the Palmer Hydrological Drought Index (PHDI) (KARL 1986), the modified PDSI for real time monitoring (HEDDINGHAUS & SABOL 1991), and the self-calibrated PDSI (sc-PDSI) where empirical constants are replaced by dynamically calculated values for the specific area (WELLS et al. 2004).

The PDSI-family suffers from several limitations. It has a fixed temporal scale what makes it difficult to work on hydrological droughts. It assumes rain to be the only precipitation (it is not multiscalar) so the results from mountainous regions and from winter months are at least questionable. Additionally runoff is underestimated because of the assumption that all soil layers are saturated before runoff occurs. And the PDSI responds slowly on developing and decreasing droughts (ALLEY 1984; VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2010a).

Another virtual standard to quantify droughts – especially in North America – is the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) (MCKEE et al. 1993). The index is based on a time-series of precipitation that is fitted to a probability distribution of precipitation. Then it is transformed to a normal distribution so that the mean SPI is zero. It compares the precipitation values of a given year with the past year regarding the median precipitation in order to indicate flood or drought years (EDWARDS 1997; LU 2011). The SPI outplays the PDSI because of the possibility to cover different time scales but it suffers from a severe disadvantage: it relies on precipitation as input data only so that other variables that can affect droughts are neglected (VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2012a).

To overcome the shortcomings of SPI and PDSI (and its derivates) the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) was developed (VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2010a; VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2010b). SPEI relies on a water balance from $D_i = P_i - PET_i$ to measure a deficit or surplus of water. The following procedure agrees with the computation of SPI. Direct comparison of SPI and SPEI shows the improvement and the supremacy of SPEI (MCEVOY et al. 2012). VICENTE-SERRANO et al. (2012a: p. 5) summarize that the "SPEI, based on precipitation and potential evapotranspiration, combines the sensitivity of PDSI to changes in evaporation demand, caused by temperature fluctuations and trends, with the simplicity of calculation and the multitemporal nature of the SPI."

There are many more indices dealing with droughts like RAI (Rainfall Anomaly Index) (VAN ROOY 1965), SWSI (Surface Water Supply Index) (SHAFER & DEZMAN 1982), and the RI (National Rainfall Index) (GOMMES & PETRASSI 1994). Many of them are summarized by BYUN & WILHITE (1999), HEIM (2002), and MISHRA & SINGH (2010).

3.4. Modelling of Soil Erosion

Soil Erosion

Soil erosion in principal is a degradative biophysical process that is exacerbated by socioeconomic and political factors (LAL 2001). Soil erosion has a twofold effect: on-site and off-site. On-site effects include redistribution of soil material on fields, loss of soil, breakdown of soil structure, decline of soil organic matter and nutrients which means reduction in cultivable soil depth and decline in fertility. Altogether it leads to loss of productivity that either needs to be compensated by fertilizers or it leads to abandonment of land (MORGAN 2009). Off-site effects seem less obvious but clogging of drainage ways, siltation of rivers results in higher costs for facility maintenance, facility replacement or mitigation and prevention which imposes signifant costs upon society (MOORE & MCCARL 1987; PIMENTEL et al. 1995). Additionally new arable land needs to subdued as compensation.

Soil erosion is a natural phenomena on a temporal low scale. However lots of past agricultural civilizations were confronted with the issue of increasing soil erosion rates (LAL 1998). And since the agriculture became industrialized the soil erosion rates in the respective parts of the world increased dramatically (PIMENTEL et al. 1987; MONTGOMERY 2007). Approximately 80% of the world's agricultural land suffers from moderate to severe erosion (OLDEMAN 1994). CERDAN et al. (2010) report on mean erosion rates for different landuse classes in Europe with a mean of 17.4 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in vineyards and orchards. Under Mediterranean conditions in a similar landuse class KOSMAS et al. (1997) show much lower values for vines.

While some authors show severe effects on the soil properties by overgrazing (OZTAS et al. 2003) other show that dryland grazing systems are dynamic ecosystems where soil is not necessarily degrading by exceeding carrying capacities (ROWNTREE et al. 2004).

Models and Approaches

Models and simulations are closely related. A model is considered to be a set of assumptions about a system under study. It consists of a general theory and a special description of an object. It is highly abstracted and sometimes reduced to fundamental characteristics (ROSENBLUETH & WIENER 1945). On the contrary a simulation is accepted to be the implementation of dynamic models where all subsystems and variables are solved (HARTMANN 2005). During the last decades modelling became a virtual standard method in almost every scientific disclipine like political sciences (SAPERSTEIN 1984), epidemiology (OKONGO et al. 2013) or astronomy (HAMMER et al. 2010) just to name a few.

There are plenty of modelling approaches. The most relevant ones in the field of soil erosion are empirical models, conceptual models and physical-based models according to WHEATER et al. (1993). Empirical models are derived from empirical observations solely. There is no need for assumptions concerning the relationships between variables or on physical principles. A conceptual model is like a framework including all dependent and independent variables in the system and their relationships. Usually conceptual models lump the processes over the modelled scale (MERRITT et al. 2003) and their parameters are a result of calibration against empirical data (ABBOTT et al. 1986). Conceptual models play an intermediate role between empirical and physical-based models (MERRITT et al. 2003). Physical-based models are based on the

understanding of the physical principles and processes that cause effect on a system. Thus they are very flexible and robust but hard to parameterize (LILLY et al. 2009). The transition from one type to another is continuous because many variables are measured or empirical and a concept is the foundation of all models (DE VENTE & POESEN 2005).

Traditionally a model is not necessarily related to computation. The earliest works on the estimation of soil erosion took place in the 1930s and 1940s and the models were crude and all the calculation was conducted by hand (RENARD et al. 1997a). But especially during the last decades most of erosion modelling is conducted using either GIS or various computer programs and languages (e.g. HOFIERKA et al. 2002a; FINLAYSON & MONTGOMERY 2003; DE VENTE et al. 2009).

There are plenty of erosion models following different approaches. To name a few: SLEMSA (Soil Loss Estimation for Southern Africa) (ELWELL 1978), MMF (Morgan Morgan & Finney Method) (MORGAN et al. 1984), EUROSEM (European Soil Erosion Model) (MORGAN et al. 1998), SHE (Système Hydrologique Européen) (ABBOTT et al. 1986) and WEPP (Water Erosion Prediction Project) (NEARING et al. 1989). Overview of presumably not all erosion models is given by DE ROO (1993), JETTEN et al. (1999), MERRITT et al. (2003), JETTEN & FAVIS-MORTLOCK (2006), and GOVERS (2011).

USLE and **USLE**-Derivates

The Dust Bowl in the US of the 1930s was a tremendous environmental catastrophe (SCHUBERT et al. 2004). Amongst others wrong management of agricultural soils triggered a vast land degradation (COOK et al. 2009). Since that time the endeavor to ascertain the reasons why and how soils degrade was triggered and systematic research began (USDA 2015). After the development of some predecessors in the 1940s and 1950s the well-known Universal Soil-Loss Equation (USLE) was developed in the late 1950s with empirical data and presented in an Agricultural Handbook in 1965. It is meant to be generally applicable to the geographic and climatic regions east of the Rocky Mountains (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1965). Later it was enhanced and revised to overcome some of the limitations (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1978). It is the product of the factors

- climate erosivity R,
- topography L and S
- soil erodibility K and
- landuse and management C and P.

The R factor is directly proportional to the EI_{30} index. It reflects the kinetic energy times the maximum intensity of a thirty minute storm event (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1978; RENARD & FREIMUND 1994). Since this is a very data demanding index and there are only a few

spots in the world with such temporal and spatial resolution alternative procedures are usually used to derive R – especially derivates from monthly data (e.g. DE SANTOS LOUREIRO & DE AZEVEDO COUTINHO 2001; ANGULO-MARTÍNEZ & BEGUERÍA 2009). R was developed mainly for the continental US east of the Rocky Mountains and thus using RUSLE with R in other parts of the world is considered to be vague (RENARD et al. 1997b). But there are plenty of trials to adapt R to other climatic regions (e.g. MILLWARD & MERSEY 1999; WANG et al. 2002; HOYOS et al. 2005).

A very common method is to use the correlation of R and the MFI (Modified Fournier Index) as ARNOLDUS (1977) showed. Other approaches include the relationship of EI_{30} to total rainfall, effective rainfall (exluding the first 12.5 mm of rainfall and consider them as non-erosive due to infiltration) or the so-called Burst Factor (SMITHEN & SCHULZE 1982). Most of the equations to calculate R overestimate the kinetic energy in comparison to direct measurement in coastal influence and underestimate it in sub-humid to semiarid locations (VAN DIJK et al. 2002). Additionally MIKOŠ et al. (2006) showed that most equations are not necessarily valid in alpine environments.

The topography factor LS consists of the slope length (L) and the slope factor (S). The original USLE is plot based with a length of 22.1 m (72.6 ft) and a width of 1.8 m (6.1 ft) at an inclination of 9% (RENARD et al. 2010). The initial LS was an empirical ratio chart of the expected soil loss per unit area on a field slope to the corresponding loss on a standard plot (WISCHMEIER et al. 1958; WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1965). The first revision of USLE in 1978 brought a different procedure. The slope length factor was defined as $L = (\lambda/72.6)^m \times (65.41 \sin^2 \theta + 4.56 \sin \theta + 0.065)$ where λ is the length of a slope, θ is the slope, 72.6 is the standard plot length (ft) and m is the slope length exponent according to four slope classes (bigger than 5%, 3.5% – 4.5%, 1% – 3% and less than 1%). This is only valid for uniform slopes. The exponent m varies from 0.2 to 0.6 (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1978). Mostly because of the variations in experimental results and the poor explanation of these relationships LS in general and m in particular remained controversial (LAFLEN & MOLDENHAUER 2003).

Soil erodibility is complex. BRYAN & POESEN (1989) state that the concept of soil erodibility occurs as a vague, empirical summation of the erosional response of soils. It was thought for a long time to be a constant that might be easily measurable, but it is more a set of highly complex response patterns that is strongly influenced by intrinsic soil characteristics and by macroenvironmental variables extrinsically (BRYAN 2000). It is a measure of soil susceptibility to interrill and rill erosion. The factor is defined as the soil loss rate per erosivity index unit on the USLE standard plot (RÖMKENS et al. 1997). In practice it is the integrated long-term average soil response to the erosive power of rainstorms (TORRI et al. 1997).

In this context the soil erodibility (K) is considered one of the most important factors that is hardly understood but always in use (AUERSWALD et al. 2014). The original procedure to estimate K is either the nomograph by WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978) or its algebraic approximation (see equation 4.13 in chapter 4.3.3) where silt does not exceed 70%. Alternative approaches almost always make use of the soil particle size distribution and soil organic carbon (ZHANG et al. 2008) or of the application of geostatistical methods on K values from soil samples (WANG et al. 2001). The soil erodibility factor works well for regions where the empirical relationships to derive the equation of K were collected (which is the Midwest of the USA) (BORK & SCHRÖDER 1996), but it needs calibration and conversion for soils in other parts of the world (e.g. REJMAN et al. 1999; LU et al. 2001; BESKOW et al. 2009).

The USLE and its factors is the foundation for many derived and adapted formulas to calculate soil erosion.

In MUSLE the rainfall energy factor R is replaced by a runoff factor that needs calibration to a gauged basin to determine a soil moisture coefficient. Thus it is always restricted to a basin scale but it can differ in spatial extent (WILLIAMS 1977). MUSLE is applicable on different time scales (annual, monthly, daily) and to specific storm events (ZHANG et al. 2009) and is said to be superior in steeply forested areas (SADEGHI et al. 2007). MUSLE is not to be confused with USLE-M after KINNELL & RISSE (1998). USLE-M also differs in the treatment of the erosivity index (R). The runoff amount and sediment concentration is introduced as an exclusive term that is coupled to time – the result is an erosivity index per event (Q_REI_{30}) after KINNELL (1997). So USLE-M uses an event based erosion index to compute USLE (KINNELL 2001).

Presumably the most popular model is the revised USLE (RUSLE). It follows the same empirical principles as the original USLE. The factors are identical but their computation differs. Additionally the computerization was taken into account and an user-friendly software was developed and distributed (RENARD et al. 1991). Nowadays speaking of RUSLE means either the model and its empirical relationships or a distributed software. There is the RUSLE1 that is very close to the original USLE factors and there is RUSLE2 that is still developed and maintained. That includes frequently calibration, removal of possible inconsistencies in the equations and implementation of latest scientific approaches (RENARD et al. 2010). Another distinction between USLE and RUSLE is the treatment of LS. In USLE the recommended values of the slope length exponent (m) vary from 0.2 to 0.5 for slope levels between 1% and 5% and there is no change beyond an inclination above 5%. In RUSLE m is a function of the erosion ratio of rill (caused by flow) to interrill (caused by raindrop impact) and m continues to increase with increasing slopes (MCCOOL et al. 1997; GABRIELS 1999; HOFFMANN OLIVEIRA et al. 2013). One of the biggest advantages of RUSLE is the possibility to apply the equation to catchment scale because USLE is restricted to fields solely (RODRÍGUEZ & SUÁREZ 2010).

The Areal Nonpoint Source Watershed Environment Response Simulation (ANSWERS) model (BEASLEY et al. 1982) is designated for the use in catchments with agriculture as primary land use during and shortly after rainfall events. It uses USLE K, C and P but additionally several

physically based mathematical relationships to represent field capacity, potential interception, soil moisture and several other soil variables (DE ROO 1993). This makes it superior to USLE in many ways but it has the disadvantage of theoretical weaknesses and the complexity of required input data (DE ROO et al. 1989).

The LS factor has been a widely discussed topic because it lacks a proper representation of real life topography (GRIFFIN et al. 1988; HICKEY 2000). Additionally several authors agree that the topography factor is the most sensitive one (e.g. BRYAN & POESEN 1989; LIU et al. 2001; LIU et al. 2011; KUMAR & KUSHWAHA 2013). To overcome some shortcomings of LS the RUSLE3D model uses the concept of unit stream power to compute the sediment transport capacity (T) based LS as follows: $T = (\frac{A}{22.13})^m \times (\frac{\sin(\beta)}{0.0896})^n$ where A is the upslope contributing area and β is the slope angle (MITASOVA et al. 1996a). RUSLE3D is a detachment limit method. That implies that a water flow transport can transport an infinite amount of sediment. Thus RUSLE3D is not capable to calculate deposition (MITASOVA et al. 1999). Close to RUSLE3D is USPED (Unit Stream Power Erosion Deposition) with the assumption that water flow can transport a limited amount of water (transport capacity limited) (MITASOVA et al. 1996b; MITASOVA et al. 1999). USPED substitutes LS from RUSLE with LS = $A^m \times (\sin \beta)^n$. Further computation is needed since USPED has the advantage to compute erosion and deposition as the change in transport capacity (WARREN et al. 2005).
4. Data Used & Methods Applied

The field work took place in January and February 2014. All data were processed using R version 3.1 (R CORE TEAM 2014), several additional software packages as stated in Table 4.1 and especially GRASS GIS Version 6.4.4 (NETELER et al. 2012; GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM 2014). QGIS Geographic Information System Version 2.6 was used for cartographic purposes (QGIS DEVELOPMENT TEAM 2014).

All laboratory works were conducted at the Laboratory for Physical Geography of the Institute for Geographical Sciences at Freie Universität Berlin. A generalized workflow of the working packages, input data and intermediate steps is depicted in Figure 4.1.

4.1. Climatic Variability

4.1.1. Climate Data

The used data sets are from the Agricultural Research Council (ARC 2014) which is in charge for the South African weather stations.

First weather station is Riviera which is exclusively in the middle of the catchment (see map in Figure 1.2). Despite the fact that the station exists since the early 1980s the obtained time series just ranges back till 2001. In addition the observations are partly incomplete and show severe gaps.

A second data set comes from the surroundings of Piketberg which is outside the catchment more upcountry (Figure 1.1). It shows less gaps but suffers from less observations. Fortunately it was possible to obtain daily rainfall records from the local farm Kromvlei (see Figure 1.2). It ranges back till early 2003 and shows no obvious data gaps.

All data sets range to January 2014. The two official stations give their measurements in floating-point numbers, data from Kromvlei are available as integers.

The above-mentioned data sets were considered to be not sufficient for some of the tasks since they cover 12 years maximum. The data set presented by the Climate Prediction Center & National Centers for Environmental Prediction (further called NCEP) was found to be sufficient for these tasks and has the advantages

- to be accessible freely,
- to contain the most relevant climate parameters,
- on a monthly basis from 1948 to 2011
- at spatial high-resolution $(0.5^{\circ} \times 0.5^{\circ} \text{ latitude/longitude})$
- in native GeoTiff format (FAN & VAN DEN DOOL 2004; FAN & VAN DEN DOOL 2008).

Package	Reference	Description
Analytical Packages		
climatol 2.2	Guijarro 2013	Functions to homogenize climatological series and to list climatological summaries of the ho- mogenized results
hydroGOF 0.3-8	Zambrano- Bigiarini 2014a	Goodness-of-fit functions for comparison of sim- ulated and observed hydrological time series
hydroTSM 0.4-2-1	Zambrano- Bigiarini 2014b	Time series management, analysis and interpo- lation for hydrological modelling
pls 2.4-3	MEVIK et al. 2013	Special functions to calculate Partial Least Squares and Principal Component regression
raster 2.3-0	Hijmans 2014	Reading, writing, manipulating, analyzing and modeling of gridded spatial data with basic and high-level functions
rgdal 0.8-6	BIVAND et al. 2014	Bindings for the Geospatial Data Abstraction Library (GDAL)
rgeos 0.3-6	BIVAND & RUNDEL 2014	Interface to Geometry Engine – Open Source (GEOS) using the C API for topology opera- tions on geometries
SPEI 1.6	Beguería & Vicente-Serrano 2013	A set of functions for computing potential evapotranspiration and several drought in- dices including the Standardized Precipitation- Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI)
spgrass6 0.8.3	BIVAND 2013	Interface between GRASS $6+$ geographical information system and R
zoo 1.7-11	Zeileis & Grothendieck 2005	Infrastructure for ordered and irregular time series
Auxiliary Packages		
extrafont 0.16	Chang 2014	Tools for using fonts in R
plotrix 3.5-4	Lemon 2006	A large number of specialized plots and accessory functions like color scaling, text placement and legends
plyr 1.8-1	Wickham 2011	Implementation of the split–apply–combine strategy for data analysis in ${\sf R}$
RCurl 1.95-4.1	Lang 2013	General network client interface for ${\sf R}$
stringr 0.6.2	WICKHAM 2012	stringr is a set of simple wrappers that make R's string functions more consistent, simpler and easier to use
xtable 1.7-3	Dahl 2014	Export tables to $\mathbb{P}_{E}X$ or HTML

 ${\bf Table \ 4.1: \ Package, \ version, \ references \ and \ brief \ description \ of \ used \ R \ packages \ for \ data \ processing. }$



Figure 4.1: The workflow is showing the intermediate steps and procedures from input data at the top to results of the three main working packages at the bottom. Note that support practice was neglected.

To compute a drought index monthly rainfall and temperature data were obtained. The temperature data were used to derive potential evapotranspiration after THORNTHWAITE (1948).

4.1.2. Drought Index

In order to analyze the catchments vulnerability to the scarcity of precipitation a climatic drought index was calculated. Droughts are a spatio-temporal phenomena so if possible the time series of climate data should be as long as possible.

The Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) (VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2010a) was calculated using NCEP data. The SPEI is a simple multiscalar index using the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration following equation 4.1 which is a straightforward adaption of a climatic water balance according to THORNTHWAITE (1948).

$$D_i = P_i - PET_{i^1} \tag{4.1}$$

To calculate the SPEI at different time scales a log–logistic distribution is used for the D_i values. The mean SPEI value is 0 with a standard deviation of 1. This means a SPEI of 0 represents 50% of the cumulative probability of D (VICENTE-SERRANO et al. 2010a).

4.1.3. Aridity

In order to get an idea about the water balance in the course of the year aridity indices were calculated using Riviera station data:

The Aridity Index after DE MARTONNE is a classical index following the approach of the ratio of mean precipitation and mean temperature (QUAN et al. 2013). It was calculated for each month with equation 4.2 (DE MARTONNE 1926). P stands for precipitation (cm) and T is the mean temperature in °C. The index decreases with increasing aridity.

$$I_{\rm m} = \frac{12 \times P_{\rm i}}{T_{\rm i} + 10} \tag{4.2}$$

Since the Aridity Index after DE MARTONNE seemed very coarse for arid regions the UNEP Aridity Index additionally was calculated. The United Nations Environment Programme promotes the approach to use a ratio of precipitation (P) and potential evapotranspiration (PET) both in mm as in equation 4.3.

$$I_{e} = \frac{12 \times P_{i}}{PET_{i}}$$

$$(4.3)$$

ET has been calculated using the formula from PENMAN (1948). All necessary values were part of the Riviera data set. The factor 12 is used to process monthly values.

4.1.4. Magnitude-Frequency-Analysis

Magnitude-frequency-analyses are used to estimate the probability and the recurrence interval (RI) of events. Actually this approach comes from the field of hydrology but it is suitable for rainfall data as well (CHOW 1953). The daily precipitation values are sorted in descending order, the highest value gets the rang one. The recurrence interval is calculated with equation 4.4 where N is the total of observations (including the days without precipitation) and r is the rang of the corresponding rainfall amount (AHNERT 1982).

$$RI = \frac{N+1}{r}$$
(4.4)

4.2. Landuse & Landcover

The research area was sub-divided into more or less homogeneous areas according to physical and environmental properties (FLÜGEL 1997; YAIR & KOSSOVSKY 2002). As far as possible for these (Hydrological) Response Units (RU) the parameters vegetation type, vegetation cover, stone cover and soil type were determined. If distinguishable the landuse was also mapped in classes of USGS Land Cover Classes (Table 4.2) (VOGELMANN et al. 2001, USGS 2014). As not all parts of the Krom Antonies river catchment could be mapped on a sufficient scale some parts were mapped on the basis of aerial photographs obtained from National Geo-Spatial Information (NGI 2010a).

The class open water is without exception due to the existence of water storage dams and reservoirs. Low intensity residential stands for agglomeration of houses and farm buildings. Barren rock & sediments refers to any surface which is not sufficiently covered by vegetation.



Figure 4.2: Example of a top soil picture and the corresponding color separation chart.

Shrubland is any non-agricultural land covered by shrubs whereas grassland stands for land without obvious agricultural usage but without shrubs. Orchards & vineyards are plantations, as pasture classified areas had to show traces of livestock farming. This includes horse breeding and related areas too. All agricultural used zones without obvious cultivated fruits were classified as fallow. Woody wetlands and herbaceous wetlands are mostly meadows or direct surroundings of water reservoirs.

Geomorphological mapping was neglected or conducted at very small scale considering the sheer size of the catchment. In addition certain areas were either not accessible due to steep slope and the result seemed not to be promising or the owners did not permit to enter.

Furthermore a picture was taken of most RUs showing topsoil and a color separation chart (example shown in Figure 4.2).

4.3. Soil Erosion & Deposition

The net erosion and deposition was modelled using the Unit Stream Power Erosion and Deposition (USPED) model (MITAS & MITASOVA 1998). It is a 3-dimensional enhancement of the well established Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE) after WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978) and follows in principle the same equation to derive the sediment transport capacity (T). The factors of equation 4.5 equal USLE and Water Erosion Prediction Project model (WEPP) (FLANAGAN et al. 2007) and were not developed for USPED exclusively (MITASOVA & MITAS 2001).

$$T = R \times LS \times K \times C \times P \tag{4.5}$$

The transport capacity T is a product of rainfall and runoff erosivity (R), length and steepness of slope (LS), inherent soil erodibility (K), plant cover (C) and conservation support practice (P) (WARREN et al. 2005).

$$ED = \frac{\Delta(T \times \cos \alpha)}{dx} + \frac{\Delta(T \times \sin \alpha)}{dy}$$
(4.6)

The erosion and deposition is a change in the sediment transport capacity which is calculated as a directional derivative using equation 4.6 where ΔT is the change in transport capacity, α is the aspect angle and dx and dy are the first order partial derivatives from a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) in east-west and north-south extent respectively (MITASOVA et al. 1996a). In the resulting raster map the positive values represent deposition whereas the negative values indicate erosion.

4. Data Used & Methods Applied

Level I	Level II	No.
	Open Water	11
water	Perennial Ice/Snow	12
	Low Intensity Residual	21
Developed	High Intensity Residual	22
	Commercial/Industrial/Transportation	23
	Barren Rock & Sediments	31
Barren	Quarries/Strip Mines/Gravel Pits	32
	Transitional	33
	Deciduous Forest	41
Forested Upland	Evergreen Forest	42
	Mixed Forest	43
Shrubland	Shrubland	51
Non-Natural Woody	Orchards & Vineyards	61
Herbaceous Upland Natural/Semi-natural Vegetation	Grassland	71
	Pasture	81
	Row Crops	82
Herbaceous Planted/Cultivated	Small Grains	83
	Fallow	84
	Urban/Recreational Grasses	85
Watlanda	Woody Wetlands	91
wettands	Herbaceous Wetlands	92

Table 4.2: Landcover Classes after USGS (2014). Classes in gray were not observed during mapping.

4.3.1. Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity

The estimation of rainfall-runoff erosivity (R) is an exceedingly difficult task. The original procedure needs the total storm energy (E) times the maximum 30-minutes intensity (I_{30}) to consider the volume of rainfall and runoff (E) as well as the rates of particle detachment and runoff (I_{30}) (RENARD et al. 1997b).

Since this is not obtainable for most parts of the world several other ways must be taken into account to estimate R. As a good approximation to determine the rainfall erosivity the Modified Fournier Index (MFI – equation 4.7) was used (ARNOLDUS 1977) where p_i is the average rainfall

each month and P is the average annual rainfall. Precipitation data were obtained from the South African Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. For further description see section 4.1.1.

$$MFI = \sum_{i=1}^{i=12} \frac{p_i^2}{P_a}$$
(4.7)

To convert MFI to values of R equation 4.8 is suggested by ANGULO-MARTÍNEZ & BEGUERÍA (2009) where a and b are empirical coefficients with values of 21.56 and 0.927 respectively.

$$R = a \times MFI^{b} \tag{4.8}$$

To simplify the approach and because for the other factors there are no data sets which reproduce the intra-annual variability the (annual) mean R value was taken for analysis.

4.3.2. Slope Length & Steepness Factor

Contour data were obtained from NGI (2010b) with various vertical resolutions. Resampling was conducted to get a set of contour lines at least common denominator of 20 m vertical distance. The contour lines were used to generate a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) applying a regularized spline with tension (RST) (MITASOVA & MITAS 1993; MITASOVA & HOFIERKA 1993). This DEM is the basis for further computing the slope length and slope steepness factor (LS). Slope length using USPED can be calculated using equation 4.9

$$LS = A^{m} (\sin \beta)^{n} \tag{4.9}$$

where m and n are empirical coefficients of 1.6 and 1.3 respectively depending on which form of erosional processes are considered (MITASOVA & MITAS 2001; PISTOCCHI et al. 2002). In this specific case m has been set to the default of 1.6. β is the slope in degree [°] and A is the upslope contributing area (MITASOVA et al. 1999).

The slope β is the first derivative (equation 4.11) of the DEM. Its gradient represents a vector field pointing in the direction in which maximal variation of the values occurs. Thus it reflects the maximal rate of change of elevation models (OLAYA 2009).

$$v\bar{z} = \sqrt{\frac{\delta z^2}{\delta x} + \frac{\delta z^2}{\delta y}}$$
(4.10)

$$SLOPE(\%) = \arctan(|v\bar{z}|) \times 57.29578 \tag{4.11}$$

The upslope (contributing) area A is a planar area and not a three dimensional surface area. It describes the spatial extent of an area contributing to a single grid cell (GRUBER & PECKHAM 2009). It can be estimated using GRASS function r.flow when calculating the flowline density which equals the upslope contributed area per unit width, when multiplied by resolution (GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM et al. 2014a). In this case the horizontal resolution is 20 m as a result of the contour lines from the DEM generation.

A is the amount of mass that is accumulated in cell i when the sum of each neighboring cell's A is multiplied by the fraction r of each neighboring cell plus the input I in cell i itself. The receiving fraction r is the result of 1-d – the draining proportion (d) into its neighbors. In GRASS GIS a single flow algorithm (SFD) is used to compute the flow in the direction of the gradient down the slope. Since it is a SFD all flow is transported to a single cell downslope (MITASOVA et al. 1995). Further information on hydrological terrain attributes can be obtained at QUINN et al. (1991) and TARBOTON (1997).

$$A_{i} = \sum_{j=0}^{8} (A_{NBj} \times r_{NBj}) + I_{i}$$
 (4.12)

4.3.3. Soil Erodibility Factor

For the calculation of the soil erodibility factor (K) the equation 4.13 from WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978) was used where M is a fraction of grain size classes, OM is organic matter (%) and p is hydraulic conductivity. 0.137 is the conversion from imperial to SI units.

$$K = 0.137 \times \frac{[2.1 \times 10^{-4} \times M^{1.14}(12 - OM) + 3.25(s - 2) + 2.5(p - 3)]}{100}$$
(4.13)

Soil Structure Class

The soil structure classes are defined according to WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978). As a result of the field work's soil interpretation it was uniformly set to class 1 because of the ubiquitously found single grain fabric (USDA 2014).

Primary Particle Size Fractions

A total of 76 sediment samples were used for grain-size analyses using a LS 13 320 Laser Diffractometer of BECKMAN COULTER INC. (2009). After HCl-testing the samples no inorganic carbon was found so the ordinary pretreatment was neglected. The sediment fraction greater than 1 mm in diameter was dry sieved in order to filter most organic content.

The grain-size analysis is based on the general acceptance that particles of certain size or diameter diffract light at an unique angle (BEUSELINCK et al. 1999). This relationship is

inversely proportional. To measure this relation a suspension of sediment sample is routed through a steady beam of light (750 nm). The resulting scattering pattern is a function of light intensity and diffraction angle and is specific to each particle size. Detailed description can be found at DE BOER et al. (1987), LOIZEAU et al. (1994), and BEUSELINCK et al. (1998) and WITT et al. (2012).

The primary particle size fractions (M) were calculated using the version of WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978). This includes the percentages of the silt (Si: $2\mu m - 50 \mu m$), the sand (Sa: $50 - 100 \mu m$) and the clay fraction (C: less than $2 \mu m$) after USDA 2014.

$$\mathbf{M} = (\mathbf{Si} + \mathbf{Sa}) \times 100 - \mathbf{C} \tag{4.14}$$

Hydraulic Conductivity

The Kozeny-Carman formula (KOZENY 1927; CARMAN 1937; CARMAN 1956) after ODONG (2007) was used to derive the hydraulic conductivity from grain-size analysis. In equation 4.15 g is the acceleration due to gravity 9.81 $\frac{\text{m}}{\text{s}^2}$, v is kinematic viscosity of water which was set to a standard 20 °C value of 1.002 according to WEAST et al. (1988) and d₁₀ represents the grain size diameter (mm) of the first decile.

$$K = p = \frac{g}{v} \times 10^{-3} \left[\frac{n^3}{(1-n)^2} \right] \times d_{10}^2$$
(4.15)

n is the media's porosity which can be derived from empirical relationship (equation 4.16) using the coefficient of grain uniformity U calculated with the first and sixth decile (VUKOVIC & SORO 1992).

$$n = 0.255(1 + 0.83 \left\lfloor \frac{d_{60}}{d_{10}} \right\rfloor)$$
(4.16)

After transforming the values from centimeters per second to inch per hour the permeability codes (see Table B 2) after RÖMKENS et al. (1997) could be applied and the classified data was then attached to the spatial data.

Organic Matter

In order to calculate organic matter (OM) for equation 4.13 a representative picture (example in Figure 4.2) of most RU was taken showing top soil and a color separation chart. These pictures were read into R with rgdal (BIVAND et al. 2014) and for selected coordinates within a region of obviously homogeneous soil the mean value (40 random measurements in a radius of ten pixels) of R, G and B were obtained using the function **over** from rgeos (BIVAND & RUNDEL 2014).

The reference RGB values were acquired in the same way at the color separation chart without using mean values.

$$\begin{bmatrix} X \\ Y \\ Z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.412453 & 0.357580 & 0.180423 \\ 0.212671 & 0.715160 & 0.072169 \\ 0.019334 & 0.119194 & 0.950227 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} R \\ G \\ B \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.17)

The soil RGB values needed to be normalized. Since the pictures were stored in 8-bit integer JPG the measured values were divided by 255 to attain the reflectance in percent. Then it needed to be converted into another color space model. With the auxiliary color space CIE XYZ (CIE 1932) and the conversion factors in equation 4.17 (VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. 2006a) the RGB values were converted into CIE L a* b* color space (CIE 1978).

The standard illuminant D65 with $X_0 = 95.047$, $Y_0 = 100$ and $Z_0 = 108.883$ was conducted what is closest to normal daylight (POYNTON 2003).

L =
$$116 \times \left(\frac{Y}{Y_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} - 16 \text{ if } \frac{Y}{Y_0} > 0.008856$$
 (4.18)

$$= 903.3 \times \left(\frac{Y}{Y_0}\right) \text{ otherwise}$$
(4.19)

$$\mathbf{a}^* = 500 \times \left[\left(\frac{\mathbf{X}}{\mathbf{X}_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} - \left(\frac{\mathbf{Y}}{\mathbf{Y}_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \right]$$
(4.20)

$$b^* = 200 \times \left[\left(\frac{Y}{Y_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} - \left(\frac{Z}{Z_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \right]$$
 (4.21)

CIE L a^{*} b^{*} is a color space model using euclidian distances for color description. L stands for luminance and is valid between 0 (black) and 100 (white). a^{*} and b^{*} represent the chroma, where a^{*} stands for the proportion of red (positive) and green (negative) and b^{*} stands for blue (negative) and yellow (positive) (SCHANDA 2007; WARGALLA 2014).

To evaluate the top soil pictures a selection of 34 RU sediment samples was taken for further laboratory analysis. They were dried at 105 °C, dry sieved to less than 2 mm in order to extract coarse material like seeds, litter and pebbles and HCl-tested. To verify the absence of inorganic carbon in the samples the loss on ignition (LOI) was performened at 550 °C and 900 °C each for three hours (DEAN 1974).

The amount of total carbon (TC) was measured using the TruSpec CHN–S–Analyzer (LECO CORPORATION 2006). TC was assumed to represent total organic carbon (TOC) which equals

			Cove	r [%]	
		0	25	50	75
ight	No appreciable canopy	0.45			
e & He	Tall weeds or short brush with average drop fall height of $50.8 \text{ cm} (20 \text{ inch})$		0.36	0.26	0.17
y Type	Appreciable brush or brushes, with average drop fall height of $198.12 \text{ cm} (6.5 \text{ ft})$		0.4	0.34	0.28
Canop	Trees, but no appreciable low brush. Average drop fall height of $396.24{\rm cm}~(13{\rm ft})$		0.42	0.39	0.36

Table 4.3: Applied classification for RUSLE cover management factor (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1978).

 C_{org} because of the lack of total inorganic carbon (TIC) from the LOI900. This could only be accepted because of the silicic parent rock material.

The C_{org} data were split into a calibration data set (21) and a testing data set (12) in order to develop a pedotransfer function (PTF) (VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. 2008).

This was done using a Partial Least Square Regression (PLSR) with the three components L, a^{*} and b^{*} and the leave-one-out cross-validated predictions (MEVIK & WEHRENS 2007). One sample had to be neglected because of the distorting effect to the other values. It was collected in a meadow and was almost completely humous. Organic carbon values where multiplied by 1.72 to appraise the surface organic matter (SCHWERTMANN et al. 1987). Finally the values for OM were written to the corresponding RUs.

Since that not all of the catchment was covered by reasonable RUs (either sketchy parts remained between RUs or the surrounding slopes were not accessible) some values needed to be interpolated. There are two different approaches that were used:

The hydraulic conductivity was derived from 76 samples in the agriculturally used part of the valley. But to cover the whole catchment some so-called dummy points had to be included. They were placed beyond the bordering outcrops that surround the horseshoe-shaped catchment.

The second approach had to be applied for the areas without attributes in between RUs. This was the case for organic matter, because not all RUs had a corresponding picture. The gaps were closed by randomly sampled points over a raster with calculated values. These points were used to process a bilinear spline.

4.3.4. Cover Management Factor & Support Practice Factor

The vegetation cover values from the RUs were reclassified to fit to the suggested cover classes by WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978) as in Table 4.3. The vegetation type was reclassified in equal measure. The dominant vegetation group was taken and used as determining factor.

Calculating the C factor brought the same issues as the K factor. The areas showing no sufficient values were treated as described above.

Due to the lack of data and the complexity of P it was set uniformly to one.

5. Results

5.1. Climatic Variability

5.1.1. Drought Index

3-month scale

The results of the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) calculation are plotted in Figure 5.1 and summarized in Table 5.1. The SPEI for the 64-year time series using a 3-month mean shows a strong seasonality. Altogether 85 months show SPEI values less than -1 and indicate moderate drought conditions. They occur throughout all twelve months of the year with absolute frequencies between six and ten, except for May with seven and October and November with no droughts. There are 15 severe droughts with SPEI values less than -2. October and November also do not hold droughts on this scale. Maximum counts of droughts are in March with three severe ones. All other months show one or two occurences.

Looking at the humid periods there are 91 months in the time series that show moderate SPEI values bigger than 1. The frequencies range from five to eleven. September shows no such events. The maximum comes up in November and May, the minimum of five wet spells is in July. 20 pronounced humid periods are observed in the data set. The most appear in April and July (3), September shows none again.

The whole time series holds periods of arid and humid conditions. In the first few years of the NCEP data set one event of severe drought conditions (greater than -2) can be observed. The 1960s and early 1970s as well as late 1990s and early 2000s appear as a phase of repetitive short-time droughts. Humid phases seem to be more distinct in the 1950s, mid 1970s, mid 1980s and mid 1990s.

6-month scale

On a 6-month scale the SPEI is less evenly seasonal than on the 3-month scale, but several distinct periods begin to evolve. For moderate drought conditions 91 events can be distinguished. Their range of absolute frequencies goes from no value for October and June and a minimum value of six in March to a maximum of twelve in September. No clear cumulation appears. Thirteen events of severe drought conditions can be stated for that climate records. June and October again do not show any drought events on that scale. The maximum value is in March (3), second most occurences are in July (2), all other months show one event.



Figure 5.1: Results of the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index for 3-,6-,12- and 24-month scale.

99 moderate humid periods can be determined. The minimum occurence is in July with four moderate wet spells. Second lowest count is in September with six entries. The maximum occurs in May and December (11). There are two cumulations: the first from April to June, the second in November and December. The pronounced humid periods are distributed equally in the seasonal cycle. Most months bear a value of one or two. Maximum values are in February (3) and July (4).

Altogether the curve of the plotted SPEI values (Figure 5.1) shows an evolving trend. The 1950s appear as an above normal humid phase, as well as the mid 1970s and to a lesser extent the mid 1980s and early 1990s. The mid 1990s are marked by a short-time wet spell. On the contrary the 1960s and early 1970s as well as late 1970s are characterized by prolonged drought phases. The late 1990s and most of the 2000s show drought phases on a 6-month time scale.

12-month scale

The SPEI shows 130 values less than -1 on a 12-month time scale. They range from eight to thirteen occurences in all months of the year with most droughty conditions in December and January and least in March. Only five severe droughts were detected on that time scale. They cumulate in the dry season (January, February, April and October each one) with one additional drought in August.

There are altogether 101 moderate humid periods. The minimum value is four in October and June has a maximum of twelve occurences. A cumulation of wet spell events can be stated for the austral winter months. 15 occurences of pronounced humid periods can be observed. February, October and November each have two wet spells, all other months show only one.

The general trend of the SPEI value curve starts similar to the 3- and 6-month scale. The beginning of the data set shows a light drought in the late 1940s. The mid to late 1950s are a phase of above normal humid conditions. The early 1960s are moderately dry. The time from the mid 1960s to the early 1970s is affected by the absence of distinct humid periods and an alternating dominance of moderate and severe drought conditions. The mid 1970s are extraordinarily humid followed by a phase of drought in the end of that decade. The 1980s and early 1990s tend to above normal conditions, but an extraordinarily wet period can not be stated. The curve is fluctuating with some minor humid phases. After a relatively humid period in the end 1990s a ten year moderately drought can be seen. Around 2010 must be considered as a drought period.

24-month scale

The calculation of the SPEI on a 24-month scale brought a frequency of 145 moderate and no severe droughts on the 64-year time series. The moderate droughts on that time scale occur

	Scale		5- 11011115		emonus	14	SUJIIO111-7T		24-III0III-42
		> 1	> 2	> 1	> 2	> 1	> 2	> 1	> 2
	January	9	2	7	2	9	1	7	2
	February	7	2	7	3	7	2	6	3
\mathbf{ds}	March	7	2	9	2	8	1	9	2
rioe	April	7	1	10	1	9	1	12	0
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{e}}$	May	11	1	11	1	11	1	11	0
hid	June	8	1	10	2	12	1	10	0
Ium	July	5	2	4	4	9	1	13	0
ΗI	August	9	1	7	2	10	1	13	0
ΡE	September	0	0	6	2	8	1	9	1
\mathbf{v}	October	8	1	7	2	4	2	8	1
	November	11	1	10	1	7	2	6	1
	December	9	1	11	1	7	1	7	1
		< -1	< -2	< -1	< -2	< -1	< -2	< -1	< -2
	January	7	2	10	1	13	1	12	0
	February	10	1	11	1	11	1	13	0
\mathbf{ds}	March	7	3	6	3	8	0	13	0
eric	April	9	1	9	1	10	1	12	0
P	May	6	1	9	1	10	0	12	0
ght	June	10	1	0	0	11	0	12	0
rou	July	7	2	8	2	11	0	14	0
D	August	10	1	9	1	11	1	12	0
ΘEI	September	10	1	12	1	10	0	13	0
\mathbf{SI}	October	0	0	0	0	10	1	11	0
	November	0	0	9	1	12	0	10	0
	December	9	2	8	1	13	0	11	0

 Table 5.1: Absolute values of the frequencies of humid and drought periods using the Standardardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index on various time scales.

throughout all months of the year with frequency ranges between ten (in November) and 14 (in July). No obvious cumulation of drought events can be stated.



Figure 5.2: Comparison of the different time scales and its relative frequencies (%) of the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index. Values are rounded to integers. All absolute frequencies can be found in Table 5.1. Deviation from unity is due to rounding.

The wet spells show 111 minor and eleven major events. Values less than 2 range from six occurences (February and November) to thirteen (July and August). SPEI values bigger than 2 seem to cumulate in the dry season. The maximum occurs in February (3). The winter months do not show such values.

The SPEI values curve depicts varying humid conditions for the 1950s followed by a period of predominantly below normal conditions till the end 1960s before the period of drought prolongs until the mid 1970s. This phase ends in a humid phase in the mid and late 1970s. The 1980s start with a severe drought before the mainly slightly humid phase sets in till the mid 1990s. In the late 1990s a decennial droughty period starts succeeded by a short time of near to normal conditions. Around 2010 is marked by a moderate drought.

Dry & Wet Spells in the Course of the Year

A comparison of all four time scales is presented in Figure 5.2. Looking at the humid periods it can be seen that a 3-month time scale bears almost no alteration in the curse of a year. All indicated humid periods have a share of 7% to 11%. No humid period can be stated for September using SPEI on a 3-months time scale for this data set. The least share of 7% can be stated for July. No obvious cumulation occurs.

The 6-months time scale shows not much more variability for the humid periods. Least values (7%) can be stated for July till October. A relative concentration occurs in early rain and late dry season (March to June). All months have a share of humid phases between 7% and 11%. The 12-months time scale shows the same trend as the above-mentioned. There is only a little variability throughout the year with a slight concentration in the austral winter months. All values range between 7% and 11% – except for October. It holds only 5% of the detected wet spells on that time scale.

A 2-year scale reveals the similar pattern. A little less humid periods can be stated for the summer months whereas in the winter months the chance to experience a wet spell is much greater. The minimum is 6% in November, the maximum of 11% is reached in July and August. Remarkably there is some sort of double peak in the rain season. June is marked by only 8% while months of the season show little higher values.

If the distribution of the humid periods is considered across the time scales the following occurs: September always occurs with minor shares (0% - 8%) and it is the only month with that shows the absence of a wet spell at one time scale. So there is only 6% variability across all scales through the year. On scales lesser than twelve months the summer months tend to higher percentages than on larger time scales. The winter months mostly show the highest shares.

Drought periods on a 3-month time scale are not evenly distributed through the year. In October and November there was no dry spell detected. The remaining values range from 7% to 11% with the minimum in May. There is no tendency of cumulation.

The 6-month time scale ranges from 9% to 12%. In June and October no dry spells occur. The minimum occurence of drought is in December and March. The highest shares are in February and September.

The SPEI on larger time scales differs a little bit from the above-mentioned. The values appear more evenly distributed. The 12-month minimum is 6% in March and the maximum is 10% in January and December. All other values range from 9% to 7%. The 24-month SPEI has a minimum of 7% in November and its maximum in July (10%). The remaining months hold either 8% or 9%.

Across the time scales no obvious trends can be stated. On scales lesser than twelve months one might see a tendency towards extreme values in the second half of the year. Generally on that scales the shares are higher since on that scales there are four months with no droughts at all. The temporal pattern of drought is characterized by a lack of variability.

5.1.2. Magnitude-Frequency-Analyses

The descriptive statistics of the three weather stations can be found in Table 5.2. Looking at Riviera the station covers minimum ten years ($a_{complete}$). In addition the total of measured days (d_{total}) is displayed since this station shows big gaps and to relate the days with rainfall (d_{rain}). The total of rainfall days indicates a strong seasonality of the precipitation with a rainy season setting in in April and lasting till August. The climax of the rainy season is reached in May and June with a share of almost 50% of days of rain.

The values of the arithmetic mean do not differ that much from the other months. Considering a weighted mean (x_w) the gap between the humid and arid months increases. It also shows a maximum mean value of bigger than 30 mm in May and still values bigger than 20 mm in April and June. The standard deviation is for all months of the rain season increased with a maximum of 13.04 in May. The maximum value of rainfall of all three data sets is part of the Riviera time series. 126 mm were recorded on the 16th of May 2006.

The months of February, March and September appear to be the transition period taking into account the percentage of rainy days. Arithmetic and weighted mean differ from the rain season, but not from the dry season in the second half of the year. It lasts from October to at least January. January is the only month that stands out at first glance. It shows the lowest amounts of rain – either arithmetic or weighted mean – it has a very small standard deviation and the overall maximum amount of rain for that month is only at 11.18 mm.

The Kromvlei station covers at least eleven years without gaps in data. The seasonality is not that distinctive as the Riviera data, but a rain and a dry season with a transition phase can still be distinguished. Days with rain only represent around 20 % of the rain season in the Kromvlei data. The rain season (arithmetic) mean values are remarkably higher than for Riviera. The weighted mean also differs. It is higher for all months of the winter rain so as the maximum values are. Generally May has the most rainy days, rainfall amount and highest variability as in Riviera. The extreme amounts of rain from 16th of May 2006 can be found again in May with 110 mm as the second highest value ever in the three data sets.

January again is the month with the least rainfall, least variability and the lowest maximum amount of rain. During that period of the year the mean values (both) are also higher. In some cases the values even doubled like it is the case in November which means this month is extraordinarily humid in Kromvlei. This data set shows the same trend as it is in Riviera for the first three months of the year: After the very arid January some more rain falls in February and then March reveals more rainy days but less rain amount than January again.

Station		$a_{complete}$	$\mathbf{d}_{\mathrm{total}}$	$\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{rain}}$	d_{rain} [%]	x	$\bar{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{w}}$	σ	maximum
	Jan	12	372	28	8	3.13	5.54	2.79	11.18
	Feb	11	324	55	17	5.37	15.66	7.56	31.24
	Mar	10	331	63	19	3.03	10.09	4.72	18.80
	Apr	11	330	132	40	5.81	21.30	9.56	40.20
a	May	r 11	369	175	47	7.06	30.98	13.04	126.00
ier	Jun	12	368	171	46	6.14	24.10	10.53	54.20
Riv	Jul	13	403	170	42	5.62	19.56	8.88	58.00
H	\mathbf{Aug}	12	393	138	35	5.09	14.21	6.83	31.50
	\mathbf{Sep}	12	389	66	17	3.59	10.55	5.02	28.90
	Oct	12	388	27	7	4.39	13.19	6.27	40.80
	Nov	12	371	31	8	4.70	14.84	6.97	31.24
	Dec	11	356	32	9	4.92	16.50	7.68	29.70
	Jan	12	372	24	6	6.82	9.46	4.40	18.00
	Feb	11	311	28	9	8.56	16.85	8.69	32.00
	Mar	11	341	46	13	6.69	14.57	7.50	23.00
	\mathbf{Apr}	11	330	59	18	12.63	26.96	13.63	50.00
lei	May	r 11	341	94	28	16.92	41.00	20.33	110.00
, MU	Jun	11	330	64	19	19.14	37.47	18.85	80.00
[LO]	Jul	11	341	80	23	17.32	29.81	14.82	78.00
X	\mathbf{Aug}	11	341	72	21	13.73	24.00	11.94	53.00
	\mathbf{Sep}	11	330	38	12	9.81	17.37	8.69	40.00
	Oct	11	341	16	5	7.51	14.18	7.16	42.00
	Nov	11	330	17	5	10.68	27.88	13.80	65.00
	Dec	11	341	14	4	8.00	16.54	8.45	36.00
	Jan	7	217	21	10	4.41	12.28	6.13	22.61
	Feb	6	183	33	18	2.56	7.48	3.65	13.20
	Mar	6	186	39	21	2.47	4.09	2.07	6.10
	Apr	6	180	86	48	2.67	8.01	3.83	16.76
er g	May	6	186	110	59	3.28	10.93	5.04	28.19
$\mathbf{tb}_{\mathbf{t}}$	Jun	5	174	93	53	3.37	12.84	5.67	29.97
ike	Jul	5	168	113	67	3.12	13.54	5.73	31.10
Ч	\mathbf{Aug}	6	186	79	42	3.00	9.27	4.36	20.57
	\mathbf{Sep}	6	180	37	21	2.09	6.68	3.11	15.24
	Oct	6	214	16	7	2.68	7.84	3.77	14.48
	Nov	6	191	18	9	2.72	9.48	4.36	21.34
	Dec	7	217	13	6	3.77	13.76	6.29	20.70

 Table 5.2: Monthly Analyses of Daily Rainfall Data from Riviera, Kromvlei and Piketberg.

A third data set was analyzed from a station outside the valley beyond the mountain range of the Piketberg Mountains (see Figure 5.3). This data set covers minimum five mostly six complete years. It also reveals a distinct seasonality of the rainfall. Just like in the valley the months April to August show the highest share of days with rainfall. The other months have shares bigger 40% and 50% respectively. The maximum is in July with approximately two thirds of the month with some kind of rainfall event. The mean amount of rain is generally lower than for the other two stations and the variability is more or less equal throughout the year. Even the maxima are lower with the highest amount of rainfall of $31.10 \,\mathrm{mm}$ in July.

The estimated transition phase between dry and rain season is also distinguishable but only due to the percentage of days with a rainfall event. The arithmetic mean values are generally low, so as the weighted mean is. Interestingly December and January show higher mean values (arithmetic and weighted) and higher standard deviations.

When the three stations are aligned they form a transect across the Piketberg Mountains from northwest to southeast. Along this transect the magnitude-frequency-analysis of rainfall was conducted (see Figure 5.3).

Subfigure A shows the station of Riviera. It takes statistically 4.03 days for an event of rainfall to come. But the magnitude of these events is rather low with 0.2 mm. Since the rainfall is not distributed all over the year equally and it occurs mainly in the time of the winter rain the RI values lesser than 365 must be seen as frequency per year. Thus it can be stated that rainfalls with 0.2 mm per day and a RI of 4.03 occur theoretically 90 times a year. The recurrence of rainfall with a magnitude of 10 mm is more than three weeks (24 days) or 15 times a year. A rainfall event with a recurrence interval of one year results in a downpour of 38.10 mm. All but one value fit into the linear model which is given in the Figure 5.3 A. That is the 16th of May event with its 126 mm of rain. It holds a recurrence interval of more than twelve years. Rang two holds 58 mm and is only a six-year-event. The estimation function for that station has positive slope of 19.38 using a logarithm to the base of ten. The intercept is -14.85.

The Kromvlei station is depicted in Subfigure B of Figure 5.3. Statistically it lasts more than a week (7.34 days) until any kind of precipitation is measured at the Kromvlei station. Remarkably that is the only value measured with 0.5 mm of rain, but since the neighboring rang has the value of one and it takes 7.35 days, it can be omitted. In other words an event of 1 mm can be expected almost 50 (49.66) times a year. A ten millimeter rainfall has a recurrence interval of 15.75 meaning that it takes statistically more than two weeks until a rainfall events reaches that amount. In theory such rainfalls can be expected 23 times in a year. Statistically a rainfall event of approximately 60 mm can be estimated once a year (368 days). The highest two rainfall values do not fit properly into the linear model. That is a 110 mm event with a RI of 11.02 years and a 99 mm event with a RI of 5.5 years. All other agree resonable. The generally higher



Figure 5.3: Magnitude-frequency-analyses of rainfall data for the weather stations of Riviera, Kromvlei and Piketberg. Kromvlei data is semiofficial. The transect crosses the Piketberg Mountains. Note the different scaling at A, B and C.

rainfall values of that station result in a high slope of 34.05 with a common logarithm and an intercept of -30.75.

The MFA of the weather station close to Piketberg is shown in Subfigure C. At that station a rainfall of 0.2 mm can be expected every 3.46 days and a ten millimeter rainfall recurs statistically every 39.36 days. That is 0.2 mm 105 times a year and ten millimeter nine times. A fair amount of 20 mm rainfall is likely to happen almost two times (1.92) a year with a RI of 190 days. The highest storm event at that station has an amount of 31.10 mm which represents a RI of more than six year (2283 days). The second highest one recurs every three years (1141 days) with an amount of not even 30 mm (29.97 mm) of rain. Piketberg shows the highest intercept (-7.58) and the moderate slope of 10.85 to the base of ten.

If one compares the three MFA from Figure 5.3 it can be stated that there is a gradient on the one hand in the valley of the Krom Antonies with more rainfall/larger quantities at Kromvlei than at Riviera, with a difference in the values of a specific rainfall event and a strongly differing estimation function of the linear model. On the other hand the two stations in the valley can be well distinguished from the Piketberg station. The rainfall amounts are smaller outside the valley, all the values agree properly (and somewhat better) to the model and the curve is less steep. A Wilcoxon rank sum test at 0.05 significance level indicated that all three data sets differ significantly.

5.1.3. Indices of Aridity

Table 5.3 shows the results of the calculation of I_m and I_e for the Riviera weather station. The Aridity Index after DE MARTONNE indicates a seasonality. The months of September to April hold low and sometimes very low I_m values. Generally the first four months of the year show lower values than the last four months but since this is one contiguous period it is just a manifestation of a prolonged dry season. Remarkable is the circumstance that in between of the two months with the lowest values of I_m in January and March the February is in strong contrast. But nevertheless the whole eight-months period is classified as dry. The months of May to August show I_m values greater 10 and up to 15.62 as the maximum in June. The time of the winter rains is classified as semidry.

The Aridity Index after UNEP is less oversimplified. It shows a much finer distinction of the aridity in the course of the year. I_e values are lowest in January and March (0.02) and December (0.03). Again between the two lowest months there is a higher value in February (0.04). This time that causes the month of February to be classified as arid instead of hyperarid as the other three months. Aridly classified are also April and September to November. February is lowest followed by November (0.05). The maximum value for I_e of the arid months is 0.18 in September.

	de Martonne	Climate	UNEP	Climate
January	0.95	dry	0.02	hyperarid
February	1.8	dry	0.04	arid
March	0.91	dry	0.02	hyperarid
April	4.86	dry	0.16	arid
May	12.76	semidry	0.57	dry subhumid
June	15.62	semidry	0.81	humid
July	13.27	semidry	0.6	dry subhumid
August	12.44	semidry	0.48	semiarid
September	6.07	dry	0.18	arid
October	3.11	dry	0.07	arid
November	2.76	dry	0.05	arid
December	1.41	dry	0.03	hyperarid

Table 5.3: Aridity indices after DE MARTONNE 1926 and UNEP (1992) for Riviera data. Climate classification according to MALIVA & MISSIMER 2012 and BALTAS 2007.

From May to August the values are much higher than the rest of the year. August is the only month with semiarid climate (0.48). May and July have a dry subhumid climate with an I_e of 0.57 and 0.6 respectively. June holds the highest I_e of 0.81 which makes it uniquely classified as humid.

Both indices show a period of less severe aridity in the months of May to August. Furthermore they show a higher value for February with less distinct aridity in the arid season of the year.

5.2. Landuse & Landcover

The USGS landcover classes differ greatly in size. Table 5.4 shows that the Open Water class totals 35.8 ha which is 0.3% of the 119 km^2 (11972.1 ha) catchment. This class contains water reservoirs exclusively and is to be found often in the lower course of streamless small valleys (see Figure 5.4).

In close proximity of open water the class herbaceous wetlands is observed which is like a transition zone to woody wetlands. Both wetland classes are mostly related to the Krom Antonies river and its tributaries. Woody wetlands are closer to the river beds while the other class is like a buffer around the woody zones. Where trees and shrubs are absent from the riverine vegetation the herbaceous vegetation class is dominant along the river course. Herbaceous wetlands and woody wetlands cover 50.6 ha and 162.9 ha of the catchment what equals 0.4% and 1.4% respectively.



Figure 5.4: Map of landuse and landcover classification after USGS (2014).

	USGS Class	Area [ha]	Percentage
Open Water	11	35.8	0.3
Low Intensity Residential	21	54.2	0.5
Barren Rocks & Sediments	31	4439.4	37.1
Evergreen Forest	42	19.3	0.2
Shrubland	51	3822.7	31.9
Orchards & Vineyards	61	315.4	2.6
Grassland	71	141.0	1.2
Pasture	81	794.9	6.6
Fallow	84	2135.9	17.8
Woody Wetlands	91	162.9	1.4
Herbaceous Wetlands	92	50.6	0.4
		11972.1	100.0

Table 5.4:	Landuse	and landcover	classes of	f the Krom	Antonies	$\operatorname{catchment}$	according to	USGS	(2014)
	and the o	corresponding	share in t	the catchm	ent.				

Another minor class is low intensity residual which covers 54.2 ha (0.5 %). This class is located mostly near the river within an agglomeration of reservoirs. Remarkable examples are the settlements of Kromvlei, Moutonshoek and Karookop.

The smallest landcover class is every reen forest with only 19.3 ha (0.2%). This class is not really forested but more groups of trees. For most of this class the form of planting (in rows) and vicinage to settlements indicate that it is not natural vegetation but planted.

The biggest class is barren rocks & sediments. It forms a virtual border of the horseshoe-like catchment either by solid rock or loose sediment. Some of the agricultural fields within the catchment had to be classified as barren too. This class occupies with 4439.4 ha more than one third (37.1%) of the valley.

The second biggest class is shrubland. It is located mostly on the foot slopes of the surrounding mountains or between agriculturally classified areas. A large portion of that class is found at the left bank of the Krom Antonies' lower course. Altogether this class covers 3822.7 ha what is equivalent to 31.9%.

The class fallow comprises every surface which showed obvious agricultural traces like plowing or mulching but no active agricultural use at the time of mapping. This class is mostly found in the central part of the catchment on plane ground. Most of the pivots in the north-western part of the valley were classified as fallow. 17.8% (2135.9 ha) of the valley were fallow.

6.6% of the valley are mapped as pastures. Besides the extensive cow pastures mostly in the center part of the catchment there are some horse breeding ranches – namely Wilgerbosdrif

downstream and near Moutonshoek more upstream. The flood plains of the Krom Antonies were partly used as pasture too but were classified as woody wetlands thus the class pasture should actually cover more than the calculated 794.9 ha.

Another agriculturally used class is orchards & vineyards. this means either plantation of vine or citrus. They are located close to the river or near settlements and occupy 315.4 ha and 2.6 % of the valley. A relatively new plantation is found on the foot slopes in the north-western part of the valley. Hydrologically some parts of the plantation does not belong to the Krom Antonies river catchment.

The last group is grassland which is to be found near the river and/or near the settlement of Moutonshoek. It showed no signs of pasture and shrubs were absent too. With 141 ha (1.2%) it is a relatively small class.

5.3. Soil Erosion & Deposition

5.3.1. Rainfall-Runoff Erosivity

The rainfall-runoff Erosivity (R factor) was estimated using daily rainfall data from Riviera weather station. The results of the R factor and the intermediate step of the MFI for each month are shown in Table 5.5. The course of the values starting in January to December implies



Table 5.5:	for Riviera Station.					
	MFI	R factor				
Jan	0.20	3.41				
Feb	0.18	11.30				
Mar	0.13	2.91				
\mathbf{Apr}	0.87	51.22				
May	5.58	234.63				
Jun	13.78	267.70				
Jul	8.57	194.59				
Aug	9.07	176.73				
\mathbf{Sep}	2.87	56.01				
Oct	0.69	20.72				
Nov	0.64	19.86				
Dec	0.38	6.66				

Figure 5.5: Correlation of monthly MFI and R factor using Spearman's ρ (SPEARMAN 1904).

a seasonality with highest values in the months of May until August. June holds the maximum of 13.78. February and March share the lowest values with 0.18 and 0.13 respectively. The R factor follows the MFI trend. It also shows a strong seasonality with the maximum of 267.70 in June. May to August show generally increased R values greater than 100. The lowest value holds March with 2.91.

MFI (W = 0.7737, p-value = 0.004776) and R (W = 0.7886, p-value = 0.006974) are not normally distributed as a Shapiro-Wilk-Test (SHAPIRO & WILK 1965) revealed. Thus the correlation between MFI and R was calculated with Spearman's ρ which indicates a strong correlation of 0.95.

It is remarkable that the low values agree very well with the linear model in Figure 5.5 but as the values get higher the deviation from the model seems to increase. This trend is not homogenously. While the month of July with a MFI of 8.57 and a R of 194.59 fits very well to the model the May values (MFI: 5.58 and R: 234.63) strongly deviates with a negative slope and the July with the maximum MFI of 13.78 and a R of 267.70 diverges from the model with a positive slope.

5.3.2. Slope Length & Steepness Factor

The map in Figure 5.6a shows the LS factor. It can be seen that slope length and steepness follow the direction of the drain. While in the headwater areas of the mountainous southern part the LS (if present) is spread dispersely all over the upper slopes it narrows and forms stream-like features downslopes. These channels hold exceptionally high values. On the footslopes this process stops rapidly. While the surrounding mountain ranges show extraordinarily high values of the LS factor the valley floor shows enhanced values only in very restricted areas. Near the outlet there are relatively less areas with increased LS while in the southern part these areas are concentrated. The eastern part shows higher concentrations of LS than the western part does. The distribution of the LS values reminds on χ^2 distributed values. This indicates that only a minority of the pixels bears an exceedingly high LS factor while the absolute majority holds reasonable values. The median is at 708 and 25% of the raster cells do not exceed values greater than 2349. Nevertheless the mean value of 80254 ± 1889993 is really high.

5.3.3. Soil Erodibility Factor

The calculated K factor is shown on the map in Figure 5.6b. The values are exceedingly low since they were converted to metric units. The raster cells' mean values is 0.02303 t ha h/ha MJ mm with a standard deviation of 0.0077 t ha h/ha MJ mm. The minimum values of 0.003 t ha h/ha MJ mm are pretty minor. There are only very restricted regions close to the junction of the two major tributaries of the Krom Antonies near Moutonshoek that incorporate such



Figure 5.6: The resulting slope length and slope steepness (LS factor) with m = 1.6 and the soil erodibility (K factor).

values. The southern mountain ridges hold the majority of values lesser than 0.02 while the slopes west of Krom Antonies are mostly below 0.01 t ha h/ha MJ mm. The northern part downstream looks rather patchy. A small portion of the lowest K factor alternates with regions of relatively high values. Thus no general trend occurs in that region. The eastern slopes and mountain ranges are generally of higher K factor. As a result of the spline interpolation there are remaining relicts of points with values that differ strikingly from there surrounding samples. The course of the river has no obvious effect on the K factor.

Product of the Primary Particle Size Fractions

The grain-size distribution of the samples after USDA can be seen in Figure 5.7, the raw data is part of the addendum (Table B1) and the spatial distribution of them is depicted on the overview map in Figure 5.8. The clay fraction is generally small but at least one sample (S004) shows a clay content of more than 18%. The mean clay content is $2.7\pm2.4\%$. It can be seen that those samples that are relatively rich in clay (bigger than 5%) are mostly located near or directly on the footslopes. There are two samples (S004 and S005) that deviate from that pattern. They were collected on a citrus plantation relatively close to the river. Those samples with very low clay content (less than 1%) are mostly in the central part of the valley but not directly in the meadow. The zone between the large more or less plain valley bottom and the surrounding slopes shows moderate clay content between 2% and 5%. Generally the western part of the valley shows a lesser amount of clay than the eastern part.

The silt fraction (less than 5 µm) indicates a large variability. The sample with the least silt content holds 1.7% the most percent of silt is almost 50%. The mean silt in the samples is $14.2 \pm 11\%$ with a median of 10.8%. The silt distribution in the valley is similar to the clay distribution. The slopes hold more silt (except for the western slopes) while the valley bottom does not. Samples collected directly in or very close to the meadow also hold a higher silt content. And again the samples from the citrus plantation have a higher content of fine grained material but they do not hold the maximum. S039 from a slope in the northern part of the valley holds the maximum of 49.2% silt. Samples from the western part show a lesser silt concentration than the eastern part in general.

The fraction of very fine sand (less than $10\,\mu\text{m}$) shows less variability. It holds a minimum of 0.7% and a maximum of 15.5% silt. The mean very fine sand content is $7.7 \pm 3.4\%$ with a median of 8%. The spatial distribution of that grain-size fraction is less distinct. Still the slopes hold the majority that fraction but there are also locations on the valley bottom that hold high portions of it. The highest amount of the very fine sand fraction holds I018 (15.5%) which was collected on a table grape plantation. The lowest concentration (0.7%) of very fine sand was measured for S050 on a footslope. The samples have a mean content of the



Figure 5.7: Variability of the samples. Grain-size classes after USDA (1987).

fine sand fraction (less than $25 \,\mu$ m) of $20.7 \,\%$ with a standard deviation of $6.1 \,\%$. It is also sample S050 which holds the minimum content of that friction with $5.9 \,\%$. The maximum of $42.1 \,\%$ has sample S009 which was sampled on the western side of the Krom Antonies in a heavily vegetated barranco-like valley. Generally there is no obvious spatial distribution pattern of that fraction. The samples that bear the most clay and silt (S024, S039 and I006) in the midand upper slope positions have lesser portions of that fraction. No obvious distinction can be made between the western and eastern side of the valley regarding to the fine sand fraction.



Figure 5.8: Distribution of the sediment samples and its grain-size classes after USDA (2014). Class breaks are rounded to quartile values.

Looking at the medium sand fraction (less than 50 µm) reveals that this is the major grain-size fraction in the catchment. The mean content is 28 ± 10.6 % and the median is 28.7 %. It shows a wide variability since the maximum of 46.9 % is in sample S011 that was collected in the vicinity of the junction of the two main tributaries of the Krom Antonies and the minimum is 5.1 % in sample S004. S004 also had the highest clay content. It clearly can be stated that the western part of the valley holds higher content of the medium sand grain-size fraction. Also the upper part of the valley and the region near the outlet are rich in medium sand. The eastern part holds also high share of that fraction but generally lower than the west. The samples collected on the mid and upper slopes show the least content.

A less clear picture can be drawn for the coarse sand fraction (less than 0.1 mm). It shows the highest variability with a range of 51.8 pp. The mean coarse sand is 21.3 ± 9.8 %. The median value is 19.7%. In this grain-size fraction it is again S004 and S050 that share the minimum and maximum values. The minimum content is 0% and the maximum is 51.8%. This is the first fraction where samples exist that do not have any share of. The spatial distribution is less clearly as the medium sand. There are more high values in the western part than in the east but not all samples in the western part have high contents of the coarse sand fraction. The majority of the samples holds a content of 15% to 30% coarse sand. Interestingly the samples from the mid and upper slopes do not show the least concentration.

The share of very coarse sands (less 2 mm) is generally low in the samples. The mean is $5.4 \pm 4.2\%$ with a median of 4.2%. The maximum share of that fraction holds I014 from a shrubland sample in the eastern part near Kromvlei. The slopes do not show coherently high amounts of coarse sands. Some show high shares up to 15%, others have less than 5% of that fraction. Generally the northern part downstream has a higher share of coarse grained sands. It cannot be stated if the western or the eastern part of the valley holds more coarse content since there is no distinct spatial pattern.

Hydraulic Conductivity

The sediment samples' hydraulic conductivity is depicted in Figure 5.9. Most of the values are rather low with the majority of the values between $0.7 \,\mathrm{cm}\,\mathrm{min}^{-1}$ and $3.1 \,\mathrm{cm}\,\mathrm{min}^{-1}$. It has a mean value of $3.2 \pm 7.5 \,\mathrm{cm}$ min⁻¹ and a median of $1.8 \,\mathrm{cm}\,\mathrm{min}^{-1}$. In Figure 5.9 values bigger than $8 \,\mathrm{cm}\,\mathrm{min}^{-1}$ are not considered while **F** plotting but for statistics. Following BAHRENBERG et al. (1985) values till 59.2 are not an outlier. Thus 62.4 and $85.7 \,\mathrm{cm}\,\mathrm{min}^{-1}$ remained unaccounted for further analyses.



Figure 5.9: Boxplot of the hydraulic conductivity. Four outlying values are not covered by this plot.



estimated in laboratory via TruSpec CHN–S–Analyzer (LECO) and estimated using a regression model (PLSR).

CHN–S–Analyzer in the laboratory and predicted with PLSR (testing

	LECO	Predicted Response
S007	1.040	0.988
S008	0.580	1.029
S009	1.150	1.004
S010	0.771	0.997
$\mathbf{S011}$	0.802	0.991
$\mathbf{S012}$	0.642	0.984
S013	1.240	1.048
$\mathbf{S014}$	1.150	1.049
S020	1.290	1.004
S021	0.635	0.986
$\mathbf{S022}$	1.130	0.978
S023	1.060	0.977
S024	2.250	0.925

Table 5.7: RMS error of the calibration and testing data set from the PTF.

	intercept	\mathbf{L}	\mathbf{a}^*	\mathbf{b}^*
Calibration Data RMSEP	0.2663	0.2641	0.2636	0.2634
Testing Data RMSEP	0.4233	0.4281	0.4323	0.4357

Organic Matter

The laboratory analysis brought an average content of total carbon of 1.3% with a standard deviation of 1.2pp. The samples have a narrow range with a minimum of 0.5 % and a maximum of 6.8% which must be considered an outlier after BAHRENBERG et al. (1985). Thus altogether two samples were excluded. The second highest sample has an organic carbon content of $3.6\,\%$ which is a range of 3.1 pp.

Altogether 33 samples were analyzed. 21 of them were part of the calibration data set. 12 samples were used as a testing data set for the PLSR using the CIE L a* b* color space as derived from the top soil images as the predicting variable and C_{org} from the LECO as response variable.

The model has a very low performance. L has an explained variance of 36.8%, a^{*} has 40.2% and b^{*} has an explained variance of 23%. Thus all components were taken into consideration for further calculation. Even different samples in the testing and calibration data sets brought no reasonable result and the cross-validated estimate of the subsets still differed strongly as the example in Table 5.6 shows. Table 5.7 shows the root mean squared error of the PLSR for the testing and calibration data sets. Some values agree very well such as S007 with 1.04% measured with the LECO and 0.988% estimated with the PLSR and S023 (LECO: 1.07 and PLSR: 0.97) with a deviation of less than 0.1 pp. On the other side there are samples that totally do not agree like S024 which holds a measured C_{org} which is more than the double of the predicted response.

Figure 5.10 shows the very diverging results of the two techniques. The plot does not consider values that exceed the one and a half times of the interquartile range for better presentability. While measured C_{org} is not normally distributed the predicted C_{org} is. It has a tiny standard deviation of 0.04 with a mean of almost 1%. Both medians are identical (0.99%).



(a) Mapped

(b) Spline interpolation

Figure 5.11: The cover management factor (C factor) as a result of reclassification from the RUs attributes (Figure 5.11a) and the spatial interpolation for USPED (Figure 5.11b).

5.3.4. Cover Management Factor

The resulting map from the field mapping shows reasonable coverage of the catchment with RUs (Figure 5.11a). The surrounding mountain ranges show no appreciable canopy and mostly bare sediments or rocks thus they were classified to the highest C factor of 0.45. Much of the agriculturally used part of the valley is also classified to such high C values.

The transition zone from the mountain ranges to the valley bottom indicates slightly reduced C values since the slopes hold more shrubs and bushes. The meadow of the Krom Antonies is also vegetated – in some parts heavily vegetated – with shrubs and woody vegetation so that all of the river course holds C values around 0.3. Only a few units show a very low C of 0.17 which is the minimum raster value. They are restricted to the central and northern parts of the valley except one spot near the settlement of Moutonshoek at the upper course of the Krom Antonies at the foot slopes.

The values of the Cover factor range from 0.17 to 0.45 with a median of 0.4. The mean factor is 0.39. That indicates that most areas in the valley hold a significantly high factor and the distribution is very skewed.

5.3.5. Erosion & Deposition Rates

Figure 5.12 shows the resulting map of the calculation of the USPED model. Statistical indicators might be void in this place because the model tends to extreme values where the flow accumulation exceeds a specific threshold. Nevertheless the mean budget in the catchment is negative with a mean erosion of $0.02 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. The standard deviation of 44268.44 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ is comparatively huge although 50 % (IQR) of the cell values range between -6.03 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 2.48 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The median is -0.24 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The boxplot in Figure 5.12 shows no outliers with a value of 2.5 times the value of the IQR. The maximum value is 4733916 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and the minimum is -4733437 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

It can be seen that the processes of erosion and deposition are highly correlated to the topograpy and the drainage system in particular. The mountainous region in the south shows most of the extreme severe erosional surfaces. Partly it is not only restricted to rill erosion and erosion along a drainage, in the headwater areas it forms extensive areas of denudation. Furthermore a little downstream and in parallel to the erosional surfaces there are also extensive areas of accumulation. The ridges itself hold very low values either of erosion or deposition.

If one compares the western and eastern slopes of the valley there is a distinction to be drawn. It is not only that the western slopes and barranco-like features are of less length they also show less intense erosion. In addition the eastern side is characterized by very closely connected little valleys that show extreme severe erosion rates all across the glacis and pediment. This is most intense in the upslope region of Ou Muur and Karookop and near the southern flanks of the


Figure 5.12: Map of the estimated erosion and deposition in the Krom Antonies catchment. The values were classified after VAN DER KNIJFF et al. 2002 and BORRELLI 2011.

Olifantskop. On the western slopes the linear erosion features end at the river bed of the Krom Antonies. The linear features from the east do not reach the river. They cross the main road of the valley without a significant reduction in intensity and taper off in the valley floor. The northern and central part is characterized by very little morphodynamic. Most of the areas that could not be specified are located in that part of the catchment.

Table 5.8 summarizes the size and portion of each class. It shows that solely 40% of the catchment is determined by depositional processes. Almost 20% of the surfaces show deposition rates bigger than $6 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ which is the most prominent class with more than 2300 ha.

The second highest deposition class (bigger than $1 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and less than $6 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$) still occupies more than 10% of the valley and has a surface of 1244.5 ha. Surfaces with values less than $1 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ deposition cover 1142.9 ha in size which is equivalent to 9.6%.

Remarkably the erosion differs a little bit. Most cells are also in the highest class with a share of 17.7% and a little more than 2100 ha. The second highest

class has also the second highest rank with 10.8% and almost 1300 ha but than the adjacent classes have all a more or less minor share of less than 7% with various parts of the surface. But the class of less than 1 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ has a bigger share again. This class covers approximately 10% of the valley which equals to 1215 ha.

So together more than one third of the valley's surface suffers from either high or extremely high erosion rates of more than $10 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. Together with the deposition rates that makes more than the half of the valley that is influenced by high or very high morphodynamic. In contrast by summing up the two lowest classes it is only about 20 % which is morphologically relatively stable. Finally the unspecified areas which hold 0.8 % cover 92.6 what is the least class.

So in the end approximately 58.5% of the valley are mainly characterized by erosive processes and 40.7% are primarily deposition areas.

 Table 5.8: Area and share of erosion and deposition classes.

	Area [ha]	Share [%]
Erosion		
extreme severe	2108.8	17.7
very severe	1292.0	10.8
severe	515.6	4.3
high	807.1	6.8
moderate	696.4	5.8
low	473.3	4.0
very low	1215.0	10.2
Deposition		
very low	1142.9	9.6
low - moderate	1244.5	10.4
high	2348.8	19.7
unspecified	92.6 0.8	



Figure 5.13: Landuse classes and the resulting USPED values. The boxplots do not cover values that exceed the IQR by one and a half times. Note that the mean value of the class woody wetlands does not fit the scale and for the plotting purpose the landuse class names differ. Absolute values can be found in Table B 3 in the addendum

5.3.6. Landuse, Erosion & Deposition

If one looks at the different landuse classes (see Section 5.2) and their properties according to erosion and deposition it is a mutable picture. The Figure 5.13 shows this relation statistically. The sole values can be found in Table 5.9. There are three to four classes that show a partly tremendous variability. These are the classes herbaceous wetlands, shrublands, barren rock & sediment and to a lesser extent open water.

Herbaceous wetlands show a high variability. It has a mean erosion rate of 1159.24 \pm 5261.89 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and a mean deposition of 907.59 \pm 4854.98 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Both standard deviations are excessively high. This class is ranked as the second highest calculated. Shrublands are also highly variable but do not show extremely high values. They show a mean deposition of 325.20 \pm 1392.93 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and erosion of 237.50 \pm 1125.94 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Barren rocks & sediments and open water do not have such a very high standard deviation in comparison to the other highly variable classes. It is less than 1000 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. They show relatively high values for erosion of 138.32 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 162.27 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ respectively. There is on average more deposition on a barren surface (215.45 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) than on open water surfaces (155.2 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹).

A reasonable variability is shown by the classes orchards & vineyards and fallow. The first shows high values for both. There is $111.82 \pm 589.00 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ deposition and $103.65 \pm$

	Deposition [t $ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$]	$ {\bf Erosion} \left[{ {\bf t} {\bf h} {\bf a}^{-1} {\bf y} {\bf r}^{-1} } \right] \\$
Herbaceous wetlands	907.59 ± 4854.98	1159.24 ± 5261.89
woody wetlands	2334.80 ± 12046.40	2022.47 ± 11570.74
Fallow	84.28 ± 489.95	83.65 ± 559.65
Pasture	47.20 ± 230.45	33.74 ± 171.51
Grassland	64.08 ± 327.64	24.04 ± 124.77
Orchards & Vineyards	111.82 ± 589.00	103.65 ± 554.38
Shrubland	325.20 ± 1392.93	237.50 ± 1125.94
Evergreen Forest	5.60 ± 19.76	7.06 ± 20.35
Barren Rocks & Sediments	215.45 ± 941.36	138.32 ± 759.76
Low Intensity Residential	12.49 ± 44.01	10.68 ± 39.22
Open Water	155.20 ± 746.55	162.27 ± 863.66

 Table 5.9:
 Mean erosion and deposition values including standard deviation for the different landuse and landcover classes.

554.38 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ erosion. Although it has a very large standard deviation it can be stated that the ratio of both processes seems to be stable with a tendency to deposition for the whole class. The same trend applies to fallow landcover but at lesser mean values. The mean erosion is 83.65 ± 559.65 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and the mean deposition reads 84.28 ± 489.95 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Woody wetlands have a moderate variability but the mean values for erosion and deposition are huge. These are the highest calculated values in the whole data set. Deposition has a mean rate of 2334.80 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ with an excessively high standard deviation of 12046.40 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. It is almost the same for erosion. The mean is 2022.47 \pm 11570.74 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Deposition on average is lesser in the pasture class. There is a comparatively moderate erosion rate of 33.74 \pm 171.51 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Deposition is also relatively low with a mean of 47.20 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and a standard deviation of 230.45 t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Grassland tends more to deposition with a mean of $64.08 \pm 327.64 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. The mean erosion is much lesser with $24.04 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and a standard deviation of $124.77 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. In comparison to the following two classes it shows a moderate variability. The two classes low intensity residential and evergreen forest have a narrow range of values. The first has the second lowest value ever with a mean erosion of $10.68 \pm 39.22 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and an average deposition rate of $12.49 \pm 44.01 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. This is still relatively high but in relation to the other classes this is morphologically stable. The latter and in terms of area second smallest class holds a mean of $7.06 \pm 20.35 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ for erosion and $5.60 \pm 19.76 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ for deposition respectively. These are the lowest ever calculated mean values for a class with the used settings for USPED.

6. Discussion

6.1. Climatic Variability

6.1.1. Wet & Dry Spells from 1948 – 2012

Drought periods and oscillations in climate are not only known since direct measurement for South Africa. BALLARD (1986) reports on a period of unusually severe drought and abnormally low rainfalls in eastern and southern Africa in the first three decades of the 19th century. DEAN & MACDONALD (1994) show a decline in stocking rates since the beginning of the last century as a result of loss of productivity. They cannot conclude if this is due to climate change, overexploitation, market forcings or a combination of all.

The 1950s wet spell period agrees with findings of DAI et al. (1998) who state that a shift of El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) activity towards warm phase set in in the 1970s. Before that time ENSO-induced anomalies in ENSO-sensitive areas were less severe. It is likely that this normal and slightly above normal (meaning wetter) phase reflects the ENSO period reported by RICHARD et al. (2000) ranging from 1946 to 1969 with relatively wet "decaying ENSO" phases. There seems to be disagreement and steady progress in science about ENSO and southern African climate and rainfall in particular. REASON & ROUAULT (2002) found "ENSO-like" patterns in seasurface temperatures, but they showed no coherent relationship to the winter rainfall region of South Africa. Wet and dry phases shall be merely related to positive and negative phases of the Antarcic Oscillation (AAO) (REASON & ROUAULT 2005). In 1981 there was found no relation of the winter rain regions' wet and dry spells in South Africa to any oscillation (TYSON 1981), while LINDESAY (1988) found negative correlation between rainfall and Southern Oscillation Index in the winter rain South Africa. The 1950s wet phase does also agree with a global dataset from VAN DER SCHRIER et al. (2013) that indicates wetter conditions in that decade for Southern Africa.

The droughty period ranging from the mid 1960s until 1974 slightly deviates from the findings of TYSON (1984) but the general trend remains identical. He associates this periods with prolonged blocking action in the southwest of the Indian Ocean. That results in above normal rainfall in central South Africa (LINDESAY & JURY 1991), but the western part remains dry. The mid 1970s constant wet spell agrees with results from MIRON & TYSON (1984). This time was characterized by an eastward displacement of the Indian Ocean high so that the tropical easterlies gained more influence which resulted in a remarkable moist period (TYSON 1984). It only agrees partly with DYER & TYSON (1977) who report on a wet phase until the early 1980s. The neighboring Eastern Cape experienced a phase of ongoing drought from the 1940s until the early 1970s. This was superseded by an excessively wet decade in the 1970s (JURY & LEVEY 1993a; JURY & LEVEY 1993b).

The severe drought of 1981 to 1984 (WALKER et al. 1987) is also covered by the SPEI, but to a lesser extent than in other parts of South Africa and it is not as long lasting as proposed by the authors. The 1980s and early 1990s relatively wet period strongly deviates from the rest (MASON & JURY 1997; TYSON et al. 1997; MILTON & DEAN 2000; RICHARD et al. 2001). The 1992 severe drought in the country just shows up as a period of relative dryness in a phase of above normal rainfalls in the research area. Also the above (and below) normal rainy seasons as stated by REASON et al. (2006) do not agree very well. The 1996 proposed wet season (CRIMP & MASON 1999) is covered reasonably – it occurs more like the transition from drought to above normal rainfall –, but the 2001 one can be determined using SPEI on the four used time scales. Additionally the 1998 dry spell after REASON et al. (2006) can not be found on all time scales sufficiently. A negative SPEI on longer time scales around 1995 could be associated with a relative drought and additional decline in wheat production in whole southern Africa (LEICHENKO & O'BRIEN 2002).

An anomalously wet year 2000 with devastating floods in eastern South Africa (KANE 2009) might result in a relatively moist period in the drought phase from 1998 to 2001. If at all these rainfalls can be seen on the shorter time scales in Figure 5.1 – which is unlikely. But it is possible that the heavy rainfalls in southwestern South Africa in August 2002 and in March 2003 (SINGLETON & REASON 2007) influence the SPEI across all time scales. The 3-month time scale shows peak values that indicate wet conditions in 2002 as well as the 6-month SPEI does. The 12- and 24-month SPEI shows also relatively wet conditions in a prolonged dry period. This might be also influenced by the austral winter 2003 as described by KADOMURA (2005). While summer rain areas suffered from severe drought the winter rainfall areas in Western Cape experienced a very dry July followed by an abnormally wet August including heavy rainfalls, storms and serious flooding in wide areas. In contrast it is reported of a drought in Western Cape in 2003 (WMO 2006)¹ which is not covered by the SPEI at all. The relatively wet period from 2007 to 2009 might be the result of increased precipitation in combination with severe flooding of the West Coast municipalities in two successive years (HOLLOWAY et al. 2010). The drought from 2009 to 2011 is covered by the SPEI on various time scales, but it does not appear as severe as reported by HOLLOWAY et al. (2012).

Generally the SPEI values do not fit into a proposed dry period from the late 1970s to recent times across the southern hemisphere as stated by VERDON-KIDD & KIEM (2014). On contrast on larger time scales it shows some ten years long phases of predominant conditions. Very roughly speaking the 1950s and most of the 1980s were wet and mid 1960s to mid 1970s and mid 1990s to mid 2000s were dry. This pattern has no agreement in any publication. KANE (2009)

¹See Figure A 1

associates some biennial and triennial oscillations with ENSO. REASON & ROUAULT (2002) showed a decadal variability of South African rainfall and its connection to ENSO, but this is not explanatory for the unsteady pattern in the late 1970s and early 1980s. MASON & TYSON (1992) showed that the southwestern Cape Province is merely affected by seasurface temperatures in the South Atlantic Ocean and its anomalies during rainfall season. A possible explanation is a sunspot cycle related periodicy. Sunspot cycles largely affect southern hemisphere westerlies with a quasi-decadal variability (THRESHER 2002). VINES (1980) found a 10 – 12 year periodicity in rainfall in South Africa (besides 16 – 20 and 6 – 7 year cycles) which might be explained by sunspots as well.

So finally it can be stated that all types of droughts are inherent part of the climate in the Krom Antonies valley, whereas the exact causes are manifold. At least the climatological and to a lesser extent the hydrological causes are immutable and are a question of good management practice.

6.1.2. Seasonality, Frequency & Variability

The Western Cape province is affected by highly variable rainfall. Predominantly this is winter rainfall, meaning most time of the year is distinguished by scarcity of rain. The Cape largely differs from the rest of South Africa in that point. The Aridity Index after DE MARTONNE (1926) (I_m) and the Aridity Index after UNEP 1992 (I_e) depict that clearly. I_m only shows the existence of a winter rain climate. I_e reveals the pattern of rainfalls.

According to the I_e most of the rainfalls occur from May to July. During that time the aquifers and storage dams need to be filled up for the remaining nine months of the year. MZEZEWA et al. (2010) show that in South African summer rainfall area it is likely to receive less than 50 % of the mean amount of rainfall. GOODESS & JONES (2002) present similar results for Iberian winter rainfall areas. That means these rains are likely to fail or to overshoot the mark with weather extremes occuring in the time of the rainy season as stated by HOLLOWAY et al. (2010). Additionally that implies if the farmers in the Krom Antonies valley would rely on rainfed agriculture solely the growing period would be shorten significantly – mostly because of the temperature induced excessive evaporation. The dry season is dominantly classified as arid and hyperarid. That reduces the length of the growing period to less than 16 % of the given time what is not sufficient for agriculture. Natural potential is barely enough for livestock farming after BOT et al. (2000) since hyperarid areas have no agricultural potential (KOOHAFKAN & STEWART 2008).

The interannual variability of droughts on different time scales (Figure 5.2) showed no conclusive pattern. Maybe the approach of SPEI is not adequate - it is the deviation of standardized variable from the median - to determine seasonal patterns or some other kind of frequencies,

but WU et al. (2007) showed the usage of standardized indices in arid environments and when working with seasonal rainfalls and concluded that when used with caution and calibration such indices are applicable.

There is a slight cumulation of wet periods across the time scales in winter months, but it takes no wonder that there are relatively more wet spells because seasonal rainfalls occur in winter. On 3-month scale there are up to 10% of wet spells in the dry season months. It is most likely that this is affected by the nature of the SPEI. Even light rainfalls within a dry season are indicated by SPEI as a positive deviation from mean. This results in partly very erroneous values when using SPEI's predecessor SPI – especially in mountainous areas (VICENTE-SERRANO & LÓPEZ-MORENO 2005). The only month with no wet spell on a 3-month time scale is September. This can be explained by the preceding rain season and the declining rainfall amounts, so that coming from a high niveau in a month with relatively low niveau SPEI can not detect a wet spell. The relatively low frequencies of wet spells in the dry season can be explained similarily and increased frequencies are interpreted to be the result of interannual variability of the onset of the rain season.

The drought frequencies are similar hard to interpret as the wet spells. They are highly variable and more or less evenly distributed throughout the year. The frequecies of 11% in August and September show impressively that shortcomings of water are possible and likely in the rain season. The peak value of 12% in September on 6-month scale is interpreted to origin from a failing or below normal rain season. 0% in June shows that in May and June the rainfalls set in and that the median does not fall below the preceding 6 months. On longer time scales no clear peaks occur. The very slightly increased frequencies might be a result of seasonality, but it is a sheer speculative statement.

The table of number of rainy days and mean rainfall amounts (Table 5.2) indicates relatively homogeneous mean values of rainfall throughout the year for each station, but the number of rainy days differ significantly. On the one hand in winter the westerlies gain more influence on the atmospherical circulation above Western Cape. On the other hand the similar mean values of rainfall are affected by tremendous evapotranspiration rates during dry season. GASH et al. (1991) showed the vast evaporation values of a Sahelian fallow shortly after the onset of dry season which were close to potential evaporation. The values were still high after several weeks of dry season. Comparable ecosystems in Australia show the remarkable seasonality of transpiration values of forest-like savanna which is up to 90 % of annual transpiration in the dry season (O'GRADY et al. 1999).

The table shows also an inherent difference between the three stations in use. Riviera and Kromvlei are relatively close (approximately 5 km) but the number of rainy days differs significantly. Multiple factors are possible explanations: Kromvlei stores in integer while official Riviera station also covers floating numbers so that also very little rainfall amounts are measured

as well. That means that a relatively big part (varying between 25 and 60%) of the rainfalls in the course of the year occurs as drizzling rain or as nebular moisture – most likely in the morning hours – that somehow precipitates on the measuring instrument at Riviera. Additionally dryland rains are usually temporal erratic but also spatially highly variable (e.g. GOODRICH et al. 1995; LÁZARO et al. 2001; MODARRES & DE PAULO RODRIGUES DA SILVA 2007). Another explanation is that Kromvlei station is not an official ARC station so that the accuracy of the measurement is poor. This is not supported by the fact that Kromvlei is part the Karsten Group (KARSTEN GROUP 2015) – an agricultural company that does business in a dryland where all attention is paid to the scarce resource of water.

Nevertheless Riviera is akin to Kromvlei and both show a clear distinction to the Piketberg station. Considering the westerlies as main source of moisture in that region, the lack of moisture sources in the continental South Africa, the topography of the Great Escarpment and the related katabatic bergwinds (VAN ROOY 1936) and the elevation up to 1500 m a.s.l. of the Piketberg Mountains most likely the majority or at least much of the rainfalls in the Krom Antonies valley are associated with orographic rainfalls while Piketberg is in a topographic and climatic unfavorable position. Piketberg indeed shows a higher share of rainy days, but it also shows much lesser rainfall amounts (arithmetic and weighted). This station's values are also stored in floating point number, thus it is most likely that most of the rainfall events are rather small events.

That relation is also supported by the magnitude-frequency-analyses (Figure 5.3). Riviera and Kromvlei indicate similar recurrence intervals whereas Piketberg strongly deviates. The time series for that station is much shorter than for the two in the Krom Antonies valley, but according to AHNERT (1982) five years of data should be sufficient. Additionally the log-linear relationship of the rainfall events and the line of best fit agree very well. So Piketberg seems to belong to a different hydrologic and climatic "regime" respectively.

It is problematic that Kromvlei and Riviera show completely different intercepts and slope values. In the Kromvlei plot all rainfall events still follow the log-linear relationship. A small deviation like the two highest values are slightly overestimated by that function, but they still fit into a range of probability (AHNERT 1982). BERGKAMP et al. (1999) show for different climates in Spain that even largely varying rainfall amounts still follow this relation. Both for Riviera the highest rainfall event strongly deviates. For Kromvlei and Riviera the peak values belong to the same event in May 2006. That event is not covered by the Piketberg station, because the period of measurement sets in in October 2007. The difference from Riviera to Kromvlei is 16 mm (126 mm and 110 mm), which is unlikely to be explained orographically since there is only a difference in altitude of about 20 m between the stations. Maybe it is related to operational failure in one or both of the stations – which is unlikely. Another cause could be the spatially

highly variable rainfall as described by SEUFFERT (2002). This is supported by the second highest Kromvlei value of 98 mm what has no counterpart at Riviera.

6.1.3. Critique

Critique on the Datasets

The Riviera dataset is from official ARC station, nevertheless it lacks a lot of daily measurements and partly it does not cover several month. ARC did not deliver any data about (their) data handling and instrumentation, so that the data has been processed "as is". Some systematic errors must be considered:

- a systematic wind field deformation above the gauge orifice (own experience),
- most likely high evaporation loss in the collector and
- random error in the values.

Points one and two can not be verified, but obviously faulty values (like -15 °C) have been modified by hand or have been erased from the dataset (e.g. months with no valid entries). Additionally the used data sets are deviating from climatic normal (1961 – 1990).

The Global Historical Climatology Network version 2 (GHCN) (PETERSON & VOSE 1997) and the Climate Anomaly Monitoring System (CAMS) (ROPELEWSKI et al. 1984) are compiled together to form the gauge-based precipitation data set NCEP (CHEN et al. 2002). XIE et al. (1996) mention that the CAMS suffers from several limitations in sparsely populated areas. On the one hand such areas usually do not have a dense network of gauging stations and on the other hand the precipitation there is mostly highly variable. In this context the drawbacks of CAMS have already been mentioned in 1986 as insufficient homogeneity (partly no common base period) and critical spatial interpolation (JANOWIAK et al. 1986). Furthermore gridding tends to averaging data (SUN et al. 2006). An overview of possible errors during the creation of a global dataset from multiple sources is given by LAWRIMORE et al. (2011).

A general problem is depicted in Figure 6.1. The evapotranspiration and precipitation values for the overlapping approximately eleven years are plotted on another. The actual evapotranspiration (AET) rates were obtained too just to check on the agreement with the data from Riviera. The rainfall values agree reasonable, but AET rates deviate up to 95 %.

Deviations in the precipitation values might be explained with partly lacking data at Riviera. An almost four months lasting period of no measurements is indicated by the grey vertical bar. Other, shorter periods were not highlighted because they do not span more than a complete month. Presumably other periods of 100 % deviation between the datasets can be explained with the lack on one side. Another approach to explain it, is the averaging trend of gridded rainfall data (SuN et al. 2006). Spatially highly variable rainfalls are overestimated for single point measurements like Riviera. Additionally spatial interpolation techniques largely affect the



Figure 6.1: Comparison of evapotranspiration and precipitation from NCEP and Riviera station.

magnitude of extreme values – especially in regions where measurements are scarce (HAYLOCK et al. 2008). SEUFFERT (2002) reports on the comparison of radar estimated and measured rainfall data and concludes that they are barely comparable. Additionally the topography must be considered when drawing conclusions about the deviations. The NCEP values are derived from a $0.5^{\circ} \times 0.5^{\circ}$ grid. At the longitude of the study area that is almost 50 km × 50 km, which covers several mountain ranges of the Piketberg Mountains. So rainfalls of a totally differing climatic regime like stated for the climate station of Piketberg are possibly contributing to such a grid cell. That agrees fine with AUSTIN (1987) who states that most deviations from the best fitting relation can be described in terms of physical factors.

To interpret the deviation between the evaporation data bears some problems. Since the NCEP data is not documented properly a little confusion occured if evaporation data is stated in inch. But NCEP agrees with the guidelines of WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION thus all units are SI units and evaporation is given in millimeter (WMO 2008). And even if NCEP values are converted with a factor of 2.54 (from inch to millimeter) the values are disputable. Some method inherent error is the averaging effect of the Piketberg Mountains on the gridded data

because PET and AET mostly decrease with elevation (BEAN et al. 1994). LIUZZO et al. (2014) show the impact of wind speed and temperature on evapotranspiration in the Mediterranean. There is no final and sufficient explanation why the values from Riviera and NCEP deviate that much.

The potential evapotranspiration was derived from NCEP temperature data using the approach of THORNTHWAITE (1948). Since no sufficient data for radiation, soil moisture, vegetation cover, wind speed, etc. are obtainable for the respective time this simple approach was the only possible one. Thus the radiation – the more important part of calculating evapotranspiration – was neglected (CHANG 1959). Nevertheless Thornthwaite's formula shows reasonable results, even if it tends to underestimation (LU et al. 2005).

Critique on the Methods

Several studies showed that SPEI detects droughts sufficiently and that PET is a factor that can not be neglected when working in Mediterranean environments (LORENZO-LACRUZ et al. 2010; LOPEZ-BUSTINS et al. 2013). WOLF (2012) found SPEI preferable to other indices as a proxy for streamflow in the western United States. PAULO et al. (2012) found SPEI less reliable than PDSI whereas VICENTE-SERRANO et al. (2010a) found SPEI superior, because it detected more droughts than SPI and sc-PDSI.

VICENTE-SERRANO & LÓPEZ-MORENO (2005) found for a Mediterranean mountain basin a lack of correlation of hydrological responses and SPI values on scales greater than twelve months. Since SPEI is a standardized index too, this might be considered when working in mountainous areas with drought indices. Additionally NEW et al. (2006) showed that there are no consistent and statistically significant trends for small scale rainfall patterns in western and southern Africa which in return means that precipitation and potential evapotranspiration alone might be not completely sufficient in order to determine hydrological and meteorological droughts in that area. That agrees with WU et al. (2007) who mention that the statistical product of input data is not necessarily related to the physical functioning of the Earth system.

The MFA is not really a standard procedure when working with rainfall data, but several studies showed its usefulness in various climate regimes (e.g. AYOADE 1976; HERSHFIELD 1981). Figure 5.3 shows a linear function of rainfall and recurrence interval. KRAUSE (2013) mentioned in his work that linear relations between rainfall amount and recurrence interval indicate BWh climates after KÖPPEN (1923) in Northern Africa. Since the Riviera data indicate a Csb climate it can be stated that a linear function is valid for C climates after KÖPPEN too.

6.2. Landuse & Landcover

The applied landcover classification was originally established for the derivation of remotely sensed data only. Hence the classes are rather coarse and they possibly do not agree totally with the specific environment because they were established to fit the needs of the continental United States (HOMER et al. 2007). The color pattern differs from the suggested original (USGS 2014) since the majority of the classes would result in an overall yellowish-brownish occurence of the landuse map. A selection of exemplary photographs for each class can be found in the addendum in Figure A 2.

In the Krom Antonies valley the landcover classes related to water or dependent from the presence of water are underrepresented. Open water, woody wetlands and herbaceaous wetlands together occupy 2.1% of the valley. Woody wetlands can be interpreted as natural gallery forest since this class is almost solely related to the course of the river and its meadows. Nevertheless along the stream lots of alien trees took up residence, what is of huge environmental relevance since their consumption of water is not adapted to drylands and they cause massive loss of water which means economic loss as well (e.g. LE MAITRE et al. 2000; LE MAITRE et al. 2002; RICHARDSON & VAN WILGEN 2004). Most of the herbaceous wetland surfaces are of anthropogenic origin. There is a minority that is interpreted as natural – especially in the vicinity of the headwater areas – but the majority is enclosing the artificial ponds and reservoirs. Except for the Krom Antonies river and its seasonal and episodic tributaries there would be no waterbodies in the catchment.

Lakes and ponds are widely absent in that area and South Africa altogether shows only 0.55 % (DEAT 2006) or 0.38 % (FAIRBANKS et al. 2000) of them. Mostly they are beyond the Great Escarpment or at the eastern coast (DEAT 2006). The relatively high share of 0.53 % for Western Cape after FAIRBANKS et al. (2000) results from the vleis which have a huge impact on the zonal statistics. For the time series from 1986 to 2007 STUCKENBERG (2012) showed in the neighboring Berg river catchment that waterbodies in that area are exclusively anthropogenic and their spatial variation is dramatically seasonal. This anthropogenic impact is not necessarily negative because small dams surely reduce river discharge rates but they have a positive impact on the water quality as well (MANTEL et al. 2010). Moreover farm ponds function as a biodiversity hot spot on a small scale because of the waterbird assemblages (FRONEMAN et al. 2001; GILIOMEE 2006).

Forests are not very common in the research area. They just hold 0.2 % and can be neglected. The natural vegetation is a forest-grassland mosaic which has nothing to do with the nowadays sporadically planted forests (GELDENHUYS 1994). Most of the grassland class most likely can be neglected too. The planes have been interpreted like that because of the lacking traces of pasture like manure, hoofprints, watering places, etc.. Additionally they were partly located in

atypical locations – on the footslopes – and the ubiquitous fencing was missing. The plant cover was denser too and less patchy than in the pasture class. Thus it is interpreted as either formerly used as pasture where the natural vegetation has not yet succeeded or as very infrequently used pasture. Especially the grassland areas near the Krom Antonies or in its meadow are surely now and then used as pasture.

The location of as pastures classified areas is interpreted as the result of a maximizing effect. It is located in plane to gently sloping areas so it is accessible for the cattle. The distance to the stream is relatively long, because cattle need less water than agriculture. Vast areas of pasture are located downstream where generally less water is available either due to evapotranspiration losses or due to abstraction. These mapping results agree with the generally occurrences of pastures in areas unfavorable for agriculture (SNYMAN 1998; SNYMAN 1999). Very large areas of pasture are located outside the hydrological catchment but inside the boundaries of the Water User Association. The cumulation of pastures in the vicinity of Moutonshoek which is actually a favored place for agriculture results from the horse breeding and its related farmstead.

The low intensity residual class occupies only 0.5% of the catchment. Most of it is either Kromvlei or Moutonshoek – each located close to one of the main tributaries of the Krom Antonies. All settlements are either located in the vicinity of the stream or on the footslope of the mountain chains. Thus their location is directly coupled to the all-season availability of water. On a larger scale FERREIRA et al. (2007) indicate that water is one of the fundamental restrictions of settlements in the Western Cape.

The catchment is located on the edge of classical wine regions (BARGMANN 2003) and in a classical potato farming area (ARCHER et al. 2009). Hence the 2.6% of vineyards & orchards class – which only covers plantations of grapes and citrus – is considerably small but of highest economical importance. CONRADIE et al. (2009) showed that the shares of fruits and vegetables and wine in particular increased between 1952 and 2002 significantly in the district of Piketberg². The high share (17.8%) of fallow land is surely influenced by the time of the mapping. In January potatoes and several cereals are off season. So for instance various fallow pivots can be distinguished easily in the landcover map (Figure 5.4). This class can be found mainly to the east of the Krom Antonies in the center of the valley surely because of the greater distance from the footslopes to the stream and its low agricultural potential. Moreover presumably several RUs were misinterpreted and they are originally pasture – either infrequently used or remains of a former usage as pasture. On both sides in the middle course of the stream a lot of agriculturally used plains have been mapped as fallow. This region shows that there is also a smooth transition from fallow to barren surfaces. Some RUs – especially pivots – were so sparsely covered by litter or vegetation that it was imperative to classify them as barren (see Figure A 2a).

²Piketberg is one of 31 districts in Western Cape.

More than one third of the catchment (37.1%) was classified as barren either rock or sediments. The horseshoe-like valley shape strongly influences the large proportion because the vast majority of that class follows from the bedrock of the surrounding mountains and its talus material. The barren agricultural plains are only of minor importance compared to the rest but they are considered to be temporally highly variable. Additionally it is difficult to distinguish between natural and artificial bare surfaces in that region (STUCKENBERG 2012).

Only a little less than one third (31.9%) was classified as shrubland. The ubiquitous seminatural vegetation is concentrated on the slopes, partly merges with fynbos and is interpreted as botanical succession in formerly or infrequently used agricultural plains in some areas or in between several landcover classes. This class also is likely to be misinterpreted because in some areas low shrubs could hardly be distinguished from some pasture that had grown out of control. Shrubs from the talus cones can be differentiated from the shrubs in the plains. On the cones it appeared more patchy and more diverse. In the plains the shrubs seemed less diverse, with as remains of agriculture interpreted plants³ and a generally lower growth.

Altogether 86 % of the valley are either barren, fallow or covered with shrubs whereas approximately 3 % are used intensively for agricultural purposes. That means the water storage dams and the plantations together cover some $3.5 \,\mathrm{km^2}$ of a $119.7 \,\mathrm{km^2}$ catchment. This numbers game excludes extensive farming and neglects the practiced 3-years crop rotation (DAFF 2013), but it emphasizes the extraordinary favorable structure of the catchment. There is a large contributing area that favors a small agricultural heavily used part of the valley. Surely this statement looses weight if one considers

- the large amount of groundwater that is pumped from several aquifers,
- the crops that are grown there and their water consumption (HOEKSTRA & HUNG 2002)
- and the tremendous loss of water that follows from the 35.8 ha of water storage dams and the excessive evaporation rates in austral summer (JOVANOVIC et al. 2011).

According to HOEKSTRA & HUNG (2002) potatoes consume $4680 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha}$, grapes $9030 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha}$ and water melons $5750 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha}$ per growing period in South Africa. The water to irrigate these crops comes either from the limited rainfalls or from aquifers that are

- not completely understood (CONRAD et al. 2005),
- already stressed and partly damaged (CAPE NATURE et al. 2006),
- will be stressed more against the background of increasing temperatures, decreasing rainfalls (GREENE et al. 2012) and increasing rainfall anomalies (ARCHER et al. 2009) and
- managed in a rigid and mostly insufficient way (SEWARD et al. 2006).

To address this issues a new management plan is being established (WCDA 2012).

³One of such are water melons that are used as food for the cattle.

6.3. Soil Erosion & Deposition

6.3.1. Partial Results

Rainfall Erosivity (R)

There are plenty of ways to calculate the R factor (DA SILVA 2004), but in this study it was derived from the Modified Fournier Index (MFI) which is according to FERRO et al. (1999) presumably the best way if the excessive basis data is not accessible and when working in Mediterranean areas with distinct seasonal rains. That totally agrees with SMITHEN & SCHULZE (1982) who found best correlation for MFI to derive R in Western Cape. There is also the way to obtain rainfall erosivity from spaceborne radar data, what has not been tested in the study area, lacks calibration and validation data and shows partially poor results in other African study areas (VRIELING et al. 2010).

There are huge fluctuations in terms of daily precipitation amounts (Figure 6.2) throughout all seasons with highest peaks in the winter months. This variability is typical for a Mediterranean rainfall regime. That is supposed to be accelerated by climate change thus rainfall-runoff erosivity is likely to increase too (MUNKA et al. 2008; DE LUIS et al. 2010; BONILLA & VIDAL 2011). Several restrictions arise from the input data. In all likelihood the annual trend of rainfall-runoff erosivity is correct, but the Riviera data has so much gaps that the values presumably are not 100% correct. Additional the single point measurement in the valley neglects the



Figure 6.2: (R factor throughout the year for Riviera weather station. Note the points considered outliers exceed the limits of one and a half times the IQR.

topography and its influence on spatial pattern of rainfall intensity (BACCHI & KOTTEGODA 1995; PEÑARROCHA et al. 2002).

The mean annual value of 87 MJ mm $h^{-1} ha^{-1}$ was used, despite the distinct seasonality of rainfalls which of course has a striking effect on the R factor (see Table 5.5). Following a classification of ODURO-AFRIYIE (1996) the four month of the rain season has extremely severe indices (greater than 100 MJ mm $h^{-1} ha^{-1}$), the two transition months April and September have moderate indices (40 MJ mm $h^{-1} ha^{-1} - 60 mm h^{-1} ha^{-1}$), while the rest of the year is considered low (less than 40 MJ mm $h^{-1} ha^{-1}$). So the erosive rainfalls occur in winter only and it is likely that this pattern is levelled out by the scaling effect (FRAEDRICH & LARNDER 1993).

Slope Length & Slope Steepness (LS)

The DEM was derived from contour lines using RST which is the most suitable technique for spatial interpolation since it has least RMS errors (HOFIERKA et al. 2002b). Nevertheless RST suffers from several limitations too, like

- segments and harsh segment breaks,
- overshooting,
- presence of non-realistic artificial surface features, and
- incorrect representation of artificial features (CEBECAUER et al. 2002).

It is suggested to add supplementary geodata to avoid over- and undersampling (GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM et al. 2014b), but in the case of the Krom Antonies valley no additional data was available. Hence the representation of the flat areas is considered to have a higher error.

Calculating LS is discussed in a complex way with various emphases. There are plenty of ways to calculate LS (e.g. FLACKE et al. 1990; ZHANG et al. 2013). Mostly the restricted approach of original USLE to estimate LS based on standard plot sizes is replaced by using the upslope contributing area (A) so that one-dimensional hillslope representation turns two-dimensional in a raster GIS (FERNANDEZ et al. 2003). Using A has the advantage to incorporate the slope angle and terrain shape via derivates of the DEM as well as the water flow convergence and divergence (MITASOVA et al. 1995). So not only rill and interrill erosion is accounted, but also ephemeral gully erosion when it results from flow convergence (VAN ROMPAEY et al. 2001). And generally several studies have proven that using the upslope area results in better (e.g. HICKEY 2000; GARCIA RODRIGUEZ & GIMENEZ SUAREZ 2012) or at least comparable surface representation (VAN REMORTEL et al. 2001). The upslope area was calculated using a single flow direction (SFD) algorithm. Despite it lacks a little in precision the pathways – especially those of ephemeral gullies – have a better representation when using a SFD (DESMET & GOVERS)



Figure 6.3: The left map shows erosion and deposition classes of USPED with LS factor m = 1.2 while the right segment of the map depicts the same model with m = 1.0 in the LS factor. In the study at hand the default m = 1.6 was used.

1996). Nonetheless the overall drawbacks of SFD are still valid and for hydrological purposes a multiple flow direction surely performs better.

The variables m and n determine the relation of rill to interrill erosion and they appear the most influencing factors when calculating LS. LIU et al. (2001) concluded that this relationship is likely to work on the base of theoretical approximation, but mostly it fails in complex topography. Per default m = 1.6 and n = 1.3 for prevailing rill erosion, but sometimes the outcome of cautious calibration is a range from 1 to 1.6 for m (MITASOVA & MITAS 2001). WARREN et al. (2004) showed the striking influence of spatial scale and slope computation on the accuracy when calculating erosion rates in southern Germany. Several authors avoid statements what factors they used for m and n (e.g. PISTOCCHI et al. 2002; SAAVEDRA & MANNAERTS 2005; LIU et al. 2007; DAMIAN et al. 2014) To point up the striking influence of m Figure 6.3 shows the results of USPED with different factors for m.

The distribution of high LS (Figure 5.6a) values in the headwater areas is coherent. The excessive LS values in such valleys and streams are way too high for later erosion and deposition estimation, but they indicate concentrated water flow (MITASOVA et al. 1999; MITASOVA et al. 2001) which is not unusual in drylands (ALEXANDROV et al. 2003).

Soil Erodibility Subfactors

Because the calculation of soil erodibility is such a data (and time) demanding procedure several factors, techniques and partial results must be considered:

Laser Diffractometry Restrictions arise from the laser diffractometry (LD) itself: According to KONERT & VANDENBERGHE (1997) fractions greater than 63 µm tend to be overestimated because of the non-spherical shape of natural sand grains, while LOIZEAU et al. (1994) report nothing from the sand fractions but find an underestimation of the clay content. This agrees with the findings of BUURMAN et al. (2001) who discuss the platy structure of clays (less than 5μ m) as the main problem. KECK & MÜLLER (2008) showed the improvements of LD to overcome these shortcomings, but also point out the necessity of validation and calibration instead of blind obedience to the output data. Despite the improvements LD has experienced over the last 20 years still doubts occur. KELLY & ETZLER (2013) name five major pitfalls that can not be allayed completely.

One of such is the inability to validate the distribution calculations which can bypassed by processing raw data like in the study at hand. The other shortcomings of LD may be the case for the processed samples, but the clay content was interpreted from field survey as generally low to nonexistent. According to KECK & MÜLLER (2008) only the submicron particle measurements are extremely sensitive to faulty instrumentation. That is a grain-size fraction mostly not met in the Krom Antonies.

Spatial Distribution of Grain-Size Fractions The overall distribution of the respective grain-size fractions goes along with a geomorphological interpretation. The generally low to very low clay fraction is found mainly on the (foot)slopes and to a lesser extent on agricultural fields. On the slopes this is interpreted as a weathering product, on the fields it might be seen as a sparse sign of pedogenesis. This interpretation is underlined by the fact that the highest clay content was found on a citrus plantation with a lot of time, some litter and good water availability. At first an increased organic carbon content was thought to be the cause, but the particular sample (S004) only shows 1.8% according to the LECO.

The silt fraction is comparable big but it follows the same principles. It clearly can be seen in Figure 5.7 that the eastern slopes, the basin near the junction of the two major streams and the meadow show a higher share of silts. That might be due to the deposition in the alluvial sediments but it is also related to the geological setup. According to the geological map (Figure 2.2) the easterly mountains are some magnitudes older because they are of Malmesbury origin. In turn that means the rocks of the eastern mountain ranges in the Krom Antonies valley have been eroded for longer time what results in a higher content of fine grained material. This agrees with the findings in the region from several authors (DEMLIE et al. 2011; EZE & MEADOWS 2014). That also explains the higher share of medium and coarse sand on the western side of the stream. It is younger, less weathered and not facing such intensive morphodynamics.

Hydraulic Conductivity The hydraulic conductivity was calculated using the Kozeny-Carman formula (KOZENY 1927; CARMAN 1937; CARMAN 1956) because the traditional approach after HAZEN (1892) is limited to very homogeneous sands which does not cover the requirements of natural sediments (CARRIER 2003).

Except for two outlying data points the values look reasonable. MARTIN & MOODY (2001) found similar hourly rates in New Mexico and Colorado in post fire forests. DUNKERLEY (2002) found infiltration rates for Australian forest savanna that are heavily reduced in comparison to the ones used in this study. The high impermeability is related to the specific vegetation. Another strong influence on the infiltration rates is the stone cover either in topsoil or underground (CERDÀ 2001). BRAKENSIEK & RAWLS (1994) showed that removal of rock fragments reduces infiltration rates by half.

Despite the large variability of values when applying the classification in order to obtain the permeability code after RÖMKENS et al. (1997) all 76 samples fall into the same class. This was not the expected outcome but from field observation and interpretation it can be agreed that all samples have a rapid infiltration – even when they are highly variable. Especially at the slope where a higher content of silts were determined the effect of the silt was presumably foiled by the increased stone content and chasms in the parent rock material.

Organic Matter Most PTF heading for organic carbon (besides several minerals or nutrients) are not restricted to the visual spectrum of light. VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. (2006b) give an excessive overview on spectral issues and the assessment of soil properties. WALVOORT & MCBRATNEY (2001) used the spectral range from 250 nm - 2450 nm (UV-VNIR-SWIR) to detect carbon in soils. They also applied a PLSR using six factors and they report of the marvelous RMS error of 0.06, while others only got $R^2 = 0.76$ in the same spectrum (ISLAM et al. 2003). A Partial Least Square Regression with leaving-one-outlier-out performs better than comparable statistical methods after MUÑOZ & KRAVCHENKO (2011).

Without explaining their technique in particular DANIEL et al. (2003) report on $R^2 = 0.86$ when estimating organic matter with the V/NIR spectrum. SHEPHERD & WALSH (2002) show a successful PTF using portable spectrometer measurements from 400 nm to 2500 nm to estimate organic carbon with a range of R^2 from 0.55 to 0.81 for several African soils.

Some other studies used spaceborne data to derive information on soil organic carbon. HILL & SCHÜTT (2000) successfully used Landsat 5 images to detect soil organic matter in Spain that was calibrated via field and laboratory spectrometry data in the range from 350 nm - 2500 nm. GOMEZ et al. (2008) compared field data with estimations drawn from Hyperion EO-1 data and

found strongly deviating results for Australian soils. They blame either the insufficient signal to noise ratio of the satellite or the spatial resolution of 30 m for their unsatisfactory results.

It can be stated that almost all studies dealing with kinds of carbon and/or organic matter used different spectra. Mostly they especially do not cover the visible range and focus on the NIR and SWIR (VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. 2006b). The used photographs to derive soil color naturally roughly represent the range from 400 nm to 700 nm (VIS) what seems to be not sufficient to derive soil properties. There are various explanations.

λ [nm]	Abbr.		Name
< 400	UV		Ultraviolet
400 - 700	VIS	V/NID	Visible
700 - 1400	NIR	v/mn	Near Infrared
1400 - 3000	SWIR		Short wavelength Infrared

It can be stated that almost all studies dealing with kinds of earbon and (or organic D'AMICO et al. 2009.

VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. (2006a) compare soil color properties of dry and wet soils and conclude that results are less faulty when wetting the samples. That statement later found agreement when VISCARRA ROSSEL et al. (2008) established a PTF for wet soils. Additionally they used standard laboratory conditions like diffuse light sources, steady lighting conditions, etc.. That is something the study at hand was definitely not able to apply. The lighting intensity could be levelled out by using the relative reflectance and the standard soil color chart, but the sunlight was direct at varying angles through the day and the soils were dust-dry. Furthermore the RGB-sampling could be erroneous due to remaining litter or mulch remains, but the pixel coordinates were chosen carefully by visual control and possible outliers in the sampling should be eliminated by multiple samples in the surroundings and averaging of these samples.

Additional explanations are interactions due to masking effects and spectral overlaps in V/NIR so that the establishment of a PTF is highly dependent on the specific sample and general assumptions get void in part (VOHLAND et al. 2011). So calibration is a necessity, but as CHANG et al. (2001) show several calibration techniques can have massive effects on the predicted responses. Another possible approach to explain the failing relationship of soil organic carbon and surface reflectance is the colinearity problem reported by SUMMERS et al. (2011). There are so much variables likely to influence a spectrometer that even under laboratory conditions using a high-resolution spectrometer the prediction of soil organic carbon was weakest among other variables. This could be also related to a shifting absorption feature from longer to shorter wavelengths as a result of soil typical impurities as reported by BEN-DOR et al. (1999).

Soil Erodibility (K)

For the KwaZulu Natal (eastern part of South Africa) a study of erosion factors (LENTSOANE 2006) found surprisingly low K-values for either communal rangeland and dryland maize

production. All the calculations were done plot based so it is a rather coarse estimation, but nonetheless the maximum value of 0.043 t ha h/ha MJ mm and the minimum of 0.016 t ha h/ha MJ mm is very low too,⁴ especially if one considers the reverse soil permeability classes LENTSOANE (2006) states. HARTMANN et al. (1989) compared the nomograph technique with algebraic estimation of K for a time-series of several South African testing sites. They found values within a range of 0.0013 t ha h/ha MJ mm and 0.0754 t ha h/ha MJ mm.⁵ BREETZKE et al. (2013) found only values lesser than 0.02 t ha h/ha MJ mm on various landuse classes. The occasionally occurring deviation of the algebraic equation and the nomograph is at least worrisome and must be taken into account when interpreting the results. PLATFORD (1982) also worked on testing sites with several rainfall simulators and also found discrepancy between the nomograph and the equation.

So there are several shortcomings in this study that likely influence the estimation of the soil erodibility factor. It does not necessarily mean the values are wrong but nonetheless it must be act with caution when working with the results because:

- The K factor is highly sensitive to the percent organic matter (LARSEN & MACDONALD 2007) what presumably is not estimated sufficiently since the PTF somehow failed.
- TORRI et al. (1997) showed that organic matter and the clay fraction not necessarily yield a significant relationship to explain K using a regression. K was estimated on testing plots and thus could be verified easily.
- The hydraulic conductivity was derived from grain-sizes and not measured directly. It neglects knowledge about thickness of the sediment cover and does not comprise soil moisture and possible aggregates even though aggregates are unlikely in the Sandveld.

Cover Management Factor (C)

The estimation of the cover management factor is a challenging issue. Actually it is a series of subfactors that is expressed as the deviation from a clean-tilled continuous-fallow. Ergo the higher the values the more protected is a surface by vegetation (YODER et al. 1997). In the study at hand it is simplified to a reclassification of mapped values of vegetation cover and vegetation type per RU to fit the needs of USLE. This was done via a decision tree that originally was established for permanent pasture, range and idle land, which assumes that vegetation and mulch are distributed randomly across the area (WISCHMEIER & SMITH 1978). That agrees well with the most time patchy vegetation in the research area and the dominant landuse. It would have been possible to estimate C values remotely. For example LU et al. (2001) successful derived it from the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) using AVHRR satellite

 $^{^4}$ Originally it was processed in imperial units. Thus the maximum is 0.31 t ac h/hundreds ac ft tonf in and the minimum is 0.12 t ac h/hundreds ac ft tonf in.

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In imperial units 0.01 t ac h/hundreds ac ft tonf in and 0.55 t ac h/hundreds ac ft tonf in.

data. SCHÖNBRODT et al. (2010) were successful with a similar technique using Landsat 5 data but suggest to apply to a macroscale only because landuse dynamics are likely to interfere the spectral signals on a microscale. So the mapping results from the RUs were preferred, despite it also suffers several weaknesses. USLE C values are derived from empirical data gathered between the 1930s and 1960s in the United States. Since then cultivation techniques and practices have changed so that the RUSLE procedure might fit better todays management practices. On the contrary USLE database was used to calibrate RUSLE C values (GABRIELS et al. 2003).

The resulting C values are interpreted as generally low and the classification scheme is rather coarse. For example the prominent pivots on the western benches of the Krom Antonies largely differ according to vegetation type (from fallow and pioneer plants to cereals) and vegetation cover classes (100 % - 5 %), but nevertheless they all got the same C factor of 0.45. According to WISCHMEIER & SMITH (1978) that is the maximum value which is at least disputable when 'no appreciable canopy' results in a C factor of 0.45. BREETZKE et al. (2013) compared USLE and SLEMSA (ELWELL 1978) subfactors for eastern South Africa and found distressing differences. The C_{USLE} holds a value of 0.008 for shrubland and thicket, while C_{SLEMSA} is 0.05. In this work a comparable RU holds 0.34. The same applies for managed grasslands: C_{USLE} is 0.008, C_{SLEMSA} is 0.06 and a similar RU holds a C value of 0.26 and 0.17 respectively. The most severe disagreement shows the class temporary commercial dryland.⁶ C_{USLE} is 0.421 and C_{SLEMSA} is 0.06. In this study values of either 0.38 and 0.42 or 0.45 were classified. So the estimated values are closer to USLE values than to the region specific erosion model SLEMSA.

LE ROUX et al. (2008) explicate the problem of the cover factor in Western Cape fynbos. They used a NDVI approach to obtain the C values and concluded that C and their corresponding erosion rates are grossly overestimated. Their conclusion charges the senescent fynbos to cause a NDVI decrease which induces a higher C value. In Eastern Cape values ranging from 0 to 0.87 were detected also by NDVI and for similar landuse (MHANGARA et al. 2011). No information on the reliability of their derived C values was given by SMITH et al. (2000), they just conclude that remote sensing data combined with field observation produces results. They do not report how these results look like.

No final conclusion about C values can be drawn. They seem too low and too high at once.

6.3.2. Soil Erosion & Deposition in the Krom Antonies Catchment

Soil Erosion & Deposition in various Landuse Classes

Open water which means the water storage dams in the Krom Antonies catchment are sediment sinks. FOSTER et al. (2007) show that these sinks are excellent and partly high resolution

⁶"TCD: Large, uniform, mechanised, well-managed field units under temporary crops with lack of major irrigation schemes" (BREETZKE et al. 2013).

geoarchives in the central Karoo. From the field work it can be stated as well that the reservoirs show stratified layers which are likely to be caused either by sedimentation or by evaporation losses of stored water. Since Open Water is a rather small landuse class this finding is of almost no consequences. But nevertheless from this class serious threat can arise too. FOSTER et al. (2014) show the impact on the downstream (fluvial) connectivity and the potential impact from breaching dams when landscapes are altered in Eastern Cape. It was shown for Romanian dams that size correlates negatively with silting rates (RÃDOANE & RÃDOANE 2005). In southern Africa (Zimbabwe) CHIKATI (2007) found an increase of siltation rates the smaller the dams are. On that account it can be concluded that most reservoirs might have a rather high siltation rate since their small scale. On the contrary the erosive rainfall events are rare. Thus no clear trend is obvious. Further research is needed to clarify these relationship.

Both wetland classes fit properly to the geomorphological interpretation. The Herbaceous Wetlands are usually located further upslope so the transport capacity normally is higher there. That is reflected by a huge mean erosion rate of $39.84 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ – the highest rate of all classes. Further down the sedimentation cascade there is the class of Woody Wetlands. The majority of that class is formed by the meadow of the Krom Antonies and its tributaries. It is a tremendous sediment sink. The mean deposition rate in that – spatially speaking – small class is greater than 200 t ha^{-1} yr⁻¹. But this value surely is trigged by some erroneous calculated cells since the variability is reasonable and is showing an altogether positive trend. TOOTH et al. (2009) show for the summer rainfall dominated east of South Africa that river courses can be remarkably stable in that area when certain circumstances are met. This is not likely in the Krom Antonies because there is no proposed (geological) barrier near the outlet and the sandstone – especially from the Malmesbury formations – is highly erodible (ALBHAISI 2012). The classes Low Intensity Residential and Evergreen Forest are either very small in spatial extent or it is barely possible to estimate reasonable values for the USLE subfactors in a heavily disturbed, non-agricultural and heterogenous area like residential. Nevertheless the very small mean erosion rate of $1.75 \text{ t ha}^{-1} \text{ vr}^{-1}$ for the Evergreen Forest landuse class seems to be realistic. SCOTT (2000) found generally low erosion rates under native forests in South Africa. The values for Low Intensity Residential can not be verified because there are no erosion models for residential environments. Additionally it does not make sense to apply agricultural factors on such surfaces. Thus no conclusions will be drawn from this class.

All the barren surfaces are eroding but this class shows a huge variability. Several problems occur:

• Barren rocks are not likely to be eroded by overland flowing water on a morphological short time scale (e.g. one year) and USPED (and (R)USLE) are designed to determine soil and sediment loss respectively. Thus the class name is deceptive.

- Barren rock's planes contribute to the upslope area of the barren sediments further downslope. So the flux of water and energy is higher downslopes because barely no infiltration occured upslope and protective vegetation is mostly absent or very sparse.
- Barren rocks & sediments is more a collective landuse class than a coherent and distinct surface attribute.

Therefore the variability is enormous ranging from steep slopes with vast quantities of rocks or rock fragments to nearly even agricultural fields that seemed abandoned. So the mean surface process is erosion but a high portion of that class is determined by sedimentation. It has to be mentioned that this is the only class where the median obviously deviates from close to zero (Figure 5.13) so erosion must be considered the primary process.

VETTER et al. (2006) report that shrubs can invade rangelands when grass biomass is reduced by grazing. In theory they benefit from locally increased water and nutrition availability respectively. Shrubs can cause further water and nutrition losses for other resources (ALLSOPP 1999), which in turn results in a further depletion of resources by loss of grass cover what perpetuates additional soil loss and bare patches. But most interpretations get void since Shrubland is a collective landuse class too.

Fallow areas are generally eroding surfaces in the study at hand $(13.49 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1})$. This is a little bit surprising because most of the fallows are located in the centerpart of the valley which is geomorphologically interpreted more as a deposition area. One explanation is that the higher K factor on the slopes of the western mountain range affects the spatial query, because a lot of fallow RUs were mapped there. In return that means that the western slopes are more erodible. The overall trend of the Pasture class is a slight trend of deposition with very little variability. The mean trend of deposition agrees well with the geomorphological interpretation. Because most pastures are located at the valley bottom and in the lower course of the river this is a classical area for sedimentation. This agrees reasonable with a study from Australia. The mid-catchment is described as a zone of throughput or transfer. The sediment storage there is low, the transport capacity is moderate to high (FRYIRS & BRIERLEY 2001). KAKEMBO & ROWNTREE (2003) report on considerably little erosion on grazing lands in the Eastern Cape. MILTON et al. (1994) describe the degradation of rangeland in five steps. According to the description of the symptoms most pastures show step number 2 to 4 which is inter alia,

- plant and animal losses, reduced secondary productivity,
- perennial biomass reduced (short-lived plants and instability increase),
- bare ground, erosion, aridification.

Especially reduced biomass was mapped frequently, but there is still the possibility that the time of the mapping was unfavorable, since it was dry season. Nevertheless the vegetation was rather patchy or absent and under the current climatological conditions a dramatic shift in the vegetation cover is rather unexpected.

Generally orchards & vineyards is a small landuse class. But it clearly shows a trend towards deposition with $6.61 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. That is interpreted to be the likely result of the topography and its factor LS on the footslopes, since it is usually reported that monocropping increases erosion rates and degradation of soil structure (e.g. PAGLIAI et al. 2004; LAL et al. 2004; CHEN et al. 2009). SCOTT et al. (1998) show that the replacement of natural fynbos communities by man-made plantation increases erosion rates markedly. This is dramatically intensified when wildfires come into play. Then water repellency in the soils is increased which causes higher frequencies and higher magnitude of overland flows. The suspended sediments amongst others hold pesticides. Such input occurs frequently in the region at least once per season (SCHULZ 2001). So it is likely that despite small in size the impact in one or another way is large.

Grassland is a primarily depositional class. This class does not suit a comparison to common landuse classes in the region. The term grassland in this study deviates from the grassland biome which in prominent in the east of South Africa (O'CONNOR & KUYLER 2009) and comprises most of the veld-type biomes. So no reasonable conclusion can be drawn. But the mean value of $18.19 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ of deposition makes sense because most of the small landuse class is close to the foothills which makes deposition probable.

Soil Erosion & Deposition on Catchment Scale

When looking at the overall erosion rates and its spatial pattern it might be concluded that soil erosion is the most severe threat to the valley. But that is the erroneous way interpreting the map in Figure 5.12. Keeping in mind that it only shows a potential of surface processes – especially for a little instant of time – it is not as bad as seems. PLATFORD (1982) found that some expected high soil losses for sandy soils did not materialize and expected moderate soil losses on fallows turned up to be much more severe than expected. In comparison to the rest of South Africa the erosion rates for Western Cape are low (MOREL 1998). That goes along with the statement of HOFFMAN & TODD (2000) who report that soil degradation (what includes soil erosion) is not the foremost environmental issue in Western Cape.

From the field work it was recognized that in some areas of the catchment "ordinary" soil erosion is not the primary erosive process. In large areas close to the headwaters and sporadically further downstream gully incision is the main threat for current and future landuses. Contributing area, geology, landtype and soil erodibility are the most prominent factors for the development of gullies (LE ROUX & SUMNER 2012), but unfortunately USPED overshoots highly concentrated streamflow that leads to gully incision (MITASOVA et al. 1999).

These gullies occur in abandoned or abandoned-like areas where the threshold for gullying is lowest (LYONS et al. 2013). Abandoned-like in this context means several frequently used off-road terrain courses that make use of the not agriculturally used slopes far upstream. In combination with partly patchy and partly shrub vegetation and with a generally high slope length and slope steepness factor that are ideal conditions for gullying and other linear erosive processes. That agrees with findings of NORTJÉ et al. (2012) from the Krüger National Park where repeatedly off-road driving leads to sub-soil compaction, limited infiltration and root penetration, less vegetation cover and an overall reduced resilience against several stressors. It is presumed to be overall the same: at beaches in more humid climates (PRISKIN 2003), in desert environments (VOLLMER et al. 1977) and in mountainous environments – where more sediment load is produced by horses and hikers than by motorbikes (WILSON & SENEY 1994). Another shortcoming of an USLE-derived soil erosion model is that it was applied numerous times in South Africa, but they never really have been comprehensively tested and calibrated (BREETZKE et al. 2013). Additionally many of the input variables are subjective, because they are charged with alot of assumptions and derived from limited field data. So alternative but also valid estimations can lead to valid conclusions too. Thus errors propagate and accumulate through the spatial erosion model and can lead to erroneous results (JETTEN et al. 1999). In this specific study there are several subfactors that can not be verified independently. Especially soil erodibility and the cover management factor appear to make sense whereas the ways of deriving them is not free of criticism. So the USPED model in this context must be seen through the eyes of George Box: "Essentially, all models are wrong, but some are useful." (BOX & DRAPER 1987: p. 424)

7. Conclusions

The study at hand shows that the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index is capable of detecting dry and wet spells from a global data set for Mediterranean conditions in South Africa reliably on a mesoscale. According to this droughts are inherent part of the Western Cape climate and they seem to be recurrent on various cycles. The study shows that since 1948 moderate drought on all time scales is virtually normal condition. The reasons are manifold and partly not yet understood entirely. Man is still at the mercy of weather and climate and so meteorological and hydrological droughts are still something to cope with in the long run, but agricultural droughts get foiled by the excessive irrigation with groundwater and socio-economic droughts get void in a valley with less than 1000 permanent inhabitants. There is no obvious temporal pattern of the occurrence of dry spells, wet spells seem to be more frequent in the austral winter.

Most rainfall is barely enough to be effective. Rainfalls with a significant amount are rare, the mean amount is triggered by single events. The precipitation inside the valley is spatially highly variable, clearly seasonal and since 1948 nonlinear slightly decreasing. The valley seems to be located in an extremely favored position, because rainfall variability, frequency and quantity of rain is clearly distinctive in comparison to a weather station from outside the valley.

The pattern of landuse and landcover follows the topography and thus the availability of (surface) water. The spatial pattern can be outlined to: the more distant from the headwaters the less water intensive the use. Only a very small portion of the valley is used heavily for agricultural purposes that are extremely water intensive, which is market-oriented production. Vast areas of fallow agricultural lands are indistinguishable from barren sediments. No natural forest can be found. As forest classified areas as well as open waters are entirely man-made. Wetlands are always related to the streams of the Krom Antonies and to the surroundings of the water storage dams. The landuse and landcover results are most likely distorted by a three-years crop rotation and indeterminable RUs during field mapping.

The Unit Stream Power Erosion Deposition model shows satisfactory trends but unsatisfactory values. The general trend can be agreed from the field work. But the approach of the model and the approach to derive its subfactors suffer from several shortcomings, such as the missing capability of the model to process highly concentrated streamflow what makes an accurate quantification impossible due to overestimation of soil loss, thus only reclassified values can be used. Additionally the rill-interrill factor (m) affects the final result massively and in the literature only vague recommendations instead of empirically derived values are given. Moreover the conversion of mapped field results to fit empirical USLE values does not agree well with data

in the literature, especially not for the regional model SLEMSA. The derivation of organic carbon from surface photographs using a Partial Least Square Regression failed, thus the mean value of C_{org} was taken, so that spatial variability is not represented appropriately. The rainfall-runoff erosivity is as seasonal as the rainfall itself, thus the annual mean value for R neglects that approximately eight months a year the detachment capacity of rains is low and four months the erosivity of the rainfalls is quite high.

But despite the values are overshooting the resulting maps reveal a pattern that agrees with geomorphological interpretations. Especially the slopes are very prone to erosion. The valley bottom tends to morphological stability or at least its sediments do not get eroded by flowing water. Gullying in particular is an issue. In the Krom Antonies valley it is related to either improper landuse like the off-road track in the upslope area or the clearance of natural shrub vegetation. Mostly erosion or deposition is not explicitly related to a specific landuse or landcover, but rather to geomorphology. If at all, the landuse is a product of the catchment's geomorphology and hydrology.

Several topics are interesting, but are unfortunately not covered by this study. Further research might relate to:

- Vast areas of the valley are fallow or fallow-like most time of the year and from the field work the issue of soil loss by winds is recognized: a quantification of soil loss by eolian processes would surely reveal valuable results.
- Large quantities of groundwater are abstracted for waterintensive agriculture, but water use seems to be a political issue and gathering data about quality and quantity seems to be a political act as well: a procedure to measure all amounts of pumped water should be implemented to answer the question how much do the aquifers get stressed?
- Large amounts of water are wasted either due to inefficient irrigation, leaking pipes and wells or evaporation losses: the amount of "natural" water loss by evaporation from the dams or from the fields irrigated during the day should be quantified. In a follow-up step countermeasures should be contrived and implemented to save the scarce resource.
- The implementation of the National Water Act seems to have failed (SCHREINER 2013): the water governance structures should be evaluated on a microscale to resolve the probing question who takes when how much from where for what purpose?

In summary: the valley is blessed with a favored location, but suffers from spatial and temporal highly variable rainfalls and frequent droughts. Only a small fraction of the valley is used for intensive agriculture, but the mean rainfall amounts are not sufficient for rainfed agriculture, thus groundwater is abstracted. Vast areas of the valley are left most time of the year "as is", what makes it prone to erosion and gullying in particular.

From this study the rainfalls in the valley are considered to be the most sensitive natural factor in a per se fragile geosystem. Rainfalls trigger aquifer recharge, agricultural productivity (and hence income) and biodiversity to a certain degree. An increase of rainfall variability is common sense against the background of a changing climate (KARL & TRENBERTH 2003) and it entails more, longer and more severe dry and wet spells. This also means a shift in farming practices and cropping calendars or even the disappearance of agriculture in some regions (GBETIBOUO & HASSAN 2005). Also it implicates an increased erosivity of rainfalls what in return means more loss of valuable land by either erosion or deposition, possibly accelerated siltation of the water storage dams and an overall increase of costs to maintain and to adapt infrastructure to mitigate respectively.

This fragile geosystem is also confronted with an increase of agro-industrial landuse. In Europe this kind of landuse the last 60 years was successful to meet the challenges of food security at the high costs of considerable degradation of soil and water resources (BOARDMAN et al. 2003).

Bibliography

- ABBOTT, M. B.; BATHURST, J. C.; CUNGE, J. A.; O'CONNELL, P. E. & RASMUSSEN, J. (1986): An introduction to the European Hydrological System — Systeme Hydrologique Europeen, "SHE", 1: History and philosophy of a physically-based, distributed modelling system. In: Journal of Hydrology 87(1-2), 45-59. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0022169486901149 (visited on 12/19/2014).
- ABDULLA, F. A. & AL-SHAREEF, A. W. (2009): Roof rainwater harvesting systems for household water supply in Jordan. In: Desalination 243(1-3), 195-207. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0011916409002677 (visited on 12/17/2014).
- ABU-AWWAD, A. M. & SHATANAWI, M. R. (1997): Water harvesting and infiltration in arid areas affected by surface crust: examples from Jordan. In: Journal of Arid Environments 37(3), 443–452. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140196397903013 (visited on 12/17/2014).
- ACOCKS, J. P. H. (1988): Veld types of South Africa. 3. ed. Memoirs of the Botanical Survey of South Africa ; 57. Pretoria.
- ACUÑA, V.; MUÑOZ, I.; GIORGI, A.; OMELLA, M.; SABATER, F. & SABATER, S. (2005): Drought and postdrought recovery cycles in an intermittent Mediterranean stream: structural and functional aspects. In: Journal of the North American Benthological Society 24(4), 919-933. URL: http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1899/04-078.1 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- Agricultural Research Council & Institute for Soil, Climate and Water (2014): AgroClimatology Programme. Pretoria.
- AHEARN, D. S.; SHEIBLEY, R. W.; DAHLGREN, R. A.; ANDERSON, M.; JOHNSON, J. & TATE, K. W. (2005): Land use and land cover influence on water quality in the last free-flowing river draining the western Sierra Nevada, California. In: Journal of Hydrology 313(3-4), 234-247. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0022169405001368 (visited on 10/28/2014).
- AHNERT, F. (1982): Untersuchungen über das Morphoklima und die Morphologie des Inselberggebietes von Machakos, Kenia. In: Catena Supplement 2, 1–72.
- ALBHAISI, M. (2012): Methodology for estimation of the change in the reserve of the Upper Berg catchment, Ces-

tern Cape, South Africa. Brussel. URL: http://wwwtw. vub.ac.be/hydr/download/MaherAlbhaisi.pdf.

- ALEXANDROV, Y.; LARONNE, J. B. & REID, I. (2003): Suspended sediment concentration and its variation with water discharge in a dryland ephemeral channel, northern Negev, Israel. In: Journal of Arid Environments 53(1), 73-84. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140196302910207 (visited on 02/01/2015).
- ALLAN, J. D. (2004): Landscapes and Riverscapes: The Influence of Land Use on Stream Ecosystems. In: Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35, 257– 284. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/30034117 (visited on 10/28/2014).
- ALLEY, W. M. (1984): The Palmer Drought Severity Index: Limitations and Assumptions. In: Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology 23(7), 1100-1109. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0450(1984)023%3C1100:TPDSIL%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 09/14/2014).
- Allison, R. J. & Thomas, D. S. G. (1993): The Sensitivity of Landscapes. In: Thomas, D. S. G. & Allison, R. J. (Eds.): Landscape Sensitivity, 1–6. Chichester; New York.
- ALLSOPP, N. (1999): Effects of grazing and cultivation on soil patterns and processes in the Paulshoek area of Namaqualand. In: Plant Ecology 142(1-2), 179-187. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A: 1009826412617 (visited on 02/16/2015).
- ALVAREZ, J. & ESTRELA, T. (2000): Socio-economic drought. In: HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (Eds.): Drought Event Definition, 18–19. Oslo.
- ANDREADIS, K. M.; CLARK, E. A.; WOOD, A. W.; HAM-LET, A. F. & LETTENMAIER, D. P. (2005): Twentieth-Century Drought in the Conterminous United States. In: Journal of Hydrometeorology 6(6), 985-1001. URL: http: //journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/JHM450.1 (visited on 01/08/2015).
- ANDREWS, W. R. H. & HUTCHINGS, L. (1980): Upwelling in the southern Benguela Current. In: Progress in Oceanography 9(1), 1–81.
- ANGULO-MARTÍNEZ, M. & BEGUERÍA, S. (2009): Estimating rainfall erosivity from daily precipitation records: A comparison among methods using data from the Ebro Basin (NE Spain). In: Journal of Hydrology **379**(1–2), 111–121. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022169409006258 (visited on 10/08/2014).
- Archer, E.; Conrad, J.; Münch, Z.; Opperman, D.; Tadross, M. & Venter, J. (2009): Climate change,

groundwater and intensive commercial farming in the semi-arid northern Sandveld, South Africa. In: Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences 6(2), 139–155. URL: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/19438150902916589 (visited on 10/14/2014).

- ARNOLDUS, H. M. J. (1977): Methodology used to determine the maximum potential average annual soil loss due to sheet and rill erosion in Morocco. In: FOOD AND AGRICULTURAL ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NA-TIONS (Ed.): Assessing Soil Degradation. **34**. Rome
- AUERSWALD, K.; FIENER, P.; MARTIN, W. & ELHAUS, D. (2014): Use and misuse of the K factor equation in soil erosion modeling: An alternative equation for determining USLE nomograph soil erodibility values. In: CATENA 118, 220-225. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S034181621400023X (visited on 10/13/2014).
- AUSTIN, P. M. (1987): Relation between Measured Radar Reflectivity and Surface Rainfall. In: Monthly Weather Review 115(5), 1053-1070. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0493(1987)115% 3C1053:RBMRRA%3E2.0.CO;2 (visited on 01/21/2015).
- AYOADE, J. O. (1976): A preliminary study of the magnitude, frequency and distribution of intense rainfall in Nigeria. In: Hydrological Sciences Bulletin 21(3), 419-429. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 02626667609491650 (visited on 01/24/2015).
- BAARD, E. H. W. & DE VILLIERS, A. L. (2000): State of Biodiversity: Western Cape Province, South Africa. Amphibians and Reptiles. Working Paper. URL: http: //www.oceandocs.org/handle/1834/709 (visited on 12/11/2014).
- BACCHI, B. & KOTTEGODA, N. T. (1995): Identification and calibration of spatial correlation patterns of rainfall. In: Journal of Hydrology 165(1-4), 311-348. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0022169494025908 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- BAHRENBERG, G.; GIESE, E. & NIPPER, J. (1985): Statistische Methoden in der Geographie. Univariate und bivariate Statistik. Stuttgart.
- BAKUN, A. & NELSON, C. S. (1991): The Seasonal Cycle of Wind-Stress Curl in Subtropical Eastern Boundary Current Regions. In: Journal of Physical Oceanography 21(12), 1815–1834. URL: http://journals.ametsoc. org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0485(1991)021%3C1815: TSCOWS%3E2.0.CO;2 (visited on 12/08/2014).
- BALLARD, C. (1986): Drought and Economic Distress: South Africa in the 1800s. In: The Journal of Interdisciplinary History 17(2), 359-378. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/204770 (visited on 01/15/2015).

- BALTAS, E. (2007): Spatial distribution of climatic indices in northern Greece. In: Meteorological Applications 14(1), 69-78. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1002/met.7/abstract (visited on 11/15/2014).
- BAMBARADENIYA, C. N. B. & AMARASINGHE, F. P. (2003): Biodiversity Associated with the Rice Field Agroecosystem in Asian Countries: A Brief Review. Colombo.
- BARGMANN, C. J. (2003): Geology and Wine 7. Geology and Wine Production in the Coastal Region, Western Cape Province, South Africa. In: Geoscience Canada 30(4). URL: http://journals.hil.unb.ca/index.php/GC/ article/view/4155 (visited on 01/27/2015).
- BEAN, C.; JUVIK, J. O. & NULLET, D. (1994): Mountain evaporation profiles on the island of Hawai'i. In: Journal of Hydrology 156(1-4), 181-192. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0022169494900779 (visited on 01/21/2015).
- BEASLEY, D. B.; HUGGINS, L. F. & MONKE, E. J. (1982): Modeling sediment yields from agricultural watersheds.
 In: Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 37(2), 113– 117. URL: http://www.jswconline.org/content/37/2/ 113 (visited on 01/07/2015).
- BECKERS, B.; BERKING, J. & SCHÜTT, B. (2013a): Ancient water harvesting methods in the drylands of the Mediterranean and Western Asia. In: eTopoi Journal for Ancient Studies.
- BECKERS, B. & SCHÜTT, B. (2013): The elaborate floodwater harvesting system of ancient Resafa in Syria – Construction and reliability. In: Journal of Arid Environments 96, 31-47. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0140196313000773 (visited on 10/29/2014).
- BECKERS, B.; SCHÜTT, B.; TSUKAMOTO, S. & FRECHEN, M. (2013b): Age determination of Petra's engineered landscape – optically stimulated luminescence (OSL) and radiocarbon ages of runoff terrace systems in the Eastern Highlands of Jordan. In: Journal of Archaeological Science 40(1), 333–348. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0305440312003111 (visited on 07/08/2013).
- BECKMAN COULTER INC. (2009): LS 13 320 Laser Diffraction Particle Size Analyser Instrument Manual. Brea.
- BEGUERÍA, S. & VICENTE-SERRANO, S. (2013): SPEI: Calculation of the Standardised Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=SPEI (visited on 02/26/2014).
- BEHNKE, R. H.; SCOONES, I. & KERVEN, C. (1993): Range ecology at disequilibrium. London.

- BEINART, W. (1984): Soil Erosion, Conservationism and Ideas about Development: A Southern African Exploration, 1900 – 1960. In: Journal of Southern African Studies 11(1), 52–83. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 2636546 (visited on 02/13/2015).
- BELCHER, R. W. & KISTERS, A. F. M. (2003): Lithostratigraphic correlations in the western branch of the Pan-African Saldania belt, South Africa: the Malmesbury Group revisited. In: South African Journal of Geology 106(4), 327-342. URL: http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=13157168&site= ehost-live (visited on 11/28/2014).
- BEN-DOR, E.; IRONS, J. R. & EPEMA, G. F. (1999): Soil reflectance. In: RENCZ, A. N. (Ed.): Manual of Remote Sensing, Remote Sensing for the Earth Sciences. 3, 111– 188
- BERGKAMP, G.; CERDÀ, A. & IMESON, A. C. (1999): Magnitude-frequency analysis of water redistribution along a climate gradient in Spain. In: CATENA 37(1-2), 129-146. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0341816298000587 (visited on 11/12/2014).
- BESKOW, S.; MELLO, C. R.; NORTON, L. D.; CURI, N.; VI-OLA, M. R. & AVANZI, J. C. (2009): Soil erosion prediction in the Grande River Basin, Brazil using distributed modeling. In: CATENA 79(1), 49–59. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0341816209001088 (visited on 01/08/2015).
- BESTELMEYER, B. T.; DUNIWAY, M. C.; JAMES, D. K.; BURKETT, L. M. & HAVSTAD, K. M. (2013): A test of critical thresholds and their indicators in a desertification-prone ecosystem: more resilience than we thought. In: Ecology Letters 16(3), 339–345. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ele.12045/abstract (visited on 12/16/2014).
- BEUSELINCK, L.; GOVERS, G. & POESEN, J. (1999): Assessment of micro-aggregation using laser diffractometry. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 24(1), 41-49.
 URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9837(199901)24:1%3C41::AID-ESP941%3E3.
 0.C0;2-2/abstract (visited on 06/11/2013).
- BEUSELINCK, L.; GOVERS, G.; POESEN, J.; DEGRAER, G. & FROYEN, L. (1998): Grain-size analysis by laser diffractometry: comparison with the sieve-pipette method. In: CATENA 32(3-4), 193-208. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816298000514 (visited on 06/11/2013).
- BISWAS, A. K. (2004): Integrated Water Resources Management: A Reassessment. In: Water International 29(2),

248–256. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02508060408691775 (visited on 12/12/2014).

- BISWAS, A. K. (2008): Integrated Water Resources Management: Is It Working? In: International Journal of Water Resources Development 24(1), 5-22. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07900620701871718 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- BIVAND, R. (2013): spgrass6: Interface between GRASS 6
 and R. uRL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=
 spgrass6 (visited on 02/26/2014).
- BIVAND, R.; KEITT, T. & ROWLINGSON, B. (2014): rgdal: Bindings for the Geospatial Data Abstraction Library. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgdal (visited on 08/26/2014).
- BIVAND, R. & RUNDEL, C. (2014): rgeos: Interface to Geometry Engine - Open Source (GEOS). uRL: http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=rgeos (visited on 09/16/2014).
- BLOMQUIST, W. & SCHLAGER, E. (2005): Political Pitfalls of Integrated Watershed Management. In: Society & Natural Resources 18(2), 101–117. URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/08941920590894435 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- BOARDMAN, J.; POESEN, J. & EVANS, R. (2003): Socioeconomic factors in soil erosion and conservation. In: Environmental Science & Policy. Socio-economic Factors in Soil Erosion and Conservation 6(1), 1-6. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S146290110200120X (visited on 12/20/2014).
- BOERS, T. M. & BEN-ASHER, J. (1982): A review of rainwater harvesting. In: Agricultural Water Management 5(2), 145-158. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0378377482900038 (visited on 12/17/2014).
- BOERS, T. M.; ZONDERVAN, K. & BEN-ASHER, J. (1986): Micro-Catchment-Water-Harvesting (MCWH) for arid zone development. In: Agricultural Water Management 12(1-2), 21-39. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/037837748690003X (visited on 12/17/2014).
- BOKEN, V. K.; BOKEN, V. K.; CRACKNELL, A. P. & HEATH-COTE, R. L. (2005): Agricultural Drought and Its Monitoring and Prediction: Some Concepts. In: Monitoring and Predicting Agricultural Drought: A Global Study, 3–10. Oxford; New York.
- BOND, W. J.; MIDGLEY, G. F. & WOODWARD, F. I. (2003):
 What controls South African vegetation climate or fire?
 In: South African Journal of Botany 69(1), 79–91.
- BONILLA, C. A. & VIDAL, K. L. (2011): Rainfall erosivity in Central Chile. In: Journal of Hydrology 410(1-2), 126-133. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/

science/article/pii/S0022169411006573 (visited on 01/31/2015).

- BOOTH, P. W. K. (2011): Stratigraphic, Structural and Tectonic Enigmas Associated with the Cape Fold Belt: Challenges for Future Research. In: South African Journal of Geology 114(3), 235-248. URL: http://search. ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN= 73829850&site=ehost-live (visited on 11/28/2014).
- BORGOGNO, F.; D'ODORICO, P.; LAIO, F. & RIDOLFI, L. (2007): Effect of rainfall interannual variability on the stability and resilience of dryland plant ecosystems. In: Water Resources Research **43**(6), W06411. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2006WR005314/ abstract (visited on 12/16/2014).
- BORK, H.-R. & SCHRÖDER, A. (1996): Quantifizierung des Bodenabtrags anhand von Modellen. In: BLUME, H. P.; FELIX-HENNINGSEN, P.; FISCHER, W. R.; FREDE, H.-G.; GUGGENBERGER, G.; HORN, R. & STAHR, K. (Eds.): Handbuch der Bodenkunde, 1–44. Hoboken.
- BORRELLI, P. (2011): Risk assessment of human-induced accelerated soil erosion processes in the intermountain watersheds of Central Italy. PhD thesis. Freie Universität Berlin, Germany. URL: http://www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS_thesis_000000024015?lang=en (visited on 11/06/2014).
- BOT, A. J.; NACHTERGAELE, F. O. & YOUNG, A. (2000): Land resource potential and constraints at regional and country levels. 90. World Soil Resources Reports. Rome.
- BOUCHER, C. (1983): Floristic and structural features of the coastal foreland vegetation south of the Berg River, western Cape Province, South Africa. In: Bothalia 14(3 - 4), 669-674. URL: http://abcjournal.org/index.php/ABC/ article/view/1226.
- BOULAL, H.; GÓMEZ-MACPHERSON, H.; GÓMEZ, J. A. & MATEOS, L. (2011): Effect of soil management and traffic on soil erosion in irrigated annual crops. In: Soil and Tillage Research 115-116, 62-70. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0167198711001322 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- BOUWER, H. (2000): Integrated water management: emerging issues and challenges. In: Agricultural Water Management 45(3), 217-228. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0378377400000925 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- BOX, G. E. P. & DRAPER, N. R. (1987): Empirical Model-Building and Response Surfaces. New York.
- BRAKENSIEK, D. L. & RAWLS, W. J. (1994): Soil containing rock fragments: effects on infiltration. In: CATENA. Rock Fragments in Soil: Surface Dynamics 23(1–2),

99-110. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0341816294900566 (visited on 02/01/2015).

- BREETZKE, G. D.; KOOMEN, E. & CRITCHLEY, W. R. S. (2013): GIS-Assisted Modelling of Soil Erosion in a South African Catchment: Evaluating the USLE and SLEMSA Approach. In: WURBS, R. (Ed.): Water Resources Planning, Development and Management, 53–71.
- BROOKS, R. H. (1971): Human Response to Recurrent Drought in Northeastern Brazil. In: The Professional Geographer 23(1), 40–44.
- BRUNSDEN, D. (2001): A critical assessment of the sensitivity concept in geomorphology. In: CATENA 42(2-4), 99-123. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S034181620000134X (visited on 09/16/2013).
- BRUNSDEN, D. & THORNES, J. B. (1979): Landscape Sensitivity and Change. In: Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers 4(4), 463–484. URL: http://www. jstor.org/stable/622210 (visited on 09/21/2013).
- BRYAN, R. B. (2000): Soil erodibility and processes of water erosion on hillslope. In: Geomorphology **32**(3-4), 385-415. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0169555X99001051 (visited on 01/07/2015).
- BRYAN, R. B. & POESEN, J. (1989): Laboratory experiments on the influence of slope length on runoff, percolation and rill development. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 14(3), 211-231. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/esp.3290140304/abstract (visited on 01/06/2015).
- BUELL, M. F.; BUELL, H. F.; SMALL, J. A. & MONK, C. D. (1961): Drought Effect on Radial Growth of Trees in the William L. Hutcheson Memorial Forest. In: Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 88(3), 176-180. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2482712 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- BUGAN, R. D. H.; JOVANOVIC, N. Z. & DE CLERCQ, W. P. (2012): The water balance of a seasonal stream in the semi-arid Western Cape (South Africa). In: Water SA 38(2), 201-212. URL: http://www.scielo.org.za/ scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid=S1816-79502012000200005&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en (visited on 12/09/2014).
- BULL, L. J. & KIRKBY, M. J. (2002): Dryland Rivers: Hydrology and Geomorphology of Semi-arid Channels.
- BUTZER, K. W.; MATEU, J. F.; BUTZER, E. K. & KRAUS, P. (1985): Irrigation agrosystems in eastern Spain: Ro-

man or Islamic origins? In: Annals of the Association of American Geographers **75**(4), 479–509.

- BUURMAN, P.; PAPE, T.; REIJNEVELD, J.; DE JONG, F. & VAN GELDER, E. (2001): Laser-diffraction and pipettemethod grain sizing of Dutch sediments: correlations for fine fractions of marine, fluvial, and loess samples. In: Geologie en Mijnbouw 80(2), 49–58.
- BYUN, H.-R. & WILHITE, D. A. (1999): Objective Quantification of Drought Severity and Duration. In: Journal of Climate 12(9), 2747-2756. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/full/10.1175/1520-0442(1999)012% 3C2747:0QODSA%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- CALDWELL, J. C.; REDDY, P. H. & CALDWELL, P. (1986): Periodic High Risk as a Cause of Fertility Decline in a Changing Rural Environment: Survival Strategies in the 1980-1983 South Indian Drought. In: Economic Development and Cultural Change **34**(4), 677-701. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1153727 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- CAPE NATURE; CONRAD, J. & MÜNCH, Z. (2006): Groundwater Assessment of the North-West Sandveld and Saldanha Peninsula as an Integral Component of the CAPE Fine-Scale Biodiversity Planning Project. Tech. rep. Cape Town. uRL: http://bgis.sanbi.org/fsp/Reports/ SandveldGroundwater.pdf (visited on 12/08/2014).
- CARMAN, P. C. (1937): Fluid flow through granular beds. In: Transactions-Institution of Chemical Engineeres 15, 150–166.
- CARMAN, P. C. (1956): Flow of gases through porous media. London.
- CARRIER, W. (2003): Goodbye, Hazen; Hello, Kozeny-Carman. In: Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering 129(11), 1054–1056. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1090-0241(2003)129:11(1054) (visited on 02/01/2015).
- CASSEL SHARMASARKAR, F.; SHARMASARKAR, S.; MILLER, S. D.; VANCE, G. F. & ZHANG, R. (2001): Assessment of drip and flood irrigation on water and fertilizer use efficiencies for sugarbeets. In: Agricultural Water Management 46(3), 241-251. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0378377400000901 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- CATUNEANU, O. (2004): Retroarc foreland systems—evolution through time. In: Journal of African Earth Sciences **38**(3), 225-242. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0899536204000211 (visited on 12/10/2014).
- CATUNEANU, O.; WOPFNER, H.; ERIKSSON, P. G.; CAIRN-CROSS, B.; RUBIDGE, B. S.; SMITH, R. M. H. & HAN-

cox, P. J. (2005): The Karoo basins of south-central Africa. In: Journal of African Earth Sciences. Phanerozoic Evolution of Africa 43(1-3), 211-253. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1464343X05001184 (visited on 12/09/2014).

- CEBECAUER, T.; HOFIERKA, J. & SURI, M. (2002): Processing digital terrain models by regularized spline with tension: tuning interpolation parameters for different input datasets. In: Proceedings of the Open source GIS-GRASS users conference. Trento, Italy, 123–134.
- CERDÀ, A. (2001): Effects of rock fragment cover on soil infiltration, interrill runoff and erosion. In: European Journal of Soil Science 52(1), 59-68. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-2389.2001.00354.x/ abstract (visited on 02/01/2015).
- CERDAN, O.; GOVERS, G.; LE BISSONNAIS, Y.; VAN OOST, K.; POESEN, J.; SABY, N.; GOBIN, A.; VACCA, A.; QUIN-TON, J.; AUERSWALD, K.; KLIK, A.; KWAAD, F. J. P. M.; RACLOT, D.; IONITA, I.; REJMAN, J.; ROUSSEVA, S.; MUXART, T.; ROXO, M. J. & DOSTAL, T. (2010): Rates and spatial variations of soil erosion in Europe: A study based on erosion plot data. In: Geomorphology **122**(1-2), 167-177. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0169555X10002813 (visited on 11/06/2014).
- CHANG, C.-W.; LAIRD, D. A.; MAUSBACH, M. J. & HUR-BURGH, C. R. (2001): Near-Infrared Reflectance Spectroscopy-Principal Components Regression Analyses of Soil Properties. In: Soil Science Society of America Journal 65(2), 480-490. URL: https://dl.sciencesocieties. org/publications/sssaj/abstracts/65/2/480 (visited on 02/09/2015).
- CHANG, J.-H. (1959): An Evaluation of the 1948 Thornthwaite Classification. In: Annals of the Association of American Geographers 49(1), 24-30. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-8306. 1959.tb01594.x/abstract (visited on 01/23/2015).
- CHANG, W. (2014): extrafont: Tools for using fonts. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=extrafont (visited on 02/26/2014).
- CHEN, H.; HOU, R.; GONG, Y.; LI, H.; FAN, M. & KUZYAKOV, Y. (2009): Effects of 11 years of conservation tillage on soil organic matter fractions in wheat monoculture in Loess Plateau of China. In: Soil and Tillage Research 106(1), 85–94. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167198709001706 (visited on 02/12/2015).
- CHEN, M.; XIE, P.; JANOWIAK, J. E. & ARKIN, P. A. (2002): Global Land Precipitation: A 50-yr Monthly Analysis Based on Gauge Observations. In: Journal of Hydromete-

orology **3**(3), 249-266. URL: http://journals.ametsoc. org/doi/full/10.1175/1525-7541(2002)003%3C0249: GLPAYM%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 01/20/2015).

- CHHABRA, A.; GEIST, H.; HOUGHTON, R. A.; HABERL, H.;
 BRAIMOH, A. K.; VLEK, P. L. G.; PATZ, J.; XU, J.; RAMANKUTTY, N.; COOMES, O. & LAMBIN, E. F. (2006):
 Multiple Impacts of Land-Use/Cover Change. In: LAMBIN, E. F. & GEIST, H. (Eds.): Land-Use and Land-Cover Change. Global Change The IGBP Series, 71–116. Berlin, Heidelberg.
- CHIKATI, R. (2007): Quantifying the water in silted up small dams and establishing how it can be abstracted for human livelihoods: A case of Mzingwane Catchment. PhD thesis. Harare: University of Zimbabwe.
- CHORLEY, R. J. (1962): Geomorphology and general systems theory. Washington.
- CHOW, V. T. (1953): Frequency analysis of hydrologic data with special application to rainfall intensities. Urbana. URL: https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/handle/2142/ 4107 (visited on 11/17/2014).
- CIE (1932): Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage Proceedings, 1931.
- CIE (1978): International Commission on Illumination, recommendations on uniform color spaces, color, difference equations, psychometric color terms. 15. CIE publication. Paris.
- CLEMMENS, A. J. (1981): Evaluation of infiltration measurements for border irrigation. In: Agricultural Water Management 3(4), 251-267. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/037837748190010X (visited on 12/15/2014).

Cole, M. M. (1961): South Africa. London.

- CONRAD, J.; NEL, J. & WENTZEL, J. (2005): The challenges and implications of assessing groundwater recharge: A case study – northern Sandveld, Western Cape,South Africa. In: Water SA 30(5), 75-81. URL: http://www. ajol.info/index.php/wsa/article/view/5171 (visited on 09/01/2014).
- CONRADIE, B.; PIESSE, J. & THIRTLE, C. (2009): Districtlevel total factor productivity in agriculture: Western Cape Province, South Africa, 1952–2002. In: Agricultural Economics 40(3), 265–280. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2009.00381.x/ abstract (visited on 01/27/2015).
- COOK, B. I.; MILLER, R. L. & SEAGER, R. (2009): Amplification of the North American "Dust Bowl" drough through human-induced land degradation. In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **106**(13), 4997–5001. URL:

http://www.pnas.org/content/106/13/4997 (visited on 01/05/2015).

- COSTA, M. H.; BOTTA, A. & CARDILLE, J. A. (2003): Effects of large-scale changes in land cover on the discharge of the Tocantins River, Southeastern Amazonia. In: Journal of Hydrology 283(1-4), 206-217. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0022169403002671 (visited on 10/28/2014).
- COWLING, R. M.; PIERCE, S. M. & MOLL, E. J. (1986): Conservation and utilisation of South Coast renosterveld, an endangered South African vegetation type. In: Biological Conservation 37(4), 363-377. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0006320786900789 (visited on 12/11/2014).
- COWLING, R. M.; PROCHEŞ, Ş. & PARTRIDGE, T. C. (2009): Explaining the uniqueness of the Cape flora: Incorporating geomorphic evolution as a factor for explaining its diversification. In: Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution. Origins and Evolution of a Biodiversity Hotspot, the Biota of the African Cape Floristic Region 51(1), 64-74. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1055790308003047 (visited on 04/11/2014).
- CRIMP, S. J. & MASON, S. J. (1999): The Extreme Precipitation Event of 11 to 16 February 1996 over South Africa.
 In: Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics 70(1-2), 29-42. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s007030050023 (visited on 01/19/2015).
- DA SILVA, A. M. (2004): Rainfall erosivity map for Brazil. In: CATENA 57(3), 251-259. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816203002595 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- DAHL, D. B. (2014): xtable: Export tables to LaTeX or HTML. url: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package= xtable (visited on 02/26/2014).
- DAI, A.; TRENBERTH, K. E. & KARL, T. R. (1998): Global variations in droughts and wet spells: 1900–1995. In: Geophysical Research Letters 25(17), 3367–3370. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/98GL52511/ abstract (visited on 01/16/2015).
- DAMIAN, G.; NĂSUI, D.; DAMIAN, F. & CIURTE, D. (2014): Erosion Assessment Modeling Using the Sateec Gis Model on the Prislop Catchment. In: Present Environment and Sustainable Development 8(1), 217-224. URL: http://www.degruyter.com/view/j/pesd.2014.8. issue-1/pesd-2014-0019/pesd-2014-0019.xml (visited on 02/01/2015).
- D'AMICO, A.; DI NATALE, C.; LO CASTRO, F.; IAROSSI, S.; CATINI, A. & MARTINELLI, E. (2009): Volatile Compounds Detection by IR Acousto-Optic Detectors. In:
BYRNES, J. (Ed.): Unexploded Ordnance Detection and Mitigation. NATO Science for Peace and Security Series B: Physics and Biophysics, 21–59. Dordrecht.

- DANIEL, K. W.; TRIPATHI, N. K. & HONDA, K. (2003): Artificial neural network analysis of laboratory and in situ spectra for the estimation of macronutrients in soils of Lop Buri (Thailand). In: Soil Research 41(1), 47–59. URL: http://www.publish.csiro.au/paper/SR02027 (visited on 02/03/2015).
- DANIELSON, J. J. & DAHL, D. B. (2011): Global Multiresolution Terrain Elevation Data 2010 (GMTED2010). USGS Open File Report 2011-1073. Reston. URL: http: //pubs.usgs.gov/of/2011/1073/pdf/of2011-1073.pdf (visited on 09/12/2014).
- DE BOER, G. B. J.; DE WEERD, C.; THOENES, D. & GOOSSENS, H. W. J. (1987): Laser Diffraction Spectrometry: Fraunhofer Diffraction Versus Mie Scattering.
 In: Particle & Particle Systems Characterization 4(1-4), 14-19. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ppsc.19870040104/abstract (visited on 07/09/2013).
- DE FRIES, R. & ESHLEMAN, K. N. (2004): Land-use change and hydrologic processes: a major focus for the future. In: Hydrological Processes 18(11), 2183-2186. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.5584/ abstract (visited on 10/28/2014).
- DE LUIS, M.; GONZÁLEZ-HIDALGO, J. C. & LONGARES, L. A. (2010): Is rainfall erosivity increasing in the Mediterranean Iberian Peninsula? In: Land Degradation & Development 21(2), 139-144. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr.918/abstract (visited on 01/31/2015).
- DE MARTONNE, E. (1926): L'indice d'aridité. In: Bulletin de l'Association de géographes français **3**(9), 3–5.
- DE Roo, A. P. J. (1993): Modelling surface runoff and soil erosion in catchments using Geographical Information Systems: validity and applicability of the "ANSWERS" model in two catchments in the loess area of South Limburg (The Netherlands) and one in Devon (UK). **157**. Nederlandse geografische studies. Utrecht.
- DE Roo, A. P. J.; HAZELHOFF, L. & BURROUGH, P. A. (1989): Soil erosion modelling using 'answers' and geographical information systems. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 14(6), 517-532. URL: http:// onlinelibrary . wiley . com / doi / 10 . 1002 / esp . 3290140608/abstract (visited on 01/07/2015).
- DE SANTOS LOUREIRO, N. & DE AZEVEDO COUTINHO, M. (2001): A new procedure to estimate the RUSLE EI30 index, based on monthly rainfall data and applied to the Algarve region, Portugal. In: Journal of Hydrology

250(1-4), 12-18. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0022169401003870 (visited on 01/06/2015).

- DE VENTE, J. & POESEN, J. (2005): Predicting soil erosion and sediment yield at the basin scale: Scale issues and semi-quantitative models. In: Earth-Science Reviews 71(1-2), 95-125. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0012825205000206 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- DE VENTE, J.; POESEN, J.; GOVERS, G. & BOIX-FAYOS, C. (2009): The implications of data selection for regional erosion and sediment yield modelling. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms **34**(15), 1994–2007. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/esp.1884/ abstract (visited on 11/04/2014).
- DE VRIES, J. J.; SELAOLO, E. T. & BEEKMAN, H. E. (2000): Groundwater recharge in the Kalahari, with reference to paleo-hydrologic conditions. In: Journal of Hydrology 238(1-2), 110-123. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0022169400003255 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- DE WIT, M. & CROOKES, D. J. (2013): Improved decisionmaking on irrigation farming in arid zones using a system dynamics model. In: South African Journal of Science 109(11-12), 1–8.
- DEAN, W. E. (1974): Determination of carbonate and organic matter in calcareous sediments and sedimentary rocks by loss on ignition; comparison with other methods. In: Journal of Sedimentary Research 44(1), 242-248. URL: http://jsedres.sepmonline.org/content/44/1/242 (visited on 12/02/2013).
- DEAN, W. R. J. & MACDONALD, I. A. W. (1994): Historical changes in stocking rates of domestic livestock as a measure of semi-arid and arid rangeland degradation in the Cape Province, South Africa. In: Journal of Arid Environments 26(3), 281–298. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0140196384710305 (visited on 01/15/2015).
- DEMLIE, M.; JOVANOVIC, N. & NAICKER, S. (2011): Origin of groundwater salinity in the Sandspruit catchment, Berg River basin (South Africa). In: International Conference on Groundwater: Our source of security in an uncertain future, CSIR International Convention Centre, Pretoria, South Africa, 19-21 September 2011. Pretoria. URL: http://researchspace.csir.co.za/dspace/handle/ 10204/5441 (visited on 02/01/2015).
- DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY AND FISHERIES
 (2013): Potatoes Production Guideline. Pretoria. URL:
 http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/
 potatguidelines.pdf.

- DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS AND TOURISM (2006): South Africa Environment Outlook. A report on the state of the environment. Pretoria.
- DEPARTMENT OF WATER AND SANITATION (2014): Lithographic Vector Data at 1:100000. Pretoria.
- DESMET, P. G. (2007): Namaqualand A brief overview of the physical and floristic environment. In: Journal of Arid Environments. Special Issue Sustainable Land Use in Namaqualand 70(4), 570-587. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0140196306004125 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- DESMET, P. J. J. & GOVERS, G. (1996): Comparison of routing algorithms for digital elevation models and their implications for predicting ephemeral gullies. In: International journal of geographical information systems 10(3), 311-331. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 02693799608902081 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- D'ODORICO, P. & BHATTACHAN, A. (2012): Hydrologic variability in dryland regions: impacts on ecosystem dynamics and food security. In: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 367(1606), 3145–3157. URL: http://rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/367/1606/3145 (visited on 12/16/2014).
- DOUGILL, A. J.; FRASER, E. D. G. & REED, M. S. (2010): Anticipating Vulnerability to Climate Change in Dryland Pastoral Systems: Using Dynamic Systems Models for the Kalahari. In: Ecology and Society 15(2), 1-20. URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss2/ art17/ (visited on 12/16/2014).
- DRACUP, J. A. (1991): Drought monitoring. In: Stochastic Hydrology and Hydraulics 5(4), 261-266. URL: http:// link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01543134 (visited on 01/08/2015).
- DUNKERLEY, D. (2002): Systematic variation of soil infiltration rates within and between the components of the vegetation mosaic in an Australian desert landscape. In: Hydrological Processes 16(1), 119-131. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.357/ abstract (visited on 02/01/2015).
- DYER, T. G. J. & TYSON, P. D. (1977): Estimating Above and Below Normal Rainfall Periods over South Africa, 1972-2000. In: Journal of Applied Meteorology 16(2), 145-147. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/ 10.1175/1520-0450(1977)016%3C0145:EAABNR%3E2.0. C0;2 (visited on 01/17/2015).
- EDWARDS, D. C. (1997): Characteristics of 20th Century Drought in the United States at Multiple Time Scales. Fort Collins. URL: http://oai.dtic.mil/oai/oai? verb=getRecord&metadataPrefix=html&identifier= ADA325595.

- ELSENBURG (2015): Agricultural Statistics in Brief. URL: http://www.elsenburg.com/economics/statistics/ start.htm (visited on 02/21/2015).
- ELWELL, H. A. (1978): Modelling soil losses in Southern Africa. In: Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 23(2), 117-127. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0021863478900434 (visited on 09/18/2014).
- ENDFIELD, G. H. & TEJEDO, I. F. (2006): Decades of Drought, Years of Hunger: Archival Investigations of Multiple Year Droughts in Late Colonial Chihuahua. In: Climatic Change 75(4), 391-419. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s10584-006-3492-7 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- ENFORS, E. I. & GORDON, L. J. (2007): Analysing resilience in dryland agro-ecosystems: a case study of the Makanya catchment in Tanzania over the past 50 years. In: Land Degradation & Development 18(6), 680-696. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr.807/ abstract (visited on 12/16/2014).
- EVANS, A. & VARMA, S. (2009): Practicalities of participation in urban IWRM: Perspectives of wastewater management in two cities in Sri Lanka and Bangladesh. In: Natural Resources Forum 33(1), 19–28. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1477-8947. 2009.01205.x/abstract (visited on 12/16/2014).
- EZE, P. N. & MEADOWS, M. E. (2014): Texture contrast profile with stonelayer in the Cape Peninsula, South Africa: Autochthony and polygenesis. In: CATENA 118, 103-114. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S034181621400040X (visited on 02/01/2015).
- FAGERENG, Å. (2012): A Note on Folding Mechanisms in the Cape Fold Belt, South Africa. In: South African Journal of Geology 115(2), 137-144. URL: http://search. ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN= 83459484&site=ehost-live (visited on 11/28/2014).
- FAHONG, W.; XUQING, W. & SAYRE, K. (2004): Comparison of conventional, flood irrigated, flat planting with furrow irrigated, raised bed planting for winter wheat in China. In: Field Crops Research 87(1), 35-42. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378429003002016 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- FAIRBANKS, D. H. K.; THOMPSON, M. W.; VINK, D. E.; NEWBY, T. S.; VAN DEN BERG, H. M. & EVERARD, D. A. (2000): South African land-cover characteristics database: a synopsis of the landscape. In: South African Journal of Science 96(2), 69–82. URL: http://researchspace. csir.co.za/dspace/handle/10204/1087 (visited on 01/26/2015).

- FALKENMARK, M. & ROCKSTRÖM, J. (2008): Building resilience to drought in desertification-prone savannas in Sub-Saharan Africa: The water perspective. In: Natural Resources Forum 32(2), 93-102. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1477-8947. 2008.00177.x/abstract (visited on 12/16/2014).
- FAN, Y. & VAN DEN DOOL, H. (2004): Climate Prediction Center global monthly soil moisture data set at 0.5° resolution for 1948 to present. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 109(D10), D10102. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2003JD004345/ abstract (visited on 09/07/2014).
- FAN, Y. & VAN DEN DOOL, H. (2008): A global monthly land surface air temperature analysis for 1948-present. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 113(D1), D01103. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1029/2007JD008470/abstract (visited on 09/07/2014).
- FAROOQ, M.; WAHID, A.; KOBAYASHI, N.; FUJITA, D. & BASRA, S. M. A. (2009): Plant Drought Stress: Effects, Mechanisms and Management. In: LICHTFOUSE, E.; NAVARRETE, M.; DEBAEKE, P.; VÉRONIQUE, S. & ALBEROLA, C. (Eds.): Sustainable Agriculture, 153–188. Amsterdam.
- FAUCHEREAU, N.; TRZASKA, S.; ROUAULT, M. & RICHARD, Y. (2003): Rainfall Variability and Changes in Southern Africa during the 20th Century in the Global Warming Context. In: Natural Hazards 29(2), 139–154. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A: 1023630924100 (visited on 01/16/2015).
- FERNANDEZ, C.; WU, J. Q.; MCCOOL, D. K. & STÖCKLE, C. O. (2003): Estimating water erosion and sediment yield with GIS, RUSLE, and SEDD. In: Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 58(3), 128–136. URL: http:// www.jswconline.org/content/58/3/128 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- FERREIRA, S. L. A.; VAN DER MERWE, I. J. & ZIETS-MAN, H. L. (2007): Natural resource base as predictor of town growth and development potential in Western Cape Province. In: Geography 92(1), 25-40. URL: http://www. jstor.org/stable/40574305 (visited on 01/27/2015).
- FERRIO, J. P.; ARAUS, J. L.; BUXÓ, R.; VOLTAS, J. & BORT, J. (2005): Water management practices and climate in ancient agriculture: inferences from the stable isotope composition of archaeobotanical remains. In: Vegetation History and Archaeobotany 14(4), 510–517.
- FERRO, V.; PORTO, P. & YU, B. (1999): A comparative study of rainfall erosivity estimation for southern Italy and southeastern Australia. In: Hydrological Sciences

Journal 44(1), 3-24. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 02626669909492199 (visited on 01/31/2015).

- FEY, M. V. (2010a): A short guide to the soils of South Africa, their distribution and correlation with World Reference Base soil groups. In: Proceedings of the 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Soil Solutions for a Changing World 1 - 6 August 2010, Brisbane, Australia, 32-35. URL: http://www.ldd.go.th/swcst/Report/ soil/symposium/pdf/2503.pdf (visited on 12/17/2014).
- FEY, M. V. (2010b): Soils of South Africa. Cambridge; New York.
- FFOLLIOTT, P. F.; BAKER JR., M. B.; TECLE, A. & NEARY, D. G. (2003): A Watershed Management Approach to Land Stewardship. In: Journal of the Arizona-Nevada Academy of Science 35(1), 1-4. URL: http://www.jstor. org/stable/40056921 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- FINLAYSON, D. P. & MONTGOMERY, D. R. (2003): Modeling large-scale fluvial erosion in geographic information systems. In: Geomorphology 53(1-2), 147-164. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0169555X02003513 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- FLACKE, W.; AUERSWALD, K. & NEUFANG, L. (1990): Combining a modified Universal Soil Loss Equation with a digital terrain model for computing high resolution maps of soil loss resulting from rain wash. In: Catena 17, 383– 397.
- FLANAGAN, D. C.; GILLEY, J. E. & FRANTI, T. G. (2007): Water Erosion Prediction Project (WEPP): Development History, Model Capabilities, and Future Enhancements. In: Biological Systems Engineering: Papers and Publications 27, 1603-1612. URL: http:// digitalcommons.unl.edu/biosysengfacpub/27.
- FLÜGEL, W.-A. (1997): Combining GIS with regional hydrological modelling using hydrological response units (HRUs): An application from Germany. In: Mathematics and Computers in Simulation 43(3-6), 297-304. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S037847549700013X (visited on 12/15/2013).
- FÖRCH, G. & SCHÜTT, B. (2004): Watershed Management An Introduction. In: FÖRCH, G. & THIEMANN, S. (Eds.): Lake Abaya Research Symposium 2004. 4. FWU – Water Resources Publications, 119–133. Siegen.
- FOSTER, I. D. L.; BOARDMAN, J. & KEAY-BRIGHT, J. (2007): Sediment tracing and environmental history for two small catchments, Karoo Uplands, South Africa. In: Geomorphology 90(1-2), 126-143. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/s0169555X07000323 (visited on 02/13/2015).

- FOSTER, I. D. L.; ROWNTREE, K.; BOARDMAN, J.; MIGHALL, T.; KUHN, N. & GREENWOOD, P. (2014): The impact of changing landscape connectivity on sedimentation in Karoo farm dams, South Africa: the case of breached dams. In: Triannual Conference of the International Association For Sediment Water Science (IASWS). Grahamstown, South Africa. URL: http://nectar.northampton.ac. uk/7015/.
- FOSTER, S. S. D. & CHILTON, P. J. (2003): Groundwater: the processes and global significance of aquifer degradation. In: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 358(1440), 1957–1972. URL: http: //rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/358/ 1440/1957 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- FRAEDRICH, K. & LARNDER, C. (1993): Scaling regimes of composite rainfall time series. In: Tellus A 45(4), 289– 298. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1034/j.1600-0870.1993.t01-3-00004.x/abstract (visited on 01/31/2015).
- FRENKEN, K. (2005): Irrigation in Africa in figures AQUA-STAT Survey - 2005. 29. FAO Water Reports. Rome. url: ftp://ftp.fao.org/agl/aglw/docs/wr29_eng_ including_countries.pdf (visited on 01/10/2015).
- FRESNEAU, C.; GHASHGHAIE, J. & CORNIC, G. (2007): Drought effect on nitrate reductase and sucrosephosphate synthase activities in wheat (Triticum durum L.): role of leaf internal CO2. In: Journal of Experimental Botany 58(11), 2983-2992. URL: http://jxb. oxfordjournals.org/content/58/11/2983 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- FRONEMAN, A.; MANGNALL, M. J.; LITTLE, R. M. & CROWE, T. M. (2001): Waterbird assemblages and associated habitat characteristics of farm ponds in the Western Cape, South Africa. In: Biodiversity & Conservation 10(2), 251-270. URL: http://link.springer. com/article/10.1023/A:1008904421948 (visited on 10/29/2013).
- FRYIRS, K. A.; BRIERLEY, G. J.; PRESTON, N. J. & KASAI, M. (2007): Buffers, barriers and blankets: The (dis)connectivity of catchment-scale sediment cascades. In: CATENA 70(1), 49-67. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816206001548 (visited on 09/19/2013).
- FRYIRS, K. & BRIERLEY, G. J. (2001): Variability in sediment delivery and storage along river courses in Bega catchment, NSW, Australia: implications for geomorphic river recovery. In: Geomorphology 38(3-4), 237-265. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0169555X00000933 (visited on 02/12/2015).

- GABRIELS, D. (1999): The effect of slope length on the amount and size distribution of eroded silt loam soils: short slope laboratory experiments on interrill erosion.
 In: Geomorphology 28(1-2), 169-172. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169555X9800107X (visited on 01/06/2015).
- GABRIELS, D.; GHEKIERE, G.; SCHIETTECATTE, W. & ROT-TIERS, I. (2003): Assessment of USLE cover-management C-factors for 40 crop rotation systems on arable farms in the Kemmelbeek watershed, Belgium. In: Soil and Tillage Research 74(1), 47–53. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0167198703000928 (visited on 02/10/2015).
- GAO, Y.; YANG, L.; SHEN, X.; LI, X.; SUN, J.; DUAN, A. & WU, L. (2014): Winter wheat with subsurface drip irrigation (SDI): Crop coefficients, water-use estimates, and effects of SDI on grain yield and water use efficiency. In: Agricultural Water Management 146, 1-10. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378377414002091 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- GARCIA RODRIGUEZ, J. L. & GIMENEZ SUAREZ, M. C. (2012): Methodology for estimating the topographic factor LS of RUSLE3D and USPED using GIS. In: Geomorphology 175-176, 98-106. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0169555X1200325X (visited on 11/17/2014).
- GARCÍA-RUIZ, J. M. (2010): The effects of land uses on soil erosion in Spain: A review. In: CATENA 81(1), 1-11. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S034181621000010X (visited on 12/20/2014).
- GASH, J. H. C.; WALLACE, J. S.; LLOYD, C. R.; DOLMAN, A. J.; SIVAKUMAR, M. V. K. & RENARD, C. (1991): Measurements of evaporation from fallow Sahelian savannah at the start of the dry season. In: Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 117(500), 749–760. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ qj.49711750005/abstract (visited on 01/20/2015).
- GBETIBOUO, G. A. & HASSAN, R. M. (2005): Measuring the economic impact of climate change on major South African field crops: a Ricardian approach. In: Global and Planetary Change. International Young Scientists' Global Change Conference 2003 47(2-4), 143-152. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0921818104001948 (visited on 01/19/2015).
- GELDENHUYS, C. J. (1994): Bergwind Fires and the Location Pattern of Forest Patches in the Southern Cape Landscape, South Africa. In: Journal of Biogeography 21(1), 49-62. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 2845603 (visited on 01/26/2015).

- GETZIN, S.; WIEGAND, K.; WIEGAND, T.; YIZHAQ, H.; VON HARDENBERG, J. & MERON, E. (2015): Adopting a spatially explicit perspective to study the mysterious fairy circles of Namibia. In: Ecography 38(1), 1-11. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ecog.00911/ abstract (visited on 02/23/2015).
- GILIOMEE, J. H. (2006): Conserving and increasing biodiversity in the large-scale, intensive farming systems of the Western Cape, South Africa. In: South African Journal of Science 102(9 & 10), 375–378. URL: http://reference. sabinet.co.za/sa_epublication_article/sajsci_ v102_n9_10_a4 (visited on 01/27/2015).
- GILLETTE, H. P. (1950): A Creeping Drought Underway — A Study of the Relationship Between Recent, Current and Prospective Droughts. In: Water and Sewerage Works 3, 104–105.
- GILLIAN, M. & GOVENDER, S. (2013): State of Environment Outlook Report for the Western Cape Province – Land Chapter. Tech. rep., 35. URL: http://eadp.westerncape. gov.za/sites/default/files/news/files/2013-05-30/state-of-environment-outlook-report-land.pdf (visited on 02/22/2015).
- GIOVANNINI, G.; VALLEJO, R.; LUCCHESI, S.; BAUTISTA, S.; CIOMPI, S. & LLOVET, J. (2001): Effects of land use and eventual fire on soil erodibility in dry Mediterranean conditions. In: Forest Ecology and Management. Broadscale aspects of fire and ecosystems 147(1), 15–23. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378112700004370 (visited on 02/01/2015).
- GIRÁLDEZ, J. V.; AYUSO, J. L.; GARCIA, A.; LÓPEZ, J. G. & ROLDÁN, J. (1988): Water harvesting strategies in the semiarid climate of southeastern Spain. In: Agricultural Water Management. Agrohydrology - Recent Developments 14(1-4), 253-263. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0378377488900790 (visited on 12/17/2014).
- GLANTZ, M. H. & KATZ, R. W. (1977): When is a drought a drought? In: Nature 267(5608), 192–193. URL: http: //adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1977Natur.267..192G (visited on 01/12/2015).
- GOMEZ, C.; VISCARRA ROSSEL, R. A. & MCBRATNEY, A. B. (2008): Soil organic carbon prediction by hyperspectral remote sensing and field vis-NIR spectroscopy: An Australian case study. In: Geoderma 146(3-4), 403-411. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016706108001729 (visited on 02/09/2015).
- GOMMES, R. & PETRASSI, F. (1994): Rainfall variability and drought in Sub-Saharan Africa since 1960. **9**. FAO Agrometeorology Series Working Paper (FAO). Rome.

- GOODESS, C. M. & JONES, P. D. (2002): Links between circulation and changes in the characteristics of Iberian rainfall. In: International Journal of Climatology 22(13), 1593-1615. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.810/abstract (visited on 01/19/2015).
- GOODRICH, D. C.; FAURÈS, J.-M.; WOOLHISER, D. A.; LANE, L. J. & SOROOSHIAN, S. (1995): Measurement and analysis of small-scale convective storm rainfall variability. In: Journal of Hydrology 173(1-4), 283-308. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 002216949502703R (visited on 01/20/2015).
- GÖRGENS, A. H. M. & VAN WILGEN, B. W. (2004): Invasive alien plants and water resources in South Africa: current understanding, predictive ability and research challenges: working for water. In: South African Journal of Science 100(1 & 2), 27–33.
- GOUDIE, A. S. (2005): The drainage of Africa since the Cretaceous. In: Geomorphology 67(3-4), 437-456. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0169555X04002946 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- GOVERS, G. (2011): Misapplications and Misconceptions of Erosion Models. In: MORGAN, R. P. C. & NEARING, M. (Eds.): Handbook of Erosion Modelling, 117–134. Hoboken.
- GRANT, P. J. (1984): Drought effect on high-altitude forests, Ruahine Range, North Island, New Zealand. In: New Zealand Journal of Botany 22(1), 15–27. URL: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/0028825X.1984.10425231 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM (2014): Geographic Resources Analysis Support System (GRASS GIS) Software Version 6.4.4. Vienna. url: http://grass.osgeo.org (visited on 11/13/2014).
- GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM; CAPLAN, J.; RUESINK, M. & MITASOVA, H. (2014a): r.flow - Construction of slope curves (flowlines), flowpath lengths, and flowline densities (upslope areas) from a raster digital elevation model (DEM). URL: http://grass.osgeo.org/grass64/ manuals/r.flow.html (visited on 01/13/2015).
- GRASS DEVELOPMENT TEAM; MITAS, L.; MITASOVA, H.; KOSINOVSKY, I.; MCCAULEY, D. & HOFIERKA, J. (2014b): v.surf.rst - Spatial approximation and topographic analysis from given point or isoline data in vector format to floating point raster format using regularized spline with tension. URL: http://grass.osgeo. org/grass64/manuals/v.surf.rst.html (visited on 01/15/2015).
- GREENE, A. M.; HELLMUTH, M. & LUMSDEN, T. (2012): Stochastic decadal climate simulations for the Berg

and Breede Water Management Areas, Western Cape province, South Africa. In: Water Resources Research 48(6), W06504. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1029/2011WR011152/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).

- GREENWOOD, K. L.; LAWSON, A. R. & KELLY, K. B. (2009): The water balance of irrigated forages in northern Victoria, Australia. In: Agricultural Water Management 96(5), 847–858. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378377408003119 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- GRIFFIN, M. L.; BEASLEY, D. B.; FLETCHER, J. J. & FOS-TER, G. R. (1988): Estimating soil loss on topographically non-uniform field and farm units. In: Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 43(4), 326–331.
- GRUBER, S. & PECKHAM, S. (2009): Chapter 7 Land-Surface Parameters and Objects in Hydrology. In: HENGL, T. & REUTER, H. I. (Eds.): Developments in Soil Science. 33, 171–194.
- GUIJARRO, J. A. (2013): climatol: Some Tools for Climatology: series homogenization, plus windrose and Walter&Lieth diagrams. URL: http://www.climatol.eu/ (visited on 12/14/2013).
- GURBANOV, E. A. (2010): Soil degradation due to erosion under furrow irrigation. In: Eurasian Soil Science 43(12), 1387-1393. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/ 10.1134/S1064229310120094 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- HAKALA, J. P. & HARTMAN, K. J. (2004): Drought effect on stream morphology and brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) populations in forested headwater streams. In: Hydrobiologia 515(1-3), 203-213. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/B:HYDR.0000027330. 12182.24 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- HALPERN, A.B.W. & MEADOWS, M.E. (2013): Fifty years of land use change in the Swartland, Western Cape, South Africa: characteristics, causes and consequences.
 In: South African Geographical Journal 95(1), 38-49.
 URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03736245.2013.
 806101 (visited on 05/31/2014).
- HAMMER, N. J.; JANKA, H.-T. & MÜLLER, E. (2010): Threedimensional Simulations of Mixing Instabilities in Supernova Explosions. In: The Astrophysical Journal 714(2), 1371–1385. URL: http://beta.iopscience.iop.org/ 0004-637X/714/2/1371 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- HANDIA, L.; TEMBO, J. M. & MWIINDWA, C. (2003): Potential of rainwater harvesting in urban Zambia. In: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C 28(20-27), 893-896. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1474706503001694 (visited on 12/17/2014).

- HARTMANN, M. O.; MCPHEE, P. J. & BODE, M. L. (1989): The erodibility of some soil series In the pineappleproducing coastal area of the eastern Cape. In: South African Journal of Plant and Soil 6(4), 271–275. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02571862.1989.10634525 (visited on 02/16/2015).
- HARTMANN, S. (2005): The World as a Process: Simulations in the Natural and Social Sciences. URL: http://philsciarchive.pitt.edu/2412/.
- HASSAN, F. A. (1986): Desert environment and origins of agriculture in Egypt. In: Norwegian Archaeological Review 19(2), 63-76. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 00293652.1986.9965432 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- HAYLOCK, M. R.; HOFSTRA, N.; KLEIN TANK, A. M. G.; KLOK, E. J.; JONES, P. D. & NEW, M. (2008): A European daily high-resolution gridded data set of surface temperature and precipitation for 1950–2006. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 113(D20), D20119. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1029/2008JD010201/abstract (visited on 01/21/2015).
- HAZEN, A. (1892): Some physical properties of sands and gravels: with special reference to their use in filtration.In: Annual Report, Massachusetts State Board of Health 24, 539–556.
- HEATHCOTE, I. W. (2009): Integrated watershed management: principles and practice. Hoboken. URL: http:// www.gbv.de/dms/bowker/toc/9780470376256.pdf (visited on 12/16/2014).
- HEDDINGHAUS, T. R. & SABOL, P. (1991): A review of the Palmer Drought Severity Index and where do we go from here? In: Proceedings of the Seventh Conference on Applied Climatology 246, 242–247.
- HEIJNIS, C. E.; LOMBARD, A. T.; COWLING, R. M. & DESMET, P. G. (1999): Picking up the pieces: a bio-sphere reserve framework for a fragmented landscape
 The Coastal Lowlands of the Western Cape, South Africa. In: Biodiversity & Conservation 8(4), 471-496. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A: 1008807628092 (visited on 09/21/2013).
- HEIM, R. R. (2002): A Review of Twentieth-Century Drought Indices Used in the United States. In: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 83(8), 1149-1165. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/ 1520-0477(2002)083%3C1149:AROTDI%3E2.3.C0;2 (visited on 09/14/2014).
- HERNÁNDEZ-MORA, N.; LLAMAS, R. & CORTINA, L. M. (2001): Misconceptions in Aquifer Over-exploitation: Implications for Water Policy in Southern Europe. In: DOSI, C. (Ed.): Agricultural Use of Groundwater. Fondazione

Eni Enrico Mattei (FEEM) Series on Economics, Energy and Environment 17, 107–126. Amsterdam.

- HERSHFIELD, D. M. (1981): The magnitude of the hydrological frequency factor in maximum rainfall estimation. In: Hydrological Sciences Bulletin 26(2), 171–177. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02626668109490874 (visited on 01/24/2015).
- HICKEY, R. (2000): Slope Angle and Slope Length Solutions for GIS. In: Cartography **29**(1), 1-8. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1080/00690805.2000.9714334 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- HIJMANS, R. J. (2014): raster: Geographic data analysis and modeling. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package= raster (visited on 11/21/2014).
- HILL, J. & SCHÜTT, B. (2000): Mapping Complex Patterns of Erosion and Stability in Dry Mediterranean Ecosystems. In: Remote Sensing of Environment 74(3), 557-569. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0034425700001462 (visited on 02/09/2015).
- HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (2000): Meteorological drought. In: HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (Eds.): Drought Event Definition, 6–8. Oslo.
- HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (2003): Estimation of regional meteorological and hydrological drought characteristics: a case study for Denmark. In: Journal of Hydrology 281(3), 230-247. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0022169403002336 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- HISDAL, H.; TALLAKSEN, L. M.; STAHL, K.; ZAIDMAN, M.; DEMUTH, S. & GUSTARD, A. (2000): Hydrological drought – streamflow. In: HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (Eds.): Drought Event Definition, 8–15. Oslo.
- HOEKSTRA, A. Y. & HUNG, P. Q. (2002): Virtual water trade. A quantification of virtual water flows between nations in relation to international crop trade. **11**. Value of Water Research Report Series. Delft.
- HOFF, H. (2013): Vulnerability of Ecosystem Services in the Mediterranean Region to Climate Changes in Combination with Other Pressures. In: NAVARRA, A. & TUBIANA, L. (Eds.): Regional Assessment of Climate Change in the Mediterranean. Advances in Global Change Research 51, 9–29. Amsterdam.
- HOFFMAN, M. T. & ROHDE, R. F. (2011): Rivers Through Time: Historical Changes in the Riparian Vegetation of the Semi-Arid, Winter Rainfall Region of South Africa in Response to Climate and Land Use. In: Journal of the History of Biology 44(1), 59–80. URL: http://link.

springer.com/article/10.1007/s10739-010-9246-4
(visited on 12/09/2014).

- HOFFMAN, M. T. & TODD, S. (2000): A National Review of Land Degradation in South Africa: The Influence of Biophysical and Socio-economic Factors. In: Journal of Southern African Studies 26(4), 743–758. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/713683611 (visited on 02/16/2015).
- HOFFMANN OLIVEIRA, A.; DA SILVA, M. A.; NAVES SILVA, M. L.; CURI, N.; KLINKE, G. & DE FREITAS, D. A. F. (2013): Development of Topographic Factor Modeling for Application in Soil Erosion Models. In: HERNANDEZ SO-RIANO, M. C. (Ed.): Soil Processes and Current Trends in Quality Assessment, 111–138.
- HOFIERKA, J.; MITASOVA, H. & MITAS, L. (2002a): GRASS and modeling landscape processes using duality between particles and fields. In: Proceedings of the Open Source GIS-GRASS users conference. Trento, Italy, 1–11.
- HOFIERKA, J.; PARAJKA, J.; MITASOVA, H. & MITAS, L. (2002b): Multivariate Interpolation of Precipitation Using Regularized Spline with Tension. In: Transactions in GIS 6(2), 135–150. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1111/1467-9671.00101/abstract (visited on 01/31/2015).
- HOLLOWAY, A.; FORTUNE, G. & CHASI, V. (2010): RADAR Western Cape 2010. Risk and Development Annual Review. Cape Town.
- HOLLOWAY, A.; FORTUNE, G.; ZWEIG, P.; GARRETT, L.; BENJAMIN, A.; CHASI, V. & DE WAAL, J. (2012): Eden and Central Karoo Drought Disaster 2009 -2011: "The Scramble For Water". Stellenbosch.
- HOLMES, E.; LAVIK, G.; FISCHER, G.; SEGL, M.; RUHLAND, G. & WEFER, G. (2002): Seasonal variability of 15N in sinking particles in the Benguela upwelling region. In: Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 49(2), 377-394. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0967063701000553 (visited on 12/08/2014).
- HOMER, C.; DEWITZ, J.; FRY, J.; COAN, M.; HOSSAIN, N.; LARSON, C.; HEROLD, N.; MCKERROW, A.; VAN DRIEL, J. N. & WICKHAM, J. (2007): Completion of the 2001 National Land Cover Database for the Counterminous United States. In: Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing **73**(4), 337–341.
- HOYOS, N.; WAYLEN, P. R. & JARAMILLO, Á. (2005): Seasonal and spatial patterns of erosivity in a tropical watershed of the Colombian Andes. In: Journal of Hydrology **314**(1-4), 177-191. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0022169405001538 (visited on 01/06/2015).

- HULME, M. (1996): Recent Climatic Change in the World's Drylands. In: Geophysical Research Letters 23(1), 61-64.
 URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/95GL03586/abstract (visited on 02/21/2015).
- HUTCHINGS, L.; VAN DER LINGEN, C. D.; SHANNON, L. J.; CRAWFORD, R. J. M.; VERHEYE, H. M. S.; BARTHOLO-MAE, C. H.; VAN DER PLAS, A. K.; LOUW, D.; KREINER, A.; OSTROWSKI, M.; FIDEL, Q.; BARLOW, R. G.; LA-MONT, T.; COETZEE, J.; SHILLINGTON, F.; VEITCH, J.; CURRIE, J. C. & MONTEIRO, P. M. S. (2009): The Benguela Current: An ecosystem of four components. In: Progress in Oceanography. Eastern Boundary Upwelling Ecosystems: Integrative and Comparative Approaches :Integrative and comparative approaches, 2-8 June 2008, Las Palmas, Gran Canaria, Spain Eastern Boundary Upwelling Ecosystems Symposium 83(1-4), 15-32. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0079661109001104 (visited on 12/08/2014).
- INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON WATER AN ENVIRON-MENT (1992): The Dublin statement on water and sustainable development. Dublin. URL: http:// acuiferoguaranirrii.comuv.com/Archivos/DUBLIN. doc.
- INTERNATIONAL UNION OF SOIL SCIENCE WORKING GROUP & FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS (2006): World reference base for soil resources. A framework for international classification, correlation and communication. **103**. World Soil Resources Report. Rome.
- ISLAM, K.; SINGH, B. & MCBRATNEY, A. (2003): Simultaneous estimation of several soil properties by ultraviolet, visible, and near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy. In: Soil Research 41(6), 1101–1114.
- JANOWIAK, J. E.; ROPELEWSKI, C. F. & HALPERT, M. S. (1986): The Precipitation Anomaly Classification: A Method for Monitoring Regional Precipitation Deficiency and Excess on a Global Scale. In: Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology 25(4), 565-574. URL: http: //journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0450(1986)025%3C0565:TPACAM%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 01/20/2015).
- JASPERS, F. G. W. (2003): Institutional arrangements for integrated river basin management. In: Water policy 5(1), 77–90.
- JEFFREY, P. & GEAREY, M. (2006): Integrated water resources management: lost on the road from ambition to realisation? In: Water Science & Technology 53(1), 1-8. URL: https://dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk/handle/ 1826/1026 (visited on 12/12/2014).

- JETTEN, V.; DE ROO, A. & FAVIS-MORTLOCK, D. (1999): Evaluation of field-scale and catchment-scale soil erosion models. In: CATENA 37(3-4), 521-541. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816299000375 (visited on 01/07/2015).
- JETTEN, V. & FAVIS-MORTLOCK, D. (2006): Modelling Soil Erosion in Europe. In: BOARDMAN, J. & POESEN, J. (Eds.): Soil Erosion in Europe, 695–716. Hoboken.
- JOHNSON, S. D. (1996): Pollination, Adaptation and Speciation Models in the Cape Flora of South Africa. In: Taxon 45(1), 59–66. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 1222585 (visited on 12/11/2014).
- JOVANOVIC, N. Z.; JARMAIN, C.; DE CLERCQ, W. P.; VER-MEULEN, T. & FEY, M. V. (2011): Total evaporation estimates from a Renosterveld and dryland wheat/fallow surface at the Voëlvlei Nature Reserve (South Africa). In: Water SA 37(4), 471-482. URL: http://www.ajol. info/index.php/wsa/article/view/71424 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- JUERGENS, N. (2013): The Biological Underpinnings of Namib Desert Fairy Circles. In: Science 339(6127), 1618-1621. URL: http://www.sciencemag.org/content/339/ 6127/1618 (visited on 12/11/2014).
- JURY, M. R. & LEVEY, K. (1993a): The climatology and characteristics of drought in the eastern Cape of South Africa. In: International Journal of Climatology 13(6), 629-641. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/joc.3370130604/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).
- JURY, M. R. & LEVEY, K. (1993b): The Eastern Cape drought. In: Water SA 19(2), 133–137.
- KADOMURA, H. (2005): Climate anomalies and extreme events in africa in 2003, including heavy rains and floods that occurred during northern hemisphere summer. In: African study monographs. Supplementary issue. 30, 165–181. URL: http://repository.kulib.kyoto-u.ac. jp/dspace/handle/2433/68453 (visited on 01/16/2015).
- KAKEMBO, V. & ROWNTREE, K. M. (2003): The relationship between land use and soil erosion in the communal lands near Peddie town, Eastern Cape, South Africa. In: Land Degradation & Development 14(1), 39-49. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr. 509/abstract (visited on 02/13/2015).
- KANDELOUS, M. M.; KAMAI, T.; VRUGT, J. A.; ŠIMŮNEK, J.; HANSON, B. & HOPMANS, J. W. (2012): Evaluation of subsurface drip irrigation design and management parameters for alfalfa. In: Agricultural Water Management 109, 81–93. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378377412000649 (visited on 12/15/2014).

- KANE, R. P. (2009): Periodicities, ENSO effects and trends of some South African rainfall series: an update. In: South African Journal of Science 105(5-6), 199-207. URL: http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_ abstract&pid=S0038-23532009000300013&lng=en&nrm= iso&tlng=pt (visited on 01/16/2015).
- KARL, T. R. (1986): The Sensitivity of the Palmer Drought Severity Index and Palmer's Z-Index to their Calibration Coefficients Including Potential Evapotranspiration.
 In: Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology 25(1), 77-86. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10. 1175/1520-0450(1986)025%3C0077:TS0TPD%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- KARL, T. R. & TRENBERTH, K. E. (2003): Modern Global Climate Change. In: Science **302**(5651), 1719–1723. URL: http://www.sciencemag.org/content/302/5651/1719 (visited on 01/24/2015).
- KARSTEN GROUP (2015): Karsten Group. URL: http://www.karsten.co.za/ (visited on 02/22/2015).
- KECK, C. M. & MÜLLER, R. H. (2008): Size analysis of submicron particles by laser diffractometry—90% of the published measurements are false. In: International Journal of Pharmaceutics 355(1-2), 150-163. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378517307010113 (visited on 07/08/2013).
- KELLY, R. N. & ETZLER, F. M. (2013): What is wrong with Laser Diffraction? A Critical Review of Current Laser Diffraction Methods for Particle Size Analysis. URL: www. donner-tech.com/whats_wrong_with_ld.pdf (visited on 07/15/2013).
- KEYANTASH, J. & DRACUP, J. A. (2002): The Quantification of Drought: An Evaluation of Drought Indices. In: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 83(8), 1167– 1180. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10. 1175/1520-0477(2002)083%3C1191:TQODAE%3E2.3.C0;2 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- KHANNA, M.; MALANO, H. M.; FENTON, J. D. & TUR-RAL, H. (2003): Design and management guidelines for contour basin irrigation layouts in southeast Australia. In: Agricultural Water Management 62(1), 19-35. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378377403000763 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- KING, B. A. & BJORNEBERG, D. L. (2011): Evaluation of Potential Runoff and Erosion of Four Center Pivot Irrigation Sprinklers. In: Applied Engineering in Agriculture 27(1), 75-85. URL: http://eprints.nwisrl.ars.usda. gov/1424/ (visited on 12/15/2014).
- KING, L. C. (1951): South African Scenery. A textbook of Geomorphology. London, Edinburgh.

- KINNELL, P. I. A. (1997): Runoff ratio as a factor in the empirical modelling of soil erosion by individual rainstorms. In: Soil Research 35(1), 1-14. URL: http://www.publish. csiro.au/paper/S95085 (visited on 01/05/2015).
- KINNELL, P. I. A. (2001): The USLE-M and modeling erosion within catchments. In: STOTT, D. E.; MOHTAR, R. H. & STEINHARDT, G. C. (Eds.): Sustaining the Global Farm. Selected papers from the 10th International Soil Conservation Meeting held May 24-29, 1999 at Purdue University and the USDA-ARS National Soil Erosion Research Laboratory, 924–928. Purdue.
- KINNELL, P. I. A. & RISSE, L. M. (1998): USLE-M: empirical modeling rainfall erosion through runoff and sediment concentration. In: Soil Science Society of America Journal 62(6), 1667–1672.
- KNOX, J. C. (2001): Agricultural influence on landscape sensitivity in the Upper Mississippi River Valley. In: CATENA 42(2-4), 193-224. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816200001387 (visited on 09/21/2013).
- KONERT, M. & VANDENBERGHE, J. (1997): Comparison of laser grain size analysis with pipette and sieve analysis: a solution for the underestimation of the clay fraction. In: Sedimentology 44(3), 523–535. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-3091. 1997.d01-38.x/abstract (visited on 06/11/2013).
- KONIKOW, L. F. & KENDY, E. (2005): Groundwater depletion: A global problem. In: Hydrogeology Journal 13(1), 317-320. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10. 1007/s10040-004-0411-8 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- KOOHAFKAN, P. & STEWART, B. A. (2008): Water and Cereals in Drylands. London, VA.
- KÖPPEN, W. (1923): Die Klimate der Erde. Leipzig.
- KOSMAS, C.; DANALATOS, N.; CAMMERAAT, L. H.; CHABART, M.; DIAMANTOPOULOS, J.; FARAND, R.; GUTIERREZ, L.; JACOB, A.; MARQUES, H.; MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, J.; MIZARA, A.; MOUSTAKAS, N.; NICOLAU, J. M.; OLIVEROS, C.; PINNA, G.; PUDDU, R.; PUIGDEFAB-REGAS, J.; ROXO, M.; SIMAO, A.; STAMOU, G.; TOMASI, N.; USAI, D. & VACCA, A. (1997): The effect of land use on runoff and soil erosion rates under Mediterranean conditions. In: CATENA 29(1), 45–59. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816296000628.
- KOTTEK, M.; GRIESER, J.; BECK, C.; RUDOLF, B. & RUBEL, F. (2006): World Map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. In: Meteorologische Zeitschrift 15(3), 259–263.

- KOZENY, J. (1927): Über kapillare Leitung des Wassers im Boden: (Aufstieg, Versickerung und Anwendung auf die Bewässerung). Wien.
- KRAUSE, J. (2013): Holozäne Landschaftsentwicklung und Paläohydrologie der Zentralen Sahara. PhD thesis. Berlin: Freie Universität Berlin, Germany. URL: http: //www.diss.fu-berlin.de/diss/receive/FUDISS_ thesis_000000095675 (visited on 01/14/2015).
- KREEB, K. (1964): Ökologische Grundlagen der Bewässerungskulturen in den Subtropen: mit besonderer Berücksichtigung des Vorderen Orients. Stuttgart. URL: http://bvbr.bib-bvb.de:8991/F?func=service& doc_library=BVB01&local_base=BVB01&doc_number= 001259161&line_number=0001&func_code=DB_RECORDS& service_type=MEDIA%20%7C3%20Inhaltsverzeichnis (visited on 12/15/2014).
- KRUGER, A. C.; GOLIGER, A. M.; RETIEF, J. V. & SEKELE, S. (2010): Strong wind climatic zones in South Africa. In: Wind and Structures 13(1), 1-19. URL: http:// researchspace.csir.co.za/dspace/handle/10204/4187 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- KUMAR, S. & KUSHWAHA, S. P. S. (2013): Modelling soil erosion risk based on RUSLE-3D using GIS in a Shivalik subwatershed. In: Journal of Earth System Science 122(2), 389–398. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10. 1007/s12040-013-0276-0 (visited on 01/05/2015).
- KUPER, R. & KRÖPELIN, S. (2006): Climate-Controlled Holocene Occupation in the Sahara: Motor of Africa's Evolution. In: Science **313**(5788), 803-807. URL: http: //www.sciencemag.org/content/313/5788/803 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- LAFLEN, J. M. & MOLDENHAUER, W. C. (2003): Pioneering Soil Erosion Prediction: The USLE Story. Ed. by ZOEBISCH, M. A. 1. World Association of Soil & Water Conservation – WASWC Special Publication. Beijing.
- LAL, R. (1998): Soil Erosion Impact on Agronomic Productivity and Environment Quality. In: Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 17(4), 319-464. URL: http: //www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/ 07352689891304249 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- LAL, R. (2001): Soil degradation by erosion. In: Land Degradation & Development 12(6), 519-539. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr.472/ abstract (visited on 12/20/2014).
- Lal, R.; Sobecki, T. M.; Iivari, T. & Kimble, J. M. (2004): Soil degradation in the United States: extent, severity, and trends. Boca Raton.
- Lang, D. T. (2013): RCurl: General network (HTTP/FTP/...) client interface for R. url: http:

//CRAN.R-project.org/package=RCurl (visited on 09/07/2014).

- LARSEN, I. J. & MACDONALD, L. H. (2007): Predicting postfire sediment yields at the hillslope scale: Testing RUSLE and Disturbed WEPP. In: Water Resources Research 43(11), W11412. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1029/2006WR005560/abstract (visited on 02/16/2015).
- LAWRIMORE, J. H.; MENNE, M. J.; GLEASON, B. E.; WILLIAMS, C. N.; WUERTZ, D. B.; VOSE, R. S. & REN-NIE, J. (2011): An overview of the Global Historical Climatology Network monthly mean temperature data set, version 3. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 116(D19), D19121. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2011JD016187/abstract (visited on 01/20/2015).
- LAWTON, H. W. & WILKE, P. J. (1979): Ancient Agricultural Systems in Dry Regions. In: HALL, A. E.; CANNELL, G. H. & LAWTON, H. W. (Eds.): Agriculture in semi-arid environments. Ecological studies 34. Berlin
- LÁZARO, R.; RODRIGO, F. S.; GUTIÉRREZ, L.; DOMINGO, F. & PUIGDEFÁBREGAS, J. (2001): Analysis of a 30-year rainfall record (1967–1997) in semi-arid SE Spain for implications on vegetation. In: Journal of Arid Environments 48(3), 373–395. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0140196300907559 (visited on 01/20/2015).
- LE MAITRE, D. C.; VAN WILGEN, B. W.; GELDERBLOM, C. M.; BAILEY, C.; CHAPMAN, R. A. & NEL, J. A. (2002): Invasive alien trees and water resources in South Africa: case studies of the costs and benefits of management. In: Forest Ecology and Management 160(1-3), 143-159. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378112701004741 (visited on 01/26/2015).
- LE MAITRE, D. C.; VERSFELD, D. B. & CHAPMAN, R. A. (2000): Impact of invading alien plants on surface water resources in South Africa: a preliminary assessment. In: Water SA 26(3), 397–408. URL: http://researchspace.csir.co.za/dspace/handle/10204/2121 (visited on 01/26/2015).
- LE ROUX, J. J.; MORGENTHAL, T. L.; MALHERBE, J.; PRE-TORIUS, D. J. & SUMNER, P. D. (2008): Water erosion prediction at a national scale for South Africa. In: Water SA 34(3), 305-314. URL: http://reference.sabinet.co. za/webx/access/electronic_journals/waters/waters_ v34_n3_a3.pdf.
- LE ROUX, J. J.; NEWBY, T. S. & SUMNER, P. D. (2007): Monitoring soil erosion in South Africa at a regional scale: review and recommendations. In: South African Journal

of Science 103(7-8), 329-335. URL: http://www.scielo. org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid=S0038-23532007000400017&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=pt (visited on 02/12/2015).

- LE ROUX, J. J. & SUMNER, P. D. (2012): Factors controlling gully development: Comparing continuous and discontinuous gullies. In: Land Degradation & Development 23(5), 440-449. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ 10.1002/ldr.1083/abstract (visited on 02/12/2015).
- LE ROUX, J. S. (1990): Spatial variations in the rate of fluvial erosion (sediment production) over South Africa. In: Water SA 16(3), 185–194.
- LECO CORPORATION (2006): TruSpec CHN–S–Analyzer. St. Joseph.
- LEHRSCH, G. A.; SOJKA, R. E.; REED, J. L.; HENDERSON, R. A. & KOSTKA, S. J. (2011): Surfactant and irrigation effects on wettable soils: runoff, erosion, and water retention responses. In: Hydrological Processes **25**(5), 766– 777. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1002/hyp.7866/abstract (visited on 12/15/2014).
- LEHRTER, J. C. (2006): Effects of Land Use and Land Cover, Stream Discharge, and Interannual Climate on the Magnitude and Timing of Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Organic Carbon Concentrations in Three Coastal Plain Watersheds. In: Water Environment Research **78**(12), 2356– 2368.
- LEICHENKO, R. M. & O'BRIEN, K. L. (2002): The Dynamics of Rural Vulnerability to Global Change: The Case of southern Africa. In: Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 7(1), 1–18. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1023/A:1015860421954 (visited on 01/17/2015).
- LEMON, J. (2006): Plotrix: a package in the red light district of R. In: R-News 6(4), 8–12.
- LENNARTZ, B.; HORN, R.; DUTTMANN, R.; GERKE, H. H.; TIPPKÖTTER, R.; EICKHORST, T.; JANSSEN, I.; JANSSEN, M.; RÜTH, B.; SANDER, T.; SHI, X.; SUMFLETH, K.; TAUBNER, H. & ZHANG, B. (2009): Ecological safe management of terraced rice paddy landscapes. In: Soil and Tillage Research. Soil Management for Sustainability 102(2), 179–192. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0167198708001098 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- LENTSOANE, P. M. M. (2006): Evaluation of erosion models and field assessment methods as tools for monitoring and evaluation of soil erosion in landcare. Pretoria. URL: http://repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/24186 (visited on 02/16/2015).

- LIGHTFOOT, D. R. (1996): Moroccan khettara: Traditional irrigation and progressive desiccation. In: Geoforum 27(2), 261-273. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0016718596000085 (visited on 12/17/2014).
- LILLY, A.; GRIEVE, I. C.; JORDAN, C.; BAGGALEY, N. J.; BIRNIE, R. V.; FUTTER, M. N.; HIGGINS, A.; HOUGH, R.; JONES. M.; NOLAND, A. J.; STUTTER, M. I. & TOW-ERS, W. (2009): Climate change, land management and erosion in the organic and organo-mineral soils in Scotland and Northern Ireland. In: Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report **325**, 53–103.
- LINDER, H. P. (2003): The radiation of the Cape flora, southern Africa. In: Biological Reviews 78(4), 597-638. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1017/ S1464793103006171/abstract (visited on 09/01/2014).
- LINDER, H. P. (2005): Evolution of diversity: the Cape flora. In: Trends in Plant Science 10(11), 536-541. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S136013850500227X (visited on 12/09/2014).
- LINDER, H. P. & MANN, D. M. (1998): The phylogeny and biogeography of Thamnochortus (Restionaceae). In: Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 128(4), 319– 357. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1111/j.1095-8339.1998.tb02125.x/abstract (visited on 12/11/2014).
- LINDESAY, J. A. (1988): South African rainfall, the Southern Oscillation and a Southern Hemisphere semi-annual cycle. In: Journal of Climatology 8(1), 17-30. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc. 3370080103/abstract (visited on 12/08/2014).
- LINDESAY, J. A. & JURY, M. R. (1991): Atmospheric circulation controls and characteristics of a flood event in central South Africa. In: International Journal of Climatology 11(6), 609–627. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.3370110604/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).
- LIU, B. Y.; NEARING, M. A.; SHI, P. J. & JIA, Z. W. (2001): Slope Length Effects on Soil Loss for Steep Slopes. In: MOHTAR, R. H. & STEINHARDT, G. C. (Eds.): Sustaining the Global Farm. Selected papers from the 10th International Soil Conservation Meeting held May 24-29, 1999 at Purdue University and the USDA-ARS National Soil Erosion Research Laboratory. 64, 1759–1763. Purdue.
- LIU, H.; KIESEL, J.; HÖRMANN, G. & FOHRER, N. (2011): Effects of DEM horizontal resolution and methods on calculating the slope length factor in gently rolling landscapes. In: CATENA 87(3), 368-375. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816211001408 (visited on 01/06/2015).

- LIU, J.; LIU, S.; TIESZEN, L.L. & CHEN, M. (2007): Estimating Soil Erosion Using the USPED Model and Consecutive Remotely Sensed Land Cover Observations. In: Proceedings of the 2007 Summer Computer Simulation Conference. SCSC '07. San Diego, 16:1–16:6. URL: http: //dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1357910.1358122.
- LIUZZO, L.; VIOLA, F. & NOTO, L. V. (2014): Wind speed and temperature trends impacts on reference evapotranspiration in Southern Italy. In: Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 1-20. URL: http://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s00704-014-1342-5 (visited on 01/21/2015).
- LIVERMAN, D. M. (1990): Drought Impacts in Mexico: Climate, Agriculture, Technology, and Land Tenure in Sonora and Puebla. In: Annals of the Association of American Geographers 80(1), 49-72. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8306.1990.tb00003.x (visited on 01/12/2015).
- LLOYD-HUGHES, B. & SAUNDERS, M. A. (2002): A drought climatology for Europe. In: International Journal of Climatology 22(13), 1571–1592. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.846/ abstract (visited on 01/08/2015).
- LOCK, B. E. (1978): The Cape Fold Belt of South Africa; tectonic control of sedimentation. In: Proceedings of the Geologists' Association 89(4), 263-281. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016787878800157 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- LOIZEAU, J.-L.; ARBOUILLE, D.; SANTIAGO, S. & VERNET, J.-P. (1994): Evaluation of a wide range laser diffraction grain size analyser for use with sediments. In: Sedimentology 41(2), 353-361. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-3091.1994.tb01410.x/ abstract (visited on 06/11/2013).
- LOPEZ-BUSTINS, J. A.; PASCUAL, D.; PLA, E. & RETANA, J. (2013): Future variability of droughts in three Mediterranean catchments. In: Natural Hazards 69(3), 1405– 1421. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10. 1007/s11069-013-0754-3 (visited on 01/23/2015).
- LORENZO-LACRUZ, J.; VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M.; LÓPEZ-MORENO, J. I.; BEGUERÍA, S.; GARCÍA-RUIZ, J. M. & CUADRAT, J. M. (2010): The impact of droughts and water management on various hydrological systems in the headwaters of the Tagus River (central Spain). In: Journal of Hydrology **386**(1-4), 13-26. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0022169410000028 (visited on 01/23/2015).
- LOTZ, T. (2012): A fine-scale classification of land cover in the North-west Sandveld. Thesis. Stellenbosch: Stellen-

bosch University. URL: http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/19907 (visited on 12/11/2014).

- Lu, E. (2011): A Method for Monitoring Meteorological Drought at Daily Scale. In: 36th NOAA Annual Climate Diagnostics and Prediction Workshop Fort Worth, TX, 3-6 October 2011, 33–39.
- LU, H.; GALLANT, J.; PROSSER, I. P.; MORAN, C. & PRIEST-LEY, G. (2001): Prediction of sheet and rill erosion over the Australian continent, incorporating monthly soil loss distribution. Tech. rep. 13. Canberra. URL: http://www. clw.csiro.au/publications/technical2001/tr13-01. pdf (visited on 01/23/2015).
- LU, J.; SUN, G.; MCNULTY, S. G. & AMATYA, D. M. (2005): A Comparison of Six Potential Evapotranspiration Methods for Regional Use in the Southeastern United States. In: Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41(3), 621–633. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2005.tb03759.x/abstract (visited on 01/23/2015).
- LYONS, R.; TOOTH, S. & DULLER, G. A. T. (2013): Chronology and controls of donga (gully) formation in the upper Blood River catchment, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: Evidence for a climatic driver of erosion. In: The Holocene 23(12), 1875–1887. URL: http://hol.sagepub. com/content/23/12/1875 (visited on 08/23/2014).
- MÄCHTLE, B.; EITEL, B.; SCHUKRAFT, G. & ROSS, K. (2009): Chapter 3: Built on Sand: Climatic Oscillation and Water Harvesting during the Late Intermediate Period. In: REINDEL, M. & WAGNER, G. A. (Eds.): New Technologies for Archaeology: Multidisciplinary Investigations in Palpa and Nasca, Peru. (Natural Science in Archaeology), 39–46. Berlin, Heidelberg.
- MALIVA, R. & MISSIMER, T. (2012): Aridity and Drought. In: Arid Lands Water Evaluation and Management. Environmental Science and Engineering, 21–39. Berlin, Heidelberg.
- MANTEL, S. K.; HUGHES, D. A. & MULLER, N. W. J. (2010): Ecological impacts of small dams on South African rivers Part 1: drivers of change - water quantity and quality. In: Water SA 36(3), 351-360. URL: http://www.scielo. org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid=S1816-79502010000300016&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en (visited on 01/27/2015).
- MARTIN, D. A. & MOODY, J. A. (2001): Comparison of soil infiltration rates in burned and unburned mountainous watersheds. In: Hydrological Processes 15(15), 2893-2903. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1002/hyp.380/abstract (visited on 02/01/2015).
- MASON, S. J. & JURY, M. R. (1997): Climatic variability and change over southern Africa: a reflection on underly-

ing processes. In: Progress in Physical Geography **21**(1), 23-50. URL: http://ppg.sagepub.com/content/21/1/23 (visited on 01/16/2015).

- MASON, S. J. & TYSON, P. D. (1992): The modulation of sea surface temperature and rainfall associations over southern Africa with solar activity and the quasi-biennial oscillation. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 97(D5), 5847-5856. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1029/91JD02189/abstract (visited on 01/18/2015).
- MATALAS, N. C. (1963): Probability distribution of low flows. 434-A. Geological Survey Professional Paper. Washington D.C..
- McCool, D. K.; FOSTER, G. R. & WEESIES, G. A. (1997): Slope length and steepness factors (LS). In: US DEPART-MENT OF AGRICULTURE (Ed.): Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). **703**, 101– 142. Tucson.
- McEvoy, D. J.; HUNTINGTON, J. L.; ABATZOGLOU, J. T. & EDWARDS, L. M. (2012): An Evaluation of Multiscalar Drought Indices in Nevada and Eastern California. In: Earth Interactions 16(18), 1-18. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/2012EI000447.1 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- MCKEE, T. B.; DOESKEN, N. J. & KLEIST, J. (1993): The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales. In: Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Applied Climatology. **17**, 179–183.
- MEADOWS, M. E. (2003): Soil erosion in the Swartland, Western Cape Province, South Africa: implications of past and present policy and practice. In: Environmental Science & Policy. Socio-economic Factors in Soil Erosion and Conservation 6(1), 17-28. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1462901102001223 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- MERRITT, W. S.; LETCHER, R. A. & JAKEMAN, A. J. (2003): A review of erosion and sediment transport models. In: Environmental Modelling & Software. The Modelling of Hydrologic Systems 18(8-9), 761-799. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1364815203000781 (visited on 12/19/2014).
- MEVIK, B.-H. & WEHRENS, R. (2007): The pls package: principal component and partial least squares regression in R. In: Journal of Statistical Software 18(2), 1–24.
- MEVIK, B.-H.; WEHRENS, R. & LILAND, K. H. (2013): pls: Partial Least Squares and Principal Component regression. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=pls (visited on 10/10/2014).

- MHANGARA, P.; KAKEMBO, V. & LIM, K. J. (2011): Soil erosion risk assessment of the Keiskamma catchment, South Africa using GIS and remote sensing. In: Environmental Earth Sciences 65(7), 2087–2102. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s12665-011-1190-x (visited on 02/12/2015).
- MIKOŠ, M.; JOŠT, D. & PETKOVŠEK, G. (2006): Rainfall and runoff erosivity in the alpine climate of north Slovenia: a comparison of different estimation methods. In: Hydrological sciences journal 51(1), 115–126.
- MILES, J.; CUMMINS, R. P.; FRENCH, D. D.; GARDNER, S.; ORR, J. L. & SHEWRY, M. C. (2001): Landscape sensitivity: an ecological view. In: CATENA. Landscape sensitivity: principles and applications in Northern 42(2-4), 125-141. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0341816200001351 (visited on 09/01/2014).
- MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT & WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (2005): Ecosystems and human wellbeing: synthesis. 5. Washington D.C..
- MILLWARD, A. A. & MERSEY, J. E. (1999): Adapting the RUSLE to model soil erosion potential in a mountainous tropical watershed. In: CATENA 38(2), 109-129. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816299000673 (visited on 01/06/2015).
- MILLY, P. C. D.; BETANCOURT, J.; FALKENMARK, M.; HIRSCH, R. M.; KUNDZEWICZ, Z. W.; LETTENMAIER, D. P. & STOUFFER, R. J. (2008): Stationarity Is Dead: Whither Water Management? In: Science **319**(5863), 573-574. URL: http://www.sciencemag.org/content/ 319/5863/573 (visited on 10/31/2014).
- MILTON, S. J. (2004): Grasses as invasive alien plants in South Africa : working for water. In: South African Journal of Science 100(1 - 2), 69-75. URL: http://reference. sabinet.co.za/sa_epublication_article/sajsci_ v100_n1_2_a16 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- MILTON, S. J. & DEAN, W. R. J. (2000): Disturbance, drought and dynamics of desert dune grassland, South Africa. In: Plant Ecology 150(1-2), 37-51. URL: http: //link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A: 1026585211708 (visited on 01/15/2015).
- MILTON, S. J.; DEAN, W. R. J.; DU PLESSIS, M. A. & SIEGFRIED, W. R. (1994): A Conceptual Model of Arid Rangeland Degradation. In: BioScience 44(2), 70–76. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1312204 (visited on 02/12/2015).
- MIRON, O. & TYSON, P. D. (1984): Wet and Dry Conditions and Pressure Anomaly Fields over South Africa and the Adjacent Oceans, 1963–79. In: Monthly Weather Review 112(10), 2127–2132. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.

org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0493(1984)112%3C2127: WADCAP%3E2.0.CO;2 (visited on 01/17/2015).

- MISHRA, A. K. & SINGH, V. P. (2010): A review of drought concepts. In: Journal of Hydrology **391**(1-2), 202-216. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0022169410004257 (visited on 09/14/2014).
- MITAS, L. & MITASOVA, H. (1998): Distributed soil erosion simulation for effective erosion prevention. In: Water Resources Research 34(3), 505-516. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/97WR03347/ abstract (visited on 12/10/2013).
- MITASOVA, H.; BROWN, W. M.; JOHNSTON, D. & MITAS, L. (1996a): GIS tools for erosion/deposition modelling and multidimensional visualization. Urbana.
- MITASOVA, H. & HOFIERKA, J. (1993): Interpolation by regularized spline with tension: II. Application to terrain modeling and surface geometry analysis. In: Mathematical Geology 25(6), 657–669. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00893172 (visited on 06/27/2014).
- MITASOVA, H.; HOFIERKA, J.; ZLOCHA, M. & IVERSON, L.R. (1996b): Modelling topographic potential for erosion and deposition using GIS. In: International journal of geographical information systems 10(5), 629-641. URL: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/ 02693799608902101 (visited on 12/10/2013).
- MITASOVA, H. & MITAS, L. (1993): Interpolation by regularized spline with tension: I. Theory and implementation. In: Mathematical Geology 25(6), 641-655. URL: http: //link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00893171 (visited on 05/19/2014).
- MITASOVA, H. & MITAS, L. (2001): Multiscale Soil Erosion Simulations For Land Use Management. In: HARMON, R.
 & DOE III, W. W. (Eds.): Landscape Erosion and Evolution Modeling, 321–347
- MITASOVA, H.; MITAS, L. & BROWN, W. M. (2001): Multiscale simulation of land use impact on soil erosion and deposition patterns. In: Sustaining the global farm, 1163– 1169.
- MITASOVA, H.; MITAS, L.; BROWN, W. M.; GERDES, D. P.; KOSINOVSKY, I. & BAKER, T. (1995): Modelling spatially and temporally distributed phenomena: new methods and tools for GRASS GIS. In: International journal of geographical information systems 9(4), 433–446. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1080/02693799508902048 (visited on 09/29/2014).
- MITASOVA, H.; MITAS, L.; BROWN, W.M. & JOHNSTON, D. (1999): Terrain modeling and soil erosion simula-

tions for Fort Hood and Fort Polk test areas. In: Geographic Modeling and Systems Laboratory, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. URL: http://www4.ncsu. edu/~hmitaso/gmslab/reports/CerlErosionTutorial/ denix/Advanced/ErosionRep99/cerl99/rep99.html.

- MITCHELL, L. J. (2002): Traces in the landscape: hunters, herders and farmers on the Cedarberg frontier, South Africa. In: The Journal of African History **43**(3), 431– 450. URL: http://journals.cambridge.org/article_ S0021853701008088 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- MODARRES, R. & DE PAULO RODRIGUES DA SILVA, V. (2007): Rainfall trends in arid and semi-arid regions of Iran. In: Journal of Arid Environments 70(2), 344-355. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0140196307000225 (visited on 01/20/2015).
- MOLTER, T. (1966): Wasserhaushalt und Bewässerungsfeldbau im Kapland: Geographische und historische Grundlagen unter Berücksichtigung der Boden- und Vegetationszerstörung. Kölner Geographische Arbeiten 3. Wiesbaden.
- MONTGOMERY, D. R. (2007): Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(33), 13268-13272. URL: http: //www.pnas.org/content/104/33/13268 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- MOORE, W. B. & MCCARL, B. A. (1987): Off-Site Costs of Soil Erosion: A Case Study in the Willamette Valley. In: Western Journal of Agricultural Economics 12(1), 42–49. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/40987829.
- MOREL, A. (1998): Soil erosion and land degradation in the Swartland and Sandveld, Western Cape province, South Africa: a re-evaluation. PhD thesis. Cape Town: University of Cape Town. URL: https://open.uct.ac.za/ handle/11427/9681 (visited on 02/13/2015).
- MORENO, M. A.; MEDINA, D.; ORTEGA, J. F. & TARJUELO, J. M. (2012): Optimal design of center pivot systems with water supplied from wells. In: Agricultural Water Management 107, 112–121. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0378377412000327 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- MORGAN, R. P. C. (2009): Soil Erosion and Conservation. New York.
- MORGAN, R. P. C.; MORGAN, D. D. V. & FINNEY, H. J. (1984): A predictive model for the assessment of soil erosion risk. In: Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 30, 245-253. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0021863484800256 (visited on 12/19/2014).

- MORGAN, R. P. C.; QUINTON, J. N.; SMITH, R. E.; GOV-ERS, G.; POESEN, J. W. A.; AUERSWALD, K.; CHISCI, G.; TORRI, D. & STYCZEN, M. E. (1998): The European Soil Erosion Model (EUROSEM): a dynamic approach for predicting sediment transport from fields and small catchments. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 23(6), 527–544.
- MÜNCH, Z. (2004): Assessment of GIS-interpolation techniques for groundwater evaluation: a case study of the Sandveld, Western Cape, South Africa. PhD thesis. Stellenbosch: University of Stellenbosch. URL: http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/16400 (visited on 12/10/2014).
- MUNKA, C.; CRUZ, G. & CAFFERA, R. M. (2008): Long term variation in rainfall erosivity in Uruguay: a preliminary Fournier approach. In: GeoJournal 70(4), 257-262. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10708-008-9139-7 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- MUÑOZ, J. D. & KRAVCHENKO, A. (2011): Soil carbon mapping using on-the-go near infrared spectroscopy, topography and aerial photographs. In: Geoderma 166(1), 102–110. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706111002199 (visited on 02/09/2015).
- MZEZEWA, J.; MISI, T. & VAN RENSBURG, L. D. (2010): Characterisation of rainfall at a semi-arid ecotope in the Limpopo Province (South Africa) and its implications for sustainable crop production. In: Water SA 36(1), 19-26. URL: http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script= sci_abstract&pid=S1816-79502010000100003&lng=en& nrm=iso&tlng=en (visited on 01/19/2015).
- NASA EARTH OBSERVATORY (2003): Drought in Western Cape, South Africa. Text.Article. URL: http:// earthobservatory.nasa.gov/NaturalHazards/view. php?id=11912 (visited on 01/22/2015).
- NATIONAL DROUGHT MITIGATION CENTER (2015): Types of Drought. URL: http://drought.unl.edu/ DroughtBasics/TypesofDrought.aspx (visited on 01/12/2015).
- NATIONAL GEO-SPATIAL INFORMATION & DEPARTMENT OF RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND LAND REFORM (2010a): Colour Digital Aerial Imagery at 0.5m Ground Sample Distance. Cape Town.
- NATIONAL GEO-SPATIAL INFORMATION & DEPARTMENT OF RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND LAND REFORM (2010b): Contour Data. Cape Town.
- NEARING, M. A.; FOSTER, G. R.; LANE, L. J. & FINKNER, S. C. (1989): A process-based soil erosion model for USDA-Water Erosion Prediction Project technology. In: Trans. ASAE **32**(5), 1587–1593.

- NEKE, K. & DU PLESSIS, M. A. (2004): The Threat of Transformation: Quantifying the Vulnerability of Grasslands in South Africa. In: Conservation Biology 18(2), 466– 477. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739. 2004.00157.x.
- NELSON, G. & HUTCHINGS, L. (1983): The Benguela upwelling area. In: Progress in Oceanography 12(3), 333-356. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0079661183900137 (visited on 11/27/2014).
- NETELER, M.; BOWMAN, M. H.; LANDA, M. & METZ, M. (2012): GRASS GIS: a multi-purpose Open Source GIS. In: Environmental Modelling & Software **31**, 124–130.
- New, M.; HEWITSON, B.; STEPHENSON, D. B.; TSIGA, A.; KRUGER, A.; MANHIQUE, A.; GOMEZ, B.; COELHO, C. A. S.; MASISI, D. N.; KULULANGA, E.; MBAMBALALA, E.; ADESINA, F.; SALEH, H.; KANYANGA, J.; ADOSI, J.; BULANE, L.; FORTUNATA, L.; MDOKA, M. L. & LAJOIE, R. (2006): Evidence of trends in daily climate extremes over southern and west Africa. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 111(D14), D14102. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2005JD006289/ abstract (visited on 01/26/2015).

NICHOLSON, S. E. (2011): Dryland Climatology. Cambridge.

- NOEMDOE, S.; JONKER, L. & SWATUK, L. A. (2006): Perceptions of water scarcity: The case of Genadendal and outstations. In: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C. Water for Sustainable Socio-Economic Development, Good Health for All and Gender Equity **31**(15–16), 771–778. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474706506001471 (visited on 02/20/2015).
- NORTJÉ, G. P.; VAN HOVEN, W. & LAKER, M. C. (2012): Factors Affecting the Impact of Off-Road Driving on Soils in an Area in the Kruger National Park, South Africa. In: Environmental Management 50(6), 1164–1176. URL: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC3497957/ (visited on 02/17/2015).
- NYONG, A.; ADESINA, F. & ELASHA, B. O. (2007): The value of indigenous knowledge in climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies in the African Sahel. In: Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 12(5), 787-797. URL: http://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s11027-007-9099-0 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- OBA, G. & LUSIGI, W. J. (1987): An overview of drought strategies and land use in African pastoral systems. Overseas Development Institute Agricultural Administration Unit. URL: http://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/

files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/5285. pdf (visited on 11/12/2014).

- O'CONNOR, T. G. & KUYLER, P. (2009): Impact of land use on the biodiversity integrity of the moist sub-biome of the grassland biome, South Africa. In: Journal of Environmental Management 90(1), 384-395. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S030147970700388X (visited on 02/17/2015).
- ODONG, J. (2007): Evaluation of empirical formulae for determination of hydraulic conductivity based on grain-size analysis. In: Journal of American Science **3**(3), 54–60.
- ODURO-AFRIYIE, K. (1996): Rainfall erosivity map for Ghana. In: Geoderma 74(1-2), 161-166. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016706196000547 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- OECD (2013): OECD Economic Surveys: South Africa 2013. Tech. rep. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. URL: http://www.oecdilibrary.org/content/book/eco_surveys-zaf-2013en (visited on 01/29/2015).
- O'GRADY, A. P.; EAMUS, D. & HUTLEY, L. B. (1999): Transpiration increases during the dry season: patterns of tree water use in eucalypt open-forests of northern Australia. In: Tree Physiology 19(9), 591–597. URL: http://treephys.oxfordjournals.org/content/19/9/591 (visited on 01/20/2015).
- OKONGO, M. O.; KIRIMI, J.; MURWAYI, A. L. & MURIITHI, D. K. (2013): Mathematical Analysis of a Comprehensive HIV AIDS Model: Treatment versus Vaccination. In: Applied Mathematical Sciences 7(54), 2687–2707.
- OLAYA, V. (2009): Chapter 6 Basic Land-Surface Parameters. In: HENGL, T. & REUTER, H. I. (Eds.): Developments in Soil Science. 33, 141–169.
- OLDEMAN, L. R. (1994): The global extent of soil degradation. In: GREENLAND, D. J. & SZABOLCS, I. (Eds.): Soil resilience and sustainable land use, 99–118. Wallingford.
- OLSSON, L. (1993): On the Causes of Famine: Drought, Desertification and Market Failure in the Sudan. In: Ambio 22(6), 395-403. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 4314110 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- OWEIS, T. & HACHUM, A. (2006): Water harvesting and supplemental irrigation for improved water productivity of dry farming systems in West Asia and North Africa. In: Agricultural Water Management. Special Issue on Water Scarcity: Challenges and Opportunities for Crop Science Selected plenary and symposia papers from the theme "Crop Science Addressing Water Scarcity" presented at the Fourth International Crop Science Congress, Brisbane, Australia, 26 September to 1 October 2004

80(1-3), 57-73. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378377405002891 (visited on 12/17/2014).

- OZTAS, T.; KOC, A. & COMAKLI, B. (2003): Changes in vegetation and soil properties along a slope on overgrazed and eroded rangelands. In: Journal of Arid Environments 55(1), 93-100. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0140196302002677 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- PAGLIAI, M.; VIGNOZZI, N. & PELLEGRINI, S. (2004): Soil structure and the effect of management practices. In: Soil and Tillage Research. Soil Physical Quality 79(2), 131-143. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0167198704001394 (visited on 02/12/2015).
- PALMER, W. C. (1965): Meteorological drought. 45. Research Paper. Washington D.C..
- PANDEY, D. M.; GOSWAMI, C. L. & KUMAR, B. (2003): Physiological Effects of Plant Hormones in Cotton Under Drought. In: Biologia Plantarum 47(4), 535-540. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/B:BIOP. 0000041058.65442.41 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- PARTRIDGE, T. C. (1998): Of Diamonds, Dinosaurs and Diastrophism: 150 Million Years of Landscape Evolution in Southern Africa. In: South African Journal of Geology 101(3), 167-184. URL: http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=1287376&site= ehost-live (visited on 12/09/2014).
- PAULO, A. A. & PEREIRA, L. S. (2006): Drought Concepts and Characterization. In: Water International 31(1), 37-49. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 02508060608691913 (visited on 01/08/2015).
- PAULO, A. A.; ROSA, R. D. & PEREIRA, L. S. (2012): Climate trends and behaviour of drought indices based on precipitation and evapotranspiration in Portugal. In: Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences 12, 1481– 1491. URL: http://www.repository.utl.pt/handle/ 10400.5/4668 (visited on 01/23/2015).
- PEÑARROCHA, D.; ESTRELA, M. J. & MILLÁN, M. (2002): Classification of daily rainfall patterns in a Mediterranean area with extreme intensity levels: the Valencia region. In: International Journal of Climatology 22(6), 677-695. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ 10.1002/joc.747/abstract (visited on 01/31/2015).
- PENMAN, H. L. (1948): Natural Evaporation from Open Water, Bare Soil and Grass. In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 193(1032), 120–145. URL: http://rspa. royalsocietypublishing.org/content/193/1032/120 (visited on 11/15/2014).

- PETERS, L. & VAN LANEN, H. (2000): Hydrological drought groundwater. In: HISDAL, H. & TALLAKSEN, L. M. (Eds.): Drought Event Definition, 15–18. Oslo.
- PETERSON, T. C. & VOSE, R. S. (1997): An Overview of the Global Historical Climatology Network Temperature Database. In: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78(12), 2837-2849. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0477(1997)078% 3C2837:A00TGH%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 01/15/2015).
- PHILLIPS, J. D. (1992): Nonlinear dynamical systems in geomorphology: revolution or evolution? In: Geomorphology. Proceedings 23rd Binghamton Symposium in Geomorphology 5(3-5), 219-229. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0169555X92900059 (visited on 12/18/2014).
- PHILLIPS, J. D. (1999): Methodology, Scale, and the Field of Dreams. In: Annals of the Association of American Geographers 89(4), 754-760. URL: http://www.jstor. org/stable/2564472.
- PHILLIPS, J. D. (2009): Changes, perturbations, and responses in geomorphic systems. In: Progress in Physical Geography 33(1), 17-30. URL: http://ppg.sagepub.com/ content/33/1/17 (visited on 09/19/2013).
- PICKER, M. D.; ROSS-GILLESPIE, V.; VLIEGHE, K. & MOLL, E. (2012): Ants and the enigmatic Namibian fairy circles - cause and effect? In: Ecological Entomology 37(1), 33-42. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1111/j.1365-2311.2011.01332.x/abstract (visited on 12/11/2014).
- PIMENTEL, D.; ALLEN, J.; BEERS, A.; GUINAND, L.; LINDER,
 R.; MCLAUGHLIN, P.; MEER, B.; MUSONDA, D.; PERDUE,
 D.; POISSON, S.; SIEBERT, S.; STONER, K.; SALAZAR, R.
 & HAWKINS, A. (1987): World Agriculture and Soil Erosion. In: BioScience 37(4), 277–283. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1310591.
- PIMENTEL, D.; HARVEY, C.; RESOSUDARMO, P.; SINCLAIR, K.; KURZ, D.; MCNAIR, M.; CRIST, S.; SHPRITZ, L.; FIT-TON, L.; SAFFOURI, R. & BLAIR, R. (1995): Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. In: Science **267**(5201), 1117–1123.
- PISTOCCHI, A.; CASSANI, G. & ZANI, O. (2002): Use of the USPED model for mapping soil erosion and managing best land conservation practices. In: Integrated Assessment and Decision Support, Proceedings of the First Biennial Meeting of the International Environmental Modelling and Software Society **1**, 163–168.
- PLATFORD, G. G. (1982): The determination of some soil erodibility factors using a rainfall simulator. In: Proceedings 56th Annual Congress, South African Sugar Technology Association, 130–133.

- POFF, N. L.; ALLAN, J. D.; BAIN, M. B.; KARR, J.R.; PRESTEGAARD, K. L.; RICHTER, B. D.; SPARKS, R. E. & STROMBERG, J. C. (1997): The Natural Flow Regime. In: BioScience 47(11), 769–784. URL: http://www.jstor. org/stable/1313099 (visited on 10/28/2014).
- POWER, M. E.; PARKER, M. S. & DIETRICH, W. E. (2008): Seasonal reassembly of a river food web: floods, droughts, and impacts of fish. In: Ecological Monographs 78(2), 263-282. URL: http://www.esajournals.org/doi/abs/ 10.1890/06-0902.1 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- POYNTON, C. A. (2003): Digital Video and HDTV: Algorithms and Interfaces. Burlington.
- PRISKIN, J. (2003): Physical impacts of four-wheel drive related tourism and recreation in a semi-arid, natural coastal environment. In: Ocean & Coastal Management 46(1-2), 127-155. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0964569102001242 (visited on 02/17/2015).
- PUY, A. & BALBO, A.L. (2013): The genesis of irrigated terraces in al-Andalus. A geoarchaeological perspective on intensive agriculture in semi-arid environments (Ricote, Murcia, Spain). In: Journal of Arid Environments 89, 45-56. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0140196312002662 (visited on 11/29/2013).
- QGIS DEVELOPMENT TEAM (2014): QGIS Geographic Information System Version 2.6. URL: http://qgis.osgeo.org (visited on 11/13/2014).
- QUAN, C.; HAN, S.; UTESCHER, T.; ZHANG, C. & LIU, T.-S. (2013): Validation of temperature-precipitation based aridity index: Paleoclimatic implications. In: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 386, 86-95. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0031018213002320 (visited on 11/22/2014).
- QUINN, P.; BEVEN, K.; CHEVALLIER, P. & PLANCHON, O. (1991): The prediction of hillslope flow paths for distributed hydrological modelling using digital terrain models. In: Hydrological Processes 5(1), 59-79. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp. 3360050106/abstract (visited on 11/08/2014).
- R CORE TEAM (2014): R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria. URL: http: //www.R-project.org/ (visited on 09/01/2014).
- RĂDOANE, M. & RĂDOANE, N. (2005): Dams, sediment sources and reservoir silting in Romania. In: Geomorphology. Dams in Geomorphology 33rd Annual Binghampton International Geomorphology Symposium 71(1-2), 112-125. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/

science/article/pii/S0169555X05000929 (visited on 02/16/2015).

- RAHAMAN, M. M. & VARIS, O. (2005): Integrated water resources management: evolution, prospects and future challenges. In: Sustainability: Science, Practice & Policy 1(1), 15–21.
- REASON, C. J. C.; LANDMAN, W. & TENNANT, W. (2006): Seasonal to Decadal Prediction of Southern African Climate and Its Links with Variability of the Atlantic Ocean. In: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 87(7), 941–955. URL: http://journals.ametsoc. org/doi/abs/10.1175/BAMS-87-7-941 (visited on 01/17/2015).
- REASON, C. J. C. & ROUAULT, M. (2002): ENSO-like decadal variability and South African rainfall. In: Geophysical Research Letters 29(13), 16:1-16:4. URL: http: / / onlinelibrary . wiley . com / doi / 10 . 1029 / 2002GL014663/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).
- REASON, C. J. C. & ROUAULT, M. (2005): Links between the Antarctic Oscillation and winter rainfall over western South Africa. In: Geophysical Research Letters 32(7), L07705. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1029/2005GL022419/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).
- REJMAN, J.; USOWICZ, B. & DEBICKI, R. (1999): Source of errors in predicting silt soil erodibility with USLE. In: Polish Journal of Soil Science **32**(1), 13–22.
- RENARD, K. G.; FOSTER, G. R.; WEESIES, G. A. & PORTER, J. P. (1991): RUSLE: Revised universal soil loss equation. In: Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 46(1), 30–33. URL: http://www.jswconline.org/content/46/1/30 (visited on 01/05/2015).
- RENARD, K. G. & FREIMUND, J. R. (1994): Using monthly precipitation data to estimate the R-factor in the revised USLE. In: Journal of Hydrology 157(1-4), 287-306. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0022169494901104 (visited on 01/06/2015).
- RENARD, K. G.; MAEYER, L. D. & FOSTER, G. R. (1997a): Introduction and History. In: US DEPARTMENT OF AGRI-CULTURE (Ed.): Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). **703**, 19–64. Tucson.
- RENARD, K. G.; MCCOOL, D. K.; COOLEY, K. R.; FOS-TER, G. R.; ISTOK, J. D. & MUTCHLER, C. K. (1997b): Rainfall-runoff erosivity factor (R). In: US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE (Ed.): Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). **703**, 19–64. Tucson.

- RENARD, K. G.; YODER, D. C.; LIGHTLE, D. T. & DABNEY, S. M. (2010): Universal Soil Loss Equation and Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation. In: MORGAN, R. P. C. & NEARING, M. A. (Eds.): Handbook of Erosion Modelling, 135–167. Chichester; New York.
- REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA (1998): National Water Act. Act No 36 of 1998. url: https://www.dwaf.gov.za/IO/ Docs/nwa.pdf (visited on 02/12/2015).
- RICHARD, Y.; FAUCHEREAU, N.; POCCARD, I.; ROUAULT, M. & TRZASKA, S. (2001): 20th century droughts in southern Africa: spatial and temporal variability, teleconnections with oceanic and atmospheric conditions. In: International Journal of Climatology 21(7), 873-885. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc. 656/abstract (visited on 01/16/2015).
- RICHARD, Y.; TRZASKA, S.; ROUCOU, P. & ROUAULT, M. (2000): Modification of the southern African rainfall variability/ENSO relationship since the late 1960s. In: Climate Dynamics 16(12), 883-895. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s003820000086 (visited on 01/16/2015).
- RICHARDSON, D. M. & VAN WILGEN, B. W. (2004): Invasive alien plants in South Africa: how well do we understand the ecological impacts?: working for water. In: South African Journal of Science 100(1 & 2), 45–52.
- RICHARDSON, J. E.; WEITZ, F. M.; FAY, M. F.; CRONK, Q. C. B.; LINDER, H. P.; REEVES, G. & CHASE, M. W. (2001): Rapid and recent origin of species richness in the Cape flora of South Africa. In: Nature 412(6843), 181-183. URL: http://www.nature.com/nature/ journal/v412/n6843/full/412181a0.html (visited on 12/11/2014).
- ROBERTS, N. (1977): Water Conservation in Ancient Arabia. In: Proceedings of the Seminar for Arabian Studies 7, 134-146. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/41223308 (visited on 11/03/2014).
- ROBERTSON, G. (1986): The Mortality of Kangaroos in Drought. In: Wildlife Research 13(3), 349-354. URL: http://www.publish.csiro.au/paper/WR9860349 (visited on 01/12/2015).
- ROCKSTRÖM, J. (2000): Water resources management in smallholder farms in Eastern and Southern Africa: An overview. In: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Part B: Hydrology, Oceans and Atmosphere 25(3), 275-283. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1464190900000150 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- ROCKSTRÖM, J.; FOLKE, C.; GORDON, L.; HATIBU, N.; JE-WITT, G.; PENNING DE VRIES, F.; RWEHUMBIZA, F.; SALLY, H.; SAVENIJE, H. & SCHULZE, R. (2004): A watershed approach to upgrade rainfed agriculture in wa-

ter scarce regions through Water System Innovations: an integrated research initiative on water for food and rural livelihoods in balance with ecosystem functions. In: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C. Water, Science, Technology and Policy Convergence and Action by All (A Meeting Point for Action leading to Sustainable Development) **29**(15–18), 1109–1118. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1474706504001615 (visited on 12/16/2014).

- RODELL, M.; VELICOGNA, I. & FAMIGLIETTI, J. S. (2009): Satellite-based estimates of groundwater depletion in India. In: Nature 460(7258), 999–1002. URL: http:// www.nature.com/nature/journal/v460/n7258/full/ nature08238.html (visited on 12/20/2014).
- RODRÍGUEZ, J. & SUÁREZ, M. (2010): Estimation of Slope Length Value of RUSLE Factor L Using GIS. In: Journal of Hydrologic Engineering 15(9), 714–717. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HE.1943-5584.0000232 (visited on 01/07/2015).
- RÖMKENS, M. J. M.; YOUNG, R. A.; POESEN, J. W. A.; MCCOOL, D. K.; EL-SWAIFY, S. A. & BRADFORD, J. M. (1997): Soil Erodibility Factor (K). In: US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE (Ed.): Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning With the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). **703**, 65–99. Tucson.
- ROPELEWSKI, C. F.; JANOWIAK, J. E. & HALPERT, M. S. (1984): The climate anomaly monitoring system (CAMS). Washington D.C.
- ROSENBLUETH, A. & WIENER, N. (1945): The Role of Models in Science. In: Philosophy of Science 12(4), 316-321. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/184253.
- ROWNTREE, K.; DUMA, M.; KAKEMBO, V. & THORNES, J. (2004): Debunking the myth of overgrazing and soil erosion. In: Land Degradation & Development 15(3), 203–214. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr.609/abstract (visited on 12/20/2014).
- ROY, C.; WEEKS, S.; ROUAULT, M.; NELSON, G.; BAR-LOW, R. & VAN DER LINGEN, C. (2001): Extreme oceanographic events recorded in the Southern Benguela during the 1999-2000 summer season. In: South African Journal of Science 97(11 & 12), p-465.
- RUKEMA, J. R. & SIMELANE, H. S. (2013): Indigenous knowledge systems, drought and people's resilience and responses: the case of Msinga community in KwaZulu-Natal. In: Indilinga African Journal of Indigenous Knowledge Systems: Revisiting the Research Paradigm 12(1), 108-125. URL: http://reference.sabinet.co.za/sa_ epublication_article/linga_v12_n1_a10 (visited on 01/12/2015).

- RUTHERFORD, M. C.; POWRIE, L. W. & SCHULZE, R. E. (1999): Climate change in conservation areas of South Africa and its potential impact on floristic composition: a first assessment. In: Diversity and Distributions 5(6), 253-262. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ 10.1046/j.1472-4642.1999.00061.x/abstract (visited on 09/19/2013).
- SAAVEDRA, C. & MANNAERTS, C. M. (2005): Estimating erosion in an Andean catchment combining coarse and fine spatial resolution satellite imagery. In: Proceedings of 31st International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment. St. Petersburg, 1–4.
- SADEGHI, S. H. R.; MIZUYAMA, T.; MIYATA, S.; GOMI, T.; KOSUGI, K.; MIZUGAKI, S. & ONDA, Y. (2007): Is MUSLE apt to small steeply reforested watershed? In: Journal of Forest Research 12(4), 270-277. URL: http: //link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10310-007-0017-9 (visited on 01/06/2015).
- SAPERSTEIN, A. M. (1984): Chaos a model for the outbreak of war. In: Nature 309(5966), 303-305. URL: http: //www.nature.com/nature/journal/v309/n5966/abs/ 309303a0.html (visited on 12/20/2014).
- SAUCHYN, D. J. (1997): Practical and Theoretical Basis for Mapping Landscape Sensitivity in the Southern Canadian Interior Plains. In: Transactions of the Kansas Academy of Science 100(1-2), 61–72. URL: http://www. jstor.org/stable/3628439 (visited on 09/19/2013).
- SCANLON, B. R.; FAUNT, C. C.; LONGUEVERGNE, L.; REEDY, R. C.; ALLEY, W. M.; MCGUIRE, V. L. & MCMAHON, P. B. (2012): Groundwater depletion and sustainability of irrigation in the US High Plains and Central Valley. In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(24), 9320–9325. URL: http://www.pnas.org/ content/109/24/9320 (visited on 12/20/2014).
- SCANLON, B. R.; REEDY, R. C.; STONESTROM, D. A.; PRU-DIC, D. E. & DENNEHY, K. F. (2005): Impact of land use and land cover change on groundwater recharge and quality in the southwestern US. In: Global Change Biology 11(10), 1577-1593. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01026.x/ abstract (visited on 10/28/2014).
- SCHANDA, J. (2007): Colorimetry: Understanding the CIE System. Hoboken.
- SCHILLING, K. E.; CHAN, K.-S.; LIU, H. & ZHANG, Y.-K. (2010): Quantifying the effect of land use land cover change on increasing discharge in the Upper Mississippi River. In: Journal of Hydrology 387(3-4), 343-345. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0022169410002064 (visited on 10/28/2014).

- SCHÖNBRODT, S.; SAUMER, P.; BEHRENS, T.; SEEBER, C. & SCHOLTEN, T. (2010): Assessing the USLE crop and management factor C for soil erosion modeling in a large mountainous watershed in Central China. In: Journal of Earth Science 21(6), 835-845. URL: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s12583-010-0135-8 (visited on 02/11/2015).
- SCHREINER, B. (2013): Viewpoint why has the South African National water act been so difficult to implement. In: Water Alternatives 6(2), 239–245.
- SCHUBERT, S. D.; SUAREZ, M. J.; PEGION, P. J.; KOSTER, R. D. & BACMEISTER, J. T. (2004): On the Cause of the 1930s Dust Bowl. In: Science **303**(5665), 1855–1859. URL: http://www.sciencemag.org/content/303/5665/1855 (visited on 01/05/2015).
- SCHULZ, R. (2001): Rainfall-induced sediment and pesticide input from orchards into the lourens river, western cape, south africa: importance of a single event. In: Water Research 35(8), 1869-1876. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0043135400004589 (visited on 10/29/2013).
- SCHUMM, S. A. & LICHTY, R. W. (1965): Time, space, and causality in geomorphology. In: American Journal of Science 263(2), 110–119.
- SCHWERTMANN, U.; VOGL, W. & KAINZ, M. (1987): Bodenerosion durch Wasser: Vorhersage des Abtrags und Bewertung von Gegenmaßnahmen. Stuttgart.
- Scott, D. F. (2000): Soil wettability in forested catchments in South Africa; as measured by different methods and as affected by vegetation cover and soil characteristics. In: Journal of Hydrology 231-232, 87-104. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0022169400001864 (visited on 02/13/2015).
- SCOTT, D. F.; VERSFELD, D. B. & LESCH, W. (1998): Erosion and Sediment Yield in Relation to Afforestation and Fire in the Mountains of the Western Cape Province, South Africa. In: South African Geographical Journal 80(1), 52–59. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 03736245.1998.9713644 (visited on 04/30/2014).
- SEUFFERT, O. (2002): Der Reinfall mit dem "Rainfall" Das Ende einer wissenschaftlichen Weltanschauung? In: Geo-Öko 23, 1–60.
- SEWARD, P.; XU, Y. & BRENDONCK, L. (2006): Sustainable groundwater use, the capture principle, and adaptive management. In: Water SA 32(4), 473-482. URL: http: //www.ajol.info/index.php/wsa/article/view/5287 (visited on 01/29/2015).
- SHAFER, B. A. & DEZMAN, L. E. (1982): Development of a Surface Water Supply Index (SWSI) to assess the sever-

ity of drought conditions in snowpack runoff areas. In: Proceedings of the Western Snow Conference. **50**, 164– 175.

- SHAPIRO, S. S. & WILK, M. B. (1965): An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). In: Biometrika, 591–611.
- SHEPHERD, K. D. & WALSH, M. G. (2002): Development of Reflectance Spectral Libraries for Characterization of Soil Properties. In: Soil Science Society of America Journal 66(3), 988. URL: https://dl.sciencesocieties. org/publications/sssaj/abstracts/66/3/988 (visited on 02/01/2015).
- SHONE, R. W. & BOOTH, P. W. K. (2005): The Cape Basin, South Africa: A review. In: Journal of African Earth Sciences. Phanerozoic Evolution of Africa 43(1-3), 196-210. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1464343X05001172 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- SIETZ, D.; LÜDEKE, M. K. B. & WALTHER, C. (2011): Categorisation of typical vulnerability patterns in global drylands. In: Global Environmental Change. Special Issue on The Politics and Policy of Carbon Capture and Storage 21(2), 431-440. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0959378010001081 (visited on 10/31/2014).
- SINCLAIR, M. R. (1994): An Objective Cyclone Climatology for the Southern Hemisphere. In: Monthly Weather Review 122(10), 2239-2256. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0493(1994)122% 3C2239:AOCCFT%3E2.0.CO;2 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- SINCLAIR, S. A.; LANE, S. B. & GRINDLEY, J. R. (1986): Verlorenvlei. In: HEYDORN, A. E. F. & MORANT, P. D. (Eds.): Estuaries of the Cape. Part II: Synopses of available information on individual system. **32**. CSIR Research Report 431. Stellenbosch.
- SINGLETON, A. T. & REASON, C. J. C. (2007): A Numerical Model Study of an Intense Cutoff Low Pressure System over South Africa. In: Monthly Weather Review 135(3), 1128-1150. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/ full/10.1175/MWR3311.1 (visited on 01/16/2015).
- SLIVA, L. & DUDLEY WILLIAMS, D. (2001): Buffer Zone versus Whole Catchment Approaches to Studying Land Use Impact on River Water Quality. In: Water Research 35(14), 3462–3472. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0043135401000628 (visited on 10/28/2014).
- SMITH, H. J.; VAN ZYL, A. J.; CLAASSENS, A. S.; SCHOEMAN, J. L. & LAKER, M. C. (2000): Soil Loss Modelling in the Lesotho Highlands Water Project Catchment Areas. In: South African Geographical Journal 82(2), 64–69. URL:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03736245.2000.9713694 (visited on 11/04/2014).

- SMITH, J. A. (2011): BRIC Becomes BRICS: Changes on the Geopolitical Chessboard. URL: http://www. foreignpolicyjournal.com/2011/01/21/bric-becomesbrics-changes-on-the-geopolitical-chessboard/2/ page/2/ (visited on 02/20/2015).
- SMITHEN, A. A. & SCHULZE, R. E. (1982): The spatial distribution in southern Africa of rainfall erosivity for use in the Universal Soil Loss Equation. In: Water SA 8(2), 74–78.
- SNYMAN, H. A. (1998): Dynamics and sustainable utilization of rangeland ecosystems in arid and semi-arid climates of southern Africa. In: Journal of Arid Environments 39(4), 645-666. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0140196398903871 (visited on 01/29/2015).
- SNYMAN, H. A. (1999): Short-term effects of soil water, defoliation and rangeland condition on productivity of a semi-arid rangeland in South Africa. In: Journal of Arid Environments 43(1), 47-62. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0140196399905335 (visited on 01/29/2015).
- SPEARMAN, C. (1904): The Proof and Measurement of Association between Two Things. In: The American Journal of Psychology 15(1), 72-101. URL: http://www.jstor. org/stable/1412159 (visited on 12/02/2014).
- STANCHI, S.; FREPPAZ, M.; AGNELLI, A.; REINSCH, T. & ZANINI, E. (2012): Properties, best management practices and conservation of terraced soils in Southern Europe (from Mediterranean areas to the Alps): A review. In: Quaternary International 265, 90-100. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1040618211005349 (visited on 02/14/2014).
- STRAHLER, A. N. (1952): Dynamic Basis of Geomorphology. In: Geological Society of America Bulletin 63(9), 923– 938. URL: http://gsabulletin.gsapubs.org/content/ 63/9/923 (visited on 12/18/2014).
- STRAMMA, L. & PETERSON, R. G. (1989): Geostrophic Transport in the Benguela Current Region. In: Journal of Physical Oceanography 19(10), 1440-1448. URL: http: //journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0485(1989)019%3C1440:GTITBC%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 12/08/2014).
- STROMBERG, J. C.; MCCLUNEY, K. E.; DIXON, M. D. & MEIXNER, T. (2013): Dryland Riparian Ecosystems in the American Southwest: Sensitivity and Resilience to Climatic Extremes. In: Ecosystems 16(3), 411-415. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10021-012-9606-3 (visited on 12/16/2014).

- STUCKENBERG, T. (2012): Land-cover change in the Berg River catchment : implications for biodiversity conservation. Thesis. Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University. URL: http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/71641 (visited on 01/26/2015).
- STUCKENBERG, T.; MÜNCH, Z. & VAN NIEKERK, A. (2013): Multi-temporal Remote Sensing Land-cover Change Detection for Biodiversity Assessment in the Berg River Catchment. In: South African Journal of Geomatics 2(3), 189–205.
- SUMMERS, D.; LEWIS, M.; OSTENDORF, B. & CHITTLE-BOROUGH, D. (2011): Visible near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy as a predictive indicator of soil properties. In: Ecological Indicators. Spatial information and indicators for sustainable management of natural resources 11(1), 123-131. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1470160X09000806 (visited on 02/10/2015).
- SUN, Y.; SOLOMON, S.; DAI, A. & PORTMANN, R. W. (2006): How Often Does It Rain? In: Journal of Climate 19(6), 916-934. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/ full/10.1175/JCLI3672.1 (visited on 01/14/2015).
- TACHIKAWA, T.; KAKU, M.; IWASAKI, A.; GESCH, D.; OIMOEN, M.; ZHANG, Z.; DANIELSON, J.; KRIEGER, T.; CURTIS, B.; HAASE, J.; ABRAMS, M.; CRIPPEN, R. & CARABAJAL, C. (2011): ASTER Global Digital Elevation Model Version 2 – Summary of Validation Results. URL: http://www.jspacesystems.or.jp/ersdac/GDEM/ ver2Validation/Summary_GDEM2_validation_report_ final.pdf (visited on 11/15/2013).
- TALJAARD, J. J. (1986): Change of rainfall distribution and circulation patterns over Southern Africa in summer.
 In: Journal of Climatology 6(6), 579-592. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.3370060602/abstract (visited on 12/08/2014).
- TANKARD, A.; WELSINK, H.; AUKES, P.; NEWTON, R. & STETTLER, E. (2009): Tectonic evolution of the Cape and Karoo basins of South Africa. In: Marine and Petroleum Geology 26(8), 1379-1412. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S026481720900049X (visited on 12/09/2014).
- TARBOTON, D. (1997): A new method for the determination of flow directions and upslope areas in grid digital elevation models. In: Water Resources Research 33(2), 309– 319. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1029/96WR03137/abstract (visited on 11/08/2014).
- THOMAS, J.-S. & DURHAM, B. (2003): Integrated Water Resource Management: looking at the whole picture. In: Desalination. Joint EDS, WSTA and IWA conference on Desalination and the Environment Fresh Wa-

ter for All UN International Year of Fresh Water 2003 **156**(1-3), 21-28. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0011916403003205 (visited on 12/12/2014).

- THOMAS, M. F. (2001): Landscape sensitivity in time and space — an introduction. In: CATENA 42(2-4), 83-98. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0341816200001338 (visited on 09/16/2013).
- THOMAS, R. J. (2008): Opportunities to reduce the vulnerability of dryland farmers in Central and West Asia and North Africa to climate change. In: Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. International Agricultural Research and Climate Change: A Focus on Tropical Systems **126**(1-2), 36-45. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0167880908000212 (visited on 10/31/2014).
- THOMPSON, D. A. & SCOGING, H. M. (1995): Agricultural terrace degradation in south-east Spain: modelling and management strategies. In: McGREGOR, D. F. M. & THOMPSON, D. A. (Eds.): Geomorphology and land management in a changing environment, 153–175. London.
- THORNTHWAITE, C. W. (1948): An Approach toward a Rational Classification of Climate. In: Geographical Review 38(1), 55–94.
- THRESHER, R. E. (2002): Solar correlates of Southern Hemisphere mid-latitude climate variability. In: International Journal of Climatology 22(8), 901-915. URL: http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.768/ abstract (visited on 01/18/2015).
- TOBLER, W. R. (1970): A computer movie simulating urban growth in the Detroit region. In: Economic geography 46(2), 234–240.
- TOOTH, S. (2000): Process, form and change in dryland rivers: a review of recent research. In: Earth-Science Reviews **51**(1-4), 67-107. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0012825200000143 (visited on 12/16/2014).
- TOOTH, S.; RODNIGHT, H.; MCCARTHY, T. S.; DULLER, G. A. T. & GRUNDLING, A. T. (2009): Late Quaternary dynamics of a South African floodplain wetland and the implications for assessing recent human impacts. In: Geomorphology 106(3-4), 278-291. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0169555X08005163 (visited on 02/16/2015).
- TORRI, D.; POESEN, J. & BORSELLI, L. (1997): Predictability and uncertainty of the soil erodibility factor using a global dataset. In: CATENA 31(1-2), 1-22. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816297000362 (visited on 01/07/2015).

- TUCKER, G. E. (2004): Drainage basin sensitivity to tectonic and climatic forcing: implications of a stochastic model for the role of entrainment and erosion thresholds.
 In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 29(2), 185-205. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/esp.1020/abstract (visited on 09/21/2013).
- TYSON, P. D. (1981): Atmospheric circulation variations and the occurrence of extended wet and dry spells over Southern Africa. In: Journal of Climatology 1(2), 115-130. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/joc.3370010203/abstract (visited on 01/17/2015).
- TYSON, P. D. (1984): The atmospheric modulation of extended wet and dry spells over South Africa, 1958-1978.
 In: Journal of Climatology 4(6), 621-635. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/joc.3370040606/abstract (visited on 12/08/2014).
- TYSON, P. D.; DYER, T. G. J. & MAMETSE, M. N. (1975): Secular changes in South African rainfall: 1880 to 1972. In: Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 101(430), 817–833. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1002/qj.49710143008/abstract (visited on 12/08/2014).
- TYSON, P. D.; STURMAN, A. P.; FITZHARRIS, B. B.; MASON, S. J. & OWENS, I. F. (1997): Circulation changes and teleconnections between glacial advances on the west coast of New Zealand and extended spells of drought years in South Africa. In: International Journal of Climatology 17(14), 1499–1512. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0088(19971130)17:14% 3C1499::AID-J0C207%3E3.0.C0;2-0/abstract (visited on 01/15/2015).
- UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (1992): World Atlas of Desertification. London.
- UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (2012): Status Report on The Application of Integrated Approaches to Water Resources Management. Nairobi.
- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE (2014): Soil Survey Manual. url: http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/ Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_050993.pdf (visited on 11/10/2014).
- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE & AGRI-CULTURAL RESEARCH SERVICE (2015): USLE History. URL: https://www.ars.usda.gov/News/docs.htm? docid=18093 (visited on 07/03/2014).
- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE & SOIL CONSERVATION SERVICE (1987): Soil Mechanics Level I. USDA Textural Soil Classification. uRL: ftp://ftp.wcc. nrcs.usda.gov/wntsc/H&H/training/soilsOther/soil-USDA-textural-class.pdf (visited on 11/10/2014).

- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR & UNITED STATES GEOLOGICAL SURVEY (2014): NLCD 92 Land Cover Class Definitions. URL: http://landcover.usgs. gov/classes.php (visited on 03/28/2014).
- USHER, M. B. (2001): Landscape sensitivity: from theory to practice. In: CATENA 42(2-4), 375-383. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S034181620000148X (visited on 09/19/2013).
- VALÍN, M. I.; CAMEIRA, M. R.; TEODORO, P. R. & PEREIRA, L. S. (2012): DEPIVOT: A model for center-pivot design and evaluation. In: Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 87, 159–170. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0168169912001457 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- VAN DER KNIJFF, J. M.; JONES, R. J. A. & MONTANARELLA, L. (2002): Soil Erosion risk Assessment in Italy. In: RU-BIO, J. L.; MORGAN, R. P. C.; ASINS, S. & ANDREU, V. (Eds.): Man and Soil at the Third Millennium. 2, 1903– 1917. Logroño.
- VAN DER SCHRIER, G.; BARICHIVICH, J.; BRIFFA, K. R. & JONES, P. D. (2013): A scPDSI-based global data set of dry and wet spells for 1901-2009. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres **118**(10), 4025-4048. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/jgrd. 50355/abstract (visited on 01/16/2015).
- VAN DER ZAAG, P. (2005): Integrated Water Resources Management: Relevant concept or irrelevant buzzword? A capacity building and research agenda for Southern Africa. In: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C. Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) and the Millennium Development Goals: Managing Water for Peace and Prosperity **30**(11–16), 867–871. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1474706505001038 (visited on 12/12/2014).
- VAN DIJK, A. I. J. M.; BRUIJNZEEL, L. A. & ROSEWELL, C. J. (2002): Rainfall intensity-kinetic energy relationships: a critical literature appraisal. In: Journal of Hydrology 261(1-4), 1-23. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0022169402000203 (visited on 01/06/2015).
- VAN REMORTEL, R. D.; HAMILTON, M. E. & HICKEY, R. J. (2001): Estimating the LS Factor for RUSLE through Iterative Slope Length Processing of Digital Elevation Data within ArcInfo Grid. In: Cartography 30(1), 27–35. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00690805.2001. 9714133 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- VAN ROMPAEY, A. J. J.; VERSTRAETEN, G.; VAN OOST, K.; GOVERS, G. & POESEN, J. (2001): Modelling mean annual sediment yield using a distributed approach. In: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 26(11), 1221–

1236. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1002/esp.275/abstract (visited on 01/31/2015).

- VAN ROOY, M. P. (1936): Influence of berg winds on the temperatures along the west coast of South Africa. In: Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 62(267), 528-537. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1002/qj.49706226707/abstract (visited on 01/20/2015).
- VAN ROOY, M. P. (1965): A rainfall anomaly index independent of time and space. In: Notos 14, 43–48.
- VERDON-KIDD, D. C. & KIEM, A. S. (2014): Synchronicity of historical dry spells in the Southern Hemisphere. In: Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 18(6), 2257-2264. URL: http: //www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/18/2257/2014/ (visited on 01/17/2015).
- VETTER, S.; GOQWANA, W. M.; BOND, W. J. & TROLLOPE, W. W. (2006): Effects of land tenure, geology and topography on vegetation and soils of two grassland types in South Africa. In: African Journal of Range & Forage Science 23(1), 13–27. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.2989/ 10220110609485883 (visited on 02/16/2015).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M.; BEGUERÍA, S. & LÓPEZ-MORENO, J. I. (2010a): A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index. In: Journal of Climate 23(7), 1696-1718. URL: http://journals.ametsoc. org/doi/abs/10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1 (visited on 12/16/2013).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M.; BEGUERÍA, S.; LÓPEZ-MORENO, J. I.; ANGULO, M. & EL KENAWY, A. (2010b): A New Global 0.5° Gridded Dataset (1901–2006) of a Multiscalar Drought Index: Comparison with Current Drought Index Datasets Based on the Palmer Drought Severity Index. In: Journal of Hydrometeorology 11(4), 1033–1043. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/ 2010JHM1224.1 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M.; BEGUERÍA, S.; LORENZO-LACRUZ, J.; CAMARERO, J. J.; LÓPEZ-MORENO, J. I.; AZORIN-MOLINA, C.; REVUELTO, J.; MORÁN-TEJEDA, E. & SANCHEZ-LORENZO, A. (2012a): Performance of Drought Indices for Ecological, Agricultural, and Hydrological Applications. In: Earth Interactions 16(10), 1-27. URL: http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/ 2012EI000434.1 (visited on 01/13/2015).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M. & LÓPEZ-MORENO, J. I. (2005): Hydrological response to different time scales of climatological drought: an evaluation of the Standardized Precipitation Index in a mountainous Mediterranean basin. In: Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions 9(5),

hal-00304863 (visited on 01/26/2015).

- Vicente-Serrano, S. M.; Zouber, A.; Lasanta, T. & PUEYO, Y. (2012b): Dryness is accelerating degradation of vulnerable shrublands in semiarid Mediterranean environments. In: Ecological Monographs 82(4), 407–428. URL: http://www.esajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1890/ 11-2164.1 (visited on 02/23/2015).
- VILES, H. A. (2001): Scale issues in weathering studies. In: Geomorphology. Weathering and Geomorphology **41**(1), 63-72. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0169555X01001040 (visited on 12/18/2014).
- VILLAROS, A.; STEVENS, G. & BUICK, I. S. (2006): Origins of the S-type Cape Granites (South Africa). In: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 70(18, Supplement), A673. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016703706016577 (visited on 12/09/2014).
- VINES, R. G. (1980): Analyses of South African rainfall. In: South African Journal of Science 76(9), 404–409.
- VISCARRA ROSSEL, R. A.; FOUAD, Y. & WALTER, C. (2008): Using a digital camera to measure soil organic carbon and iron contents. In: Biosystems Engineering 100(2), 149-159. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1537511008000597 (visited on 10/07/2014).
- VISCARRA ROSSEL, R. A.; MINASNY, B.; ROUDIER, P. & MCBRATNEY, A. B. (2006a): Colour space models for soil science. In: Geoderma 133(3-4), 320-337. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016706105002314 (visited on 10/07/2014).
- VISCARRA ROSSEL, R. A.; WALVOORT, D. J. J.; MCBRAT-NEY, A. B.; JANIK, L. J. & SKJEMSTAD, J. O. (2006b): Visible, near infrared, mid infrared or combined diffuse reflectance spectroscopy for simultaneous assessment of various soil properties. In: Geoderma 131(1-2), $59{-}75.$ URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0016706105000728 (visited on 10/09/2014).
- VOGELMANN, J. E.; HOWARD, S. M.; YANG, L.; LARSON, C. R. & VAN DRIEL, J. N. (2001): Completion of the 1990's National Land Cover Data Set for the conterminous United States. In: Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing 67, 650–662.
- VOHLAND, K. & BARRY, B. (2009): A review of in situ rainwater harvesting (RWH) practices modifying landscape functions in African drylands. In: Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 131(3-4), 119-127. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0167880909000243 (visited on 12/12/2014).

- 523-533. URL: https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/ VOHLAND, M.; BESOLD, J.; HILL, J. & FRÜND, H.-C. (2011): Comparing different multivariate calibration methods for the determination of soil organic carbon pools with visible to near infrared spectroscopy. In: Geoderma 166(1), 198-205. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0016706111002333 (visited on 02/09/2015).
 - Vollmer, A. T.; Maza, B. G.; Medica, P. A.; Turner, F. B. & BAMBERG, S. A. (1977): The impact of off-road vehicles on a desert ecosystem. In: Environmental Management 1(2), 115–129.
 - VÖRÖSMARTY, C. J.; MCINTYRE, P. B.; GESSNER, M. O.; DUDGEON, D.; PRUSEVICH, A.; GREEN, P.; GLIDDEN, S.; BUNN, S. E.; SULLIVAN, C. A.; LIERMANN, C. R. & DAVIES, P. M. (2010): Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. In: Nature 467(7315), 555-561. URL: http://www.nature.com/nature/ journal/v467/n7315/abs/nature09440.html (visited on 10/31/2014).
 - VRIELING, A.; STERK, G. & DE JONG, S. M. (2010): Satellitebased estimation of rainfall erosivity for Africa. In: Journal of Hydrology **395**(3-4), 235-241. URL: http: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S002216941000658X (visited on 01/31/2015).
 - VUKOVIC, M. & SORO, A. (1992): Determination of hydraulic conductivity of porous media from grain-size distribution. Colorado Water Resources Publication. Littleton.
 - WALKER, B. H.; EMSLIE, R. H.; OWEN-SMITH, R. N. & SC-HOLES, R. J. (1987): To Cull or Not to Cull: Lessons from a Southern African Drought. In: Journal of Applied Ecology 24(2), 381-401. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/2403882 (visited on 01/17/2015).
 - WALMSLEY, J.; CARDEN, M.; REVENGA, C.; SAGONA, F. & SMITH, M. (2001): Indicators of sustainable development for catchment management in South Africa - Review of indicators from around the world. In: Water SA 27(4), 539-550. URL: http://www.ajol.info/index.php/wsa/ article/view/4968 (visited on 12/11/2014).
 - WALVOORT, D. J. J. & MCBRATNEY, A. B. (2001): Diffuse reflectance spectrometry as a proximal sensing tool for precision agriculture. In: GRENIER, G. & BLACKMORE, S. (Eds.): ECPA 2001 Third European Conference on Precision Agriculture, Agro Montpellier. 1, 503-507. Montpellier.
 - WANG, G.; GERTNER, G.; LIU, X. & ANDERSON, A. (2001): Uncertainty assessment of soil erodibility factor for revised universal soil loss equation. In: CATENA 46(1), 1-14. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/

science/article/pii/S0341816201001588 (visited on 01/07/2015).

- WANG, G.; GERTNER, G.; SINGH, V.; SHINKAREVA, S.; PARYSOW, P. & ANDERSON, A. (2002): Spatial and temporal prediction and uncertainty of soil loss using the revised universal soil loss equation: a case study of the rainfall-runoff erosivity R factor. In: Ecological Modelling 153(1-2), 143-155. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0304380001005075 (visited on 01/06/2015).
- WARGALLA, H. (2014): Farbe geräteunabhängig: Eine Einführung in das Lab-Farbmodell. URL: https:// publisher.ch/%20dynpg/upload/imgfile1826.pdf (visited on 10/07/2014).
- WARREN, S. D.; HOHMANN, M. G.; AUERSWALD, K. & MI-TASOVA, H. (2004): An evaluation of methods to determine slope using digital elevation data. In: CATENA 58(3), 215–233. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0341816204000670 (visited on 09/27/2014).
- WARREN, S. D.; MITASOVA, H.; HOHMANN, M. G.; LANDS-BERGER, S.; ISKANDER, F. Y.; RUZYCKI, T. S. & SENSE-MAN, G. M. (2005): Validation of a 3-D enhancement of the Universal Soil Loss Equation for prediction of soil erosion and sediment deposition. In: CATENA. 25 Years of Assessment of Erosion 64(2-3), 281-296. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0341816205001347 (visited on 11/17/2014).
- WEAST, R. C.; ASTLE, M. J. & BEYER, W. H. (1988): CRC handbook of chemistry and physics. **69**. Boca Raton.
- WELLINGTON, J. H. (1955): Southern Africa : a geographical study. Physical geography, climate, vegetation and soils. **1**. Cambridge.
- WELLS, N.; GODDARD, S. & HAYES, M. J. (2004): A Self-Calibrating Palmer Drought Severity Index. In: Journal of Climate 17(12), 2335-2351. URL: http://journals. ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/1520-0442(2004)017% 3C2335:ASPDSI%3E2.0.C0;2 (visited on 09/14/2014).
- WESTERN CAPE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE & CSIR NATURAL RESOURCES AND THE ENVIRONMENT (2012): Land and Water use for Agro-Ecosystems in the Sandveld Region, South Africa. Stellenbosch.
- WHEATER, H. S.; JAKEMAN, A. J. & BEVEN, K. J. (1993):
 Progress and directions in rainfall-runoff modelling. In:
 JAKEMAN, A. J.; BECK, M. B. & MCALEER, M. J. (Eds.):
 Modelling Change in Environmental Systems, 101–132
- WICKHAM, H. (2011): The Split-Apply-Combine Strategy for Data Analysis. In: Journal of Statistical Software 40(1), 1–29. URL: http://www.jstatsoft.org/v40/i01/.

- WICKHAM, H. (2012): string: Make it easier to work with strings. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package= stringr (visited on 11/02/2014).
- WILHITE, D. A. & GLANTZ, M. H. (1985): Understanding: the drought phenomenon: the role of definitions. In: Water international 10(3), 111–120.
- WILLIAMS, J. R. (1977): Sediment delivery ratios determined with sediment and runoff models. In: IAHS Publ 122, 168–179.
- WILLIAMS, J. W.; BLOIS, J. L. & SHUMAN, B. N. (2011): Extrinsic and intrinsic forcing of abrupt ecological change: case studies from the late Quaternary. In: Journal of Ecology 99(3), 664-677. URL: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01810.x/ abstract (visited on 12/18/2014).
- WILSON, J. P. & SENEY, J. P. (1994): Erosional Impact of Hikers, Horses, Motorcycles, and Off-Road Bicycles on Mountain Trails in Montana. In: Mountain Research and Development 14(1), 77–88. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/3673739 (visited on 02/17/2015).
- WISCHMEIER, W. H. & SMITH, D. D. (1965): Predicting Rainfall-Erosion Losses from Cropland East of the Rocky Mountains. Guide for Selection of Practises for Soil and Water Conservation. 282. Agricultural Handbook. Washington D.C..
- WISCHMEIER, W. H. & SMITH, D. D. (1978): Predicting rainfall erosion losses. **537**. Agricultural Handbook. Washington D.C..
- WISCHMEIER, W. H.; SMITH, D. & UHLAND, R. E. (1958): Evaluation of factors in the soil-loss equation. In: Agricultural Engineer 39, 458–462.
- WITT, W.; STÜBINGER, T.; KÖHLER, U.; LIST, J. & JORDAN, J. (2012): Particle Size Analysis with Absolute Precision. In: Chemie Ingenieur Technik 84(3), 211-222. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cite. 201100172/abstract (visited on 07/09/2013).
- WOLF, J. W. (2012): Evaluation of Drought Metrics in Tracking Streamflow in Idaho. PhD thesis. University of Idaho. URL: http://nimbus.cos.uidaho.edu/abatz/ PDF/wolf_ms.pdf (visited on 01/23/2015).
- WOLMAN, M. G. & LEOPOLD, L. B. (1957): River flood plains: some observations on their formation. 282-C. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper.
- WOODWARD, J. (2009): The Physical Geography of the Mediterranean. Oxford, New York.
- WORLD BANK (2011): South Africa Economic Update. Focus on Savings, Investment, and Inclusive Growth. URL: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/

INTSOUTHAFRICA / Resources / SAEU - July _ 2011 _ Full _ Report.pdf (visited on 02/20/2015).

- WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION (2006): Drought monitoring and early warning: concepts, progress and future challenges. **1006**.
- WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION (2008): Guide to Meteorological Instruments and Methods of Observation. 8.
- WU, H.; SVOBODA, M. D.; HAYES, M. J.; WILHITE, D. A. & WEN, F. (2007): Appropriate application of the standardized precipitation index in arid locations and dry seasons. In: International Journal of Climatology 27(1), 65-79. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10. 1002/joc.1371/abstract (visited on 01/26/2015).
- XIE, P.; RUDOLF, B.; SCHNEIDER, U. & ARKIN, P. A. (1996): Gauge-based monthly analysis of global land precipitation from 1971 to 1994. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 101(D14), 19023-19034. URL: http: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/96JD01553/ abstract (visited on 01/20/2015).
- XIE, T.; LIU, X. & SUN, T. (2011): The effects of ground-water table and flood irrigation strategies on soil water and salt dynamics and reed water use in the Yellow River Delta, China. In: Ecological Modelling. Wetlands in China 222(2), 241-252. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304380010000517 (visited on 12/15/2014).
- YAGER, T. R. (2010): The mineral industry of South Africa. In: UNITED STATES GEOLOGICAL SURVEY (Ed.): 2008 Minerals Yearbook. 21–22. Energy, 37.1–37.22
- YAIR, A. & KOSSOVSKY, A. (2002): Climate and surface properties: hydrological response of small arid and semiarid watersheds. In: Geomorphology 42(1–2), 43–57.
- Yoder, D. C.; Porter, J. P.; Laflen, J. M.; Simanton, J. R.; Renard, K. G.; McCool, D. K. & Foster, G. R.

(1997): Cover-Management Factor (C). In: US DEPART-MENT OF AGRICULTURE (Ed.): Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). **703**, 143– 182. Tucson.

- ZAMBRANO-BIGIARINI, M. (2014a): hydroGOF: Goodnessof-fit functions for comparison of simulated and observed hydrological time series. URL: http://CRAN.R-project. org/package=hydroGOF (visited on 10/03/2014).
- ZAMBRANO-BIGIARINI, M. (2014b): hydroTSM: Time series management, analysis and interpolation for hydrological modelling. URL: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package= hydroTSM (visited on 11/08/2014).
- ZEILEIS, A. & GROTHENDIECK, G. (2005): zoo: S3 Infrastructure for Regular and Irregular Time Series. In: Journal of Statistical Software 14(6), 1–27. URL: http://www. jstatsoft.org/v14/i06/.
- ZHANG, H.; YANG, Q.; LI, R.; LIU, Q.; MOORE, D.; HE, P.; RITSEMA, C. J. & GEISSEN, V. (2013): Extension of a GIS procedure for calculating the RUSLE equation LS factor. In: Computers & Geosciences 52, 177-188. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0098300412003378 (visited on 01/31/2015).
- ZHANG, K. L.; SHU, A. P.; XU, X. L.; YANG, Q. K. & YU, B. (2008): Soil erodibility and its estimation for agricultural soils in China. In: Journal of Arid Environments 72(6), 1002-1011. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0140196307003345 (visited on 01/07/2015).
- ZHANG, Y.; DEGROOTE, J.; WOLTER, C. & SUGUMARAN, R. (2009): Integration of modified universal soil loss equation (MUSLE) into a gis framework to assess soil erosion risk. In: Land Degradation & Development 20(1), 84-91. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ldr.893/abstract (visited on 01/05/2015).

Addendum

ID	$< 0.2\mu{ m m}$	${<}5\mu{ m m}$	$<\!10\mu m$	${<}25\mathrm{\mu m}$	${<}50\mathrm{\mu m}$	<0.1 mm	$<2\mathrm{mm}$		
I001	3.1	12.6	10.8	25.9	23.0	15.3	9.4		
I002	1.9	12.1	12.9	35.7	19.4	14.8	3.1		
I003	2.4	20.2	12.1	27.6	21.2	8.9	7.6		
1005	1.0	4.1	5.1	30.9	40.0	15.7	3.3		
I006	6.8	36.2	9.6	14.8	10.5	10.6	11.5		
I007	3.6	27.7	10.9	19.5	15.3	10.8	12.1		
[008	0.7	1.8	3.9	25.2	45.5	20.9	2.1		
I009	0.9	3.2	4.5	18.3	34.1	34.6	4.5		
[011	2.6	10.1	7.4	24.2	31.3	19.6	4.9		
[012	2.6	13.5	7.6	20.8	29.7	22.7	3.1		
I013	3.0	24.8	12.1	23.4	23.1	13.1	0.4		
[014	3.3	21.9	9.9	18.6	14.2	9.2	22.9		
[015	2.2	23.4	12.9	27.7	22.1	8.4	3.2		
[017	3.3	18.1	10.8	22.6	21.9	18.2	5.0		
018	3.5	35.4	15.5	19.4	11.5	10.7	3.9		
019	2.0	8.2	7.2	18.7	34.9	26.8	2.1		
021	2.2	10.6	8.0	18.2	22.6	25.1	13.4		
[025	3.7	27.5	10.7	32.3	17.5	8.4	0.0		
[027	2.9	8.0	5.8	25.6	42.2	14.2	1.3		
[032	3.4	23.7	10.9	23.0	18.4	10.5	10.1		
[033	5.5	37.8	12.1	17.7	9.8	14.5	2.7		
S001	3.5	22.5	10.8	18.7	20.5	14.7	9.4		
S002	3.8	24.2	11.2	18.6	19.5	16.3	6.4		
S003	3.5	12.1	9.3	17.1	23.3	23.6	11.0		
S004	18.2	43.6	10.6	17.3	5.1	0.0	5.2		
S005	8.3	22.2	11.4	26.4	18.7	10.1	2.8		
5006	1.4	12.1	9.7	30.4	28.7	15.0	2.7		
					Cont	tinued on nex	t page		

Table B1: Grain-Size Classes [%] according to USDA 1987.

ID	${<}0.2\mu{ m m}$	$5\mu{ m m}$	$<\!10\mu m$	${<}25\mu{ m m}$	${<}50\mu{ m m}$	<0.1 mm	$<2\mathrm{mm}$
S007	0.8	3.1	2.8	15.7	43.2	30.7	3.7
S008	0.8	2.3	3.4	15.1	37.3	41.0	0.1
S009	1.9	9.3	10.3	42.1	25.1	8.8	2.5
S010	2.6	10.1	6.4	19.3	31.9	26.9	2.8
S011	0.7	2.7	2.3	15.7	47.0	29.1	2.6
S012	0.7	2.9	4.0	17.6	41.7	29.5	3.6
S013	1.9	10.8	5.8	19.3	32.6	23.3	6.3
S014	1.6	13.0	10.0	20.5	26.8	19.4	8.7
S015	3.1	14.6	9.7	22.2	21.9	20.6	8.0
S016	3.0	9.8	7.5	18.0	28.6	28.9	4.2
S017	3.5	15.6	10.6	20.6	24.6	20.2	4.9
S018	1.5	7.3	6.3	21.0	32.8	27.8	3.4
S020	1.4	6.7	4.0	20.2	40.7	25.0	1.9
S021	0.6	2.1	1.3	13.8	42.1	36.5	3.7
S022	2.7	13.6	9.4	23.9	29.4	17.0	4.0
S023	2.5	16.7	7.8	18.7	22.3	21.4	10.6
S024	5.1	34.9	8.5	15.0	14.2	15.9	6.5
S025	1.6	8.2	5.0	15.9	34.1	32.0	3.3
S026	1.9	11.0	8.4	32.8	31.9	12.4	1.6
S027	0.8	4.7	5.4	24.3	39.3	24.1	1.4
S028	2.8	18.2	10.6	23.5	27.9	15.5	1.5
S029	2.8	6.1	4.4	16.5	40.8	27.6	1.8
S030	2.9	18.3	9.8	22.7	21.6	18.6	6.0
S031	1.6	8.0	5.5	22.2	40.3	22.3	0.2
S032	1.7	8.5	3.0	18.1	43.5	23.4	1.8
S033	0.6	1.9	2.6	11.0	31.8	44.9	7.2
S034	2.9	21.3	10.8	22.7	20.1	13.9	8.3
S035	1.4	5.2	3.5	17.0	35.8	30.2	6.9
S036	3.0	19.2	9.5	20.2	21.8	16.8	9.5
S037	2.3	9.7	5.3	14.5	26.5	31.2	10.6
S038	4.3	28.9	11.3	18.7	11.2	11.9	13.7
S039	9.0	49.2	10.3	11.6	5.7	7.0	7.1
					Cont	tinued on nex	t page

ID	${<}0.2\mu{ m m}$	$5\mu{ m m}$	${<}10\mu m$	${<}25\mu{ m m}$	${<}50\mu{ m m}$	<0.1 mm	$<2\mathrm{mm}$
S040	4.5	26.5	11.6	18.1	11.4	15.9	12.0
S041	0.7	2.1	2.7	10.9	43.2	39.5	0.8
S042	2.3	8.8	7.6	31.6	34.5	14.7	0.6
S043	1.2	3.8	4.2	15.2	31.9	37.2	6.5
S044	1.0	4.0	4.3	19.1	36.6	27.4	7.6
S045	0.8	2.7	2.7	13.2	45.6	32.2	2.7
S046	1.9	13.2	9.2	22.9	33.9	18.7	0.0
S047	4.8	32.1	9.2	13.9	10.4	14.1	15.5
S048	1.4	10.6	9.7	27.7	24.2	19.7	6.7
S049	1.3	4.6	6.2	24.7	33.7	24.9	4.7
S050	1.2	2.3	0.7	5.9	34.0	51.8	4.0
S051	2.3	7.5	6.0	21.4	32.7	27.6	2.6
S052	0.7	2.9	3.3	17.0	37.4	32.6	6.0
S053	1.0	3.5	3.7	17.5	37.9	32.0	4.3

 Table B 2: Soil Permeability Classes after RÖMKENS et al. 1997 and GIOVANNINI et al. 2001.

			Saturated Hydraulic
Texture	Description	Class	Conductivity $[in hr^{-1}]$
Silt clay, clay	very slow	6	< 0.04
Silt clay loam, sand clay	slow	5	0.04 - 0.08
Sandy clay loam, clay loam	slow - moderate	4	0.08 - 0.2
Loam, silt loam	moderate	3	0.2 - 0.8
Loamy sand, sandy loam	rapid – moderate	2	0.8 - 2.4
Sand	rapid	1	> 2.4



Figure A 1: Modis scene from 2003 drought in Western Cape. Original quote from NASA EARTH OBSERVATORY (2003): The current drought in South Africa's Western Cape province is withering and stunting vegetation across this crop-producing region. The pair of images above shows southwestern Africa on July 21, 2003 (left), and July 21, 2002 (right). Vegetation health (greenness) is dramatically reduced in the left hand image, particularly in the region between Cape Columbine (left center edge) and southward to the Cape of Good Hope (narrow strip of land on the outside of the horseshoe-shaped False Bay). Most of South Africa's wheat is produced in the Western Cape, with the areas in the southwest corner of the province being among the most important wheat-producing regions in South Africa. Erratic rainfall in the Western Cape offen produces wide variations in wheat yields and quality, with the country having a surplus of wheat only during very good rainfall years and shortages during the majority of years. Low rainfall and soil moisture conditions in the Western Cape will reduce this year's wheat and barley crops. The high-resolution image provided above is 500 meters per pixel.

		Complete Data Set					1st to 99th Percentile				
Class	Area [ha]	$\bar{\mathbf{x}}$	s	Σ	Minima	Maxima	x	s	Σ	Minima	Maxima
Open Water	35.82	16.98	14974.72	-204036.56	-388143.56	154803.27	16.98	814.54	14979.65	-9367.30	6832.48
Low Intensity Residual	54.19	-1.28	407.78	-22604.06	-10251.29	1660.45	-1.28	42.76	-1710.62	-394.05	379.97
Barren Rocks & Sediments	4439.36	-13.59	34727.29	-21493411.78	-3412822.50	3373392.00	-13.59	845.41	-1444970.82	-11090.86	10553.65
Evergreen Forest	19.26	-1.75	31.06	-773.95	-169.37	177.32	-1.75	21.03	-815.62	-137.22	140.16
Shrubland	3822.73	19.19	66248.69	26046553.12	-4733437.00	4733915.50	19.19	1285.71	1780644.69	-12082.14	13483.32
Orchards & Vineyards	315.43	6.61	12818.48	-1332707.65	-321556.06	323830.50	6.61	582.37	50221.99	-7363.05	8024.68
Grassland	141.01	18.19	30248.43	6920210.93	-195106.73	736880.69	18.19	247.93	63011.12	-1655.41	4240.53
Pasture	794.85	1.67	4060.73	-291921.29	-194772.98	103589.15	1.67	203.45	32284.01	-2414.16	2921.66
Fallow	2135.93	-13.49	15405.59	-3740758.57	-743020.12	743043.75	-13.49	538.05	-703779.16	-7729.04	6133.91
Woody Wetlands	162.95	200.43	60055.28	-5874881.40	-1697399.38	480704.19	200.43	12013.48	799115.19	-115355.14	107968.58
Herbaceous Wetlands	50.57	-39.84	15615.71	-11764.98	-143756.25	157354.27	-39.84	5147.68	-49804.34	-53730.11	57061.52

Table B 3: Statistics of the Landcover Classes and the corresponding Erosion and Deposition values from USPED model. Columns 8 to 12show the statistics for the central 98% as an approach to get rid of the extreme values caused by some USLE factors. All unitsexcept Area are in t ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Addendum



(a) Barren Sediment (former field)

(b) Barren Sediment (natural)



(c) Barren Rock

(d) Orchards & Vineyards





(f) Shrubland



(g) Pasture (near outlet)

(h) Pasture (further upstream)

Figure A 2: Examples of landuse and landcover classes (low intensity residual is missing).



(i) Grassland with stabilized gully incision

(j) Evergreen Forest (planted oaks)



(k) Herbaceous Wetlands



(l) Woody Wetland (upper course)



(m) Woody Wetland (middle course)



(n) Woody Wetland (lower course)



(o) Open Water (downstream) (p) Open Water (upstream) VII Figure A 2: ... continued

Supplementary Data (DVD)

- 00_R-SCRIPTS
- 01_DATA
 - Climate Data (official: Riviera, Piketberg, Vaandrigsdrift, inofficial: Kromvlei)
 - Attributes of Response Units
 - NCEP data
 - SOIL_PICTURES (folder contains top soil photographs)
- 02_SPATIAL_DATA (R = Raster; V = Vector)
 - Aerial Photographs (R)
 - Contour Data (V)
 - Response Units (V)
 - Sample Locations from GPS (V)
 - Lithology (V)
 - DEMs (R)
 - Weather Stations (V)
- 03_LABORATORY_DATA
 - BECKMAN_DATA (folder containing raw data from laser diffractometer)
 - Sample Weights
 - LECO Data
- 04_KROM_ANTONIES_R_WORKSPACES
- 05_KROM_ANTONIES_GRASS_LOCATIONS
- 06_TABLES
- 07_LITERATURE
- KROM_ANTONIES_BIBLIOGRAPHY.BIB
- KROM_ANTONIES_THESIS_NORBERT_ANSELM.PDF
- LICENSE.TXT
- README.TXT (documentation)

Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die Masterarbeit Assessment of Landscape Sensitivity in the semiarid Krom Antonies River Catchment, Western Cape, South Africa selbständig angefertigt und keine anderen als die zitierten Quellen, Hilfsmittel und Codes verwendet habe. Des Weiteren erkläre ich, dass ich diese Arbeit nicht in anderen Prüfungsverfahren eingereicht habe.

Berlin, 27th February 2015

(Norbert Anselm)